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Thursday, July 13, 2006

     --- Upon commencing at 8:52 a.m.
     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Any procedural matters?  Mr. Warren.

     MR. WARREN:  I believe it’s my friend Ms. Sebalj who’s going to cross-examine next.  I want the panel to note that I’m not aware of any substantive reason why my junior has moved one seat away from me, but perhaps he has something to say to you.

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. Sebalj.

IGUA/AMPCO – PANEL 1: Continued

M. Stauft; Previously sworn
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SEBALJ

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  

Good morning, Mr. Stauft.


MR. STAUFT:  Good morning.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I just have a few what I hope will be brief questions for you.

      Just as a bit of an overarching question, if we turn to your pre-filed evidence.  I’m not sure that you have to turn up all these references, but just to follow my logic path.  On page 3 you say, in the second full paragraph, and specifically beginning at line 17, that:

“Ontario utilities have significant market power in the storage market.  As a general matter it would therefore not been appropriate for the Board to refrain in whole or in part from regulating the utility storage prices.”
Is that correct? 


MR. STAUFT:  Yes.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And then at page 7 you say that:

 “Market power is normally defined as the ability of a firm to profitably increase the price of its product above the competitive level for a sustained period.”
I think that’s been agreed upon by several of the witnesses in this proceeding.  And then if we turn to page 58, which is where you have the table that you provided some corrections for yesterday, is this the empirical evidence upon which you base your that assertion that the utilities have market power, or partly?

      Sorry, I should have mentioned that I think it’s on page 3, you indicated that there’s empirical evidence to show that, and I think that’s partly probably the EEA evidence.  Is it page 3 or page 7?  

      Just let me check.

      No, on page 3, earlier, you say:

“Based on the empirical evidence that is available in an application of the standard framework for analyzing market power issues, Ontario utilities have significant market power in the storage market.”
And I’m just wondering what role this table plays in making that assertion, if any.

     MR. STAUFT:  Okay.  Keep in mind that the material at page 3 is intended to be just a summary.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, of course.


MR. STAUFT:  But anyway, I think what I had in mind there was that in my testimony I look at two things.  One is the standard analysis with the definition of the product market and the geographic market and et cetera, et cetera.

      But there’s also a section where I say that, if we step back and look at it in simplistic terms, the prices that are already obtained in the market for a portion of the utility’s storage are well above what you would think of as the competitive level.  So that in itself is sort of prima facie evidence of market power.

      So I sort of make that observation.  And then I say, okay, well, in any event, let’s go through and go through the whole rigmarole with the framework.

      And I would characterize the piece on page 58 as really – what this does is evaluate the cost of some of the alternatives to utility storage.

      So it is really – part goes to the definition of the geographic market for the purposes of the standard analysis.  Where it fits in is, I’m trying to identify alternatives.  I say, well, probably there aren’t any anyways because there is limited pipeline capacity.  And then – but even if there were alternatives, look what they would cost.  And that’s what’s summarized in the table on page 58.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.

     What I’m trying to get at is your definition of market power is the ability of a firm to profitably increase the price of its product above the competitive level for a sustained period.

      I just don’t see where we have a price at a competitive level on which to compare.  And my question is, are you taking the 29 cents as the competitive level that we’re now comparing the ability to sustain a profit over?

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes.  I am, in effect.  I recognize that’s part of the problem here, is that there’s no known competitive level observable in the market.

      Keep mind that the competitive level for these purposes is what the market price would be under these competitive conditions, which means in the absence of any market power.  Right?  So it’s in a sense a theoretical or a hypothetical quantity.

      So if we say, and I mean, this was something that the utilities said in their reply evidence, their theory seemed to be, well, we can just look at the observed level from the storage that we already sell at market prices.  But that is circular, because you can’t know that that observed level is the competitive level in the sense that I just described, unless you already know that they don’t have market power.  But that’s what we’re trying to figure out in the first place, so –
      So there really isn’t an observable competitive level.  So what you need is a proxy of some kind.  And I believe the appropriate one – and I think what the FERC’s formulation does as well, where they talk about the 10 percent comparison, with regulated rates, essentially they’re saying the regulated level is the best proxy we have for the competitive level.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stauft, I don’t mean to interrupt you, but I’m losing you here.  Are there not market-based prices in Michigan?

     MR. STAUFT:  I believe there are, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And whatever FERC used as the threshold test for determining whether to allow market-based pricing, once those parties in Michigan are pricing at market; isn’t that a proxy for a market price in Michigan?  You say there’s no observable evidence of market prices but can that be true?  Are there not market prices in Michigan at least?

     MR. STAUFT:  I’m sorry, no, obvious – there are observed market prices all over the place and there are market prices –
     MR. KAISER:  I’m just talking about Michigan, which is the closest to Ontario.  When you said there’s no observable evidence of market prices, there must be in Michigan at least.

     MR. STAUFT:  There are market prices, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And in markets where some agency has made a determination that it’s a competitive market or they can price at competitive terms, no restrictions on their pricing.

     MR. STAUFT:  I don’t know that determinations have been made.

     MR. KAISER:  I asked you the question in Michigan, whether pursuant to the Michigan Public Service Commission or FERC, I don’t know which, are there not storage operators pricing this service at market-based prices?

     MR. STAUFT:  That is my understanding, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And do you know what those prices look like?  Michigan’s not far.  I mean, why are we dancing around here?  Can’t we find market-based prices in Michigan at least.  I know you don’t like Ontario, it’s circular and all of that, but Michigan is a real market, isn’t it?

     MR. STAUFT:  It’s a real market in the same sense Ontario is.  I don’t see how it’s different.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you say Ontario’s not competitive.  Union has control of it.  That’s not the case in Michigan.  Haven’t this been determinations that there are aspects of that market that are competitive and people are selling in that market at market-based prices?  Or do you see Michigan prices will tell us nothing as well?

     MR. STAUFT:  They may or may not.  No, I’m not sure that they do.  There have been determinations by the Commission, by the FERC –
     MR. KAISER:  No, I’m not – the Commission makes a determination, and then life goes on.  People sell on the market.  They trade with BP and all of these characters, Sempre, Coral.  Can’t you go down to Michigan and see what real market prices look like?  Or do they tell us nothing?

     MR. STAUFT:  I guess the difficulty I’m having is, I don’t know of any evidence, or I don’t have a basis for saying that observed prices in Michigan reflect a lack of market power any more than observed prices in Ontario.  They are, as you say, fairly well connected markets and the prices may well be similar most of the time but –
     MR. KAISER:  But here’s the difference.  Tell me if I’m wrong, because I’m losing it.  There are cases in Michigan, I thought, where some agency, federal or state, has made a determination that the market is competitive or the party that they’re allowing to price at market rates has no market power; i.e., contrary to your assertion about Union, that has market power, so therefore you say it’s circular --  you can’t look at Union’s prices, they’re monopolist, doesn’t tell you anything.  


But in Michigan, somebody’s made a determination that those sellers don’t have market power.  And therefore they’re allowed market-based prices and they’re charging market-based prices.  Don’t those prices tell us something about the market, at least in Michigan?

     MR. STAUFT:  My understanding of what has happened in Michigan is that the MPSC has allowed more or less the same type of arrangement as occurs in Ontario.  They certainly have not allowed market-based prices or deregulated prices for customers of MichCon or consumers power, anybody like that.  My understanding is, it’s more or less the same structure that you have here.

     MR. KAISER:  No, we’re not talking about the captive customers.  We’re talking about the famous 30 Bcf customers.  Those customers, we’ve heard evidence, they’re playing in the Michigan market just as much as the Ontario market.

      But as I understand it, in the Michigan market, they’re facing a seller of storage that someone, some agency, has declared doesn’t have market power and can price at market-based prices; isn’t that right?

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, they may – I don’t know what the MPSC has done, but what I’m saying is, they may well have allowed those firms to charge for storage at market prices for the same reasons that the Board has allowed Union to charge for services at market prices.  Just because it’s excess and it’s exfranchise and so on.  I don’t know what happens, for example, to the excess revenues that come back from that.

     MR. KAISER:  You don’t know whether they have the same arrangement as we do in Ontario, where they yank back 75 percent of it or whatever and give it to the consumer?

     MR. STAUFT:  I, I –
     MR. KAISER:  Or to the ratepayer?

     MR. STAUFT:  That’s my assumption, actually.

     MR. KAISER:  You’re just not familiar – can I take it, you’re just not familiar with the –
     MR. STAUFT:  No, I believe there are costs allocated to it, which is kind of the same thing.  That’s my understanding.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  I’m sorry for interrupting you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  That’s okay.  Just sort of along that line, in this table, you use Natural Vector, National Fuel and ANR, Great Lakes as the comparators.  And I’m wondering, are those cost-based rates not much closer to the long-run marginal costs than the cost-based rate that you’ve cited for Union.

     MR. STAUFT:  Longer than marginal costs for Ontario?

     MS. SEBALJ:  No, for the –
     MR. STAUFT:  For storage.

     MS. SEBALJ:  -- the jurisdiction that they’re in.

     MR. STAUFT:  I don’t believe there’s any reason to think that.  I mean, they are cost-based rates derived in more or less, pretty much the same way as Union’s rates are.  Cost-of-service divided by billing determinants or rate design determinants.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So they have nothing to do with the long-run marginal cost, or do you know?

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, no, I know that they don’t, as a matter of fact.  They are just – they are cost – conventional cost-based rates.  For some reason or other, they’re costs that the costs of those facilities right now is more than the cost of Union’s facilities.

      Certainly the FERC doesn’t – in fact, no regulator that I know of tries to develop cost-based rates on the basis of long-range marginal cost. If you did, basically all of the utilities in North America would have rates two or three times higher than what you have now, and returns, several times higher than what they have now.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And it’s just a coincidence that those rates are about two or three times higher than Union’s?

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes, it’s just a function of the initial investment that those firms made and the depreciation history and so on.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I have some questions to ask about the discussion that you had with Mr. Warren yesterday.  And the references are at pages 160 through 162 of yesterday’s transcript, where you refer – I guess the bottom of 160 is Mr. Warren’s question, where he asks you to go through the sufficiency of pipeline capacity, in terms of the appropriateness of this as a broader geographic market as the relevant market.  And in answer, your answer sort of spans pages 161 and 162, but as part of that answer, at line 9 of page 161–sorry.  I just need to find exact reference – you refer to a quadrupling.  Where is it?  I’m looking for the word “quadrupling,” which I know was here.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Top of 162.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Let’s just say, for example, that they had been charging a dollar prior to that time, so this is at the bottom of the page, 161, you talk about $4 a gigaJoule.

     MR. STAUFT:  Right.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And then you say, let’s just say they’d been charging a dollar prior to that time so they’re going to be quadrupling their storage price.  So both broadly and specifically, I want to walk you through that.  My broad questions are whether – I’m trying to understand whether it’s your assertion that forbearance would have this result.  Is it forbearance by the Board that would have the result of Union quadrupling its rates?

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, it could.  That’s the point.

     Well, the question is – let me back up.  If you had the conditions that I described just before this, so we weren’t worried about the bundled service problem and all of that, and what happened was, the Board just said, okay, the utilities can charge whatever they want, they would be legally entitled, I would take it, to say, we want $4 for all of our 250 Bcf of storage.  Take it or leave it.  That’s what forbearance means.  They can charge whatever they want.

     And then the market question is, will the market prevent them from actually being able to profitably maintain the price at that level or at $3 or at $2 or at whatever.

      And that’s what the whole framework is intended to do.  Under competitive conditions, if a firm tried to increase its price from a dollar to $4, they would lose all their market.  In fact, under perfectly competitive conditions, if they tried to increase their price from $1 to $1.10, they would lose all of their market.  So they can’t do that.

      So the whole question in all of this is, and the purpose of the framework that we talk about, is just to evaluate whether they would be successful in making more money by increasing their price to that kind of level.

     MS. SEBALJ:  But haven’t we heard from Union that it essentially auctions its excess storage capacity by way of RFP; it doesn’t set the price, that the price is bid by those who bid for the storage?

     MR. STAUFT:  Right.  But there’s a significant difference between an auctioning of 30 Bcf – and whether they auction it or not, I mean, sure, the market price turns out to be, let’s call it a buck.  It’s actually probably this year more like $3, but say in the long run, a dollar.  For the 30 Bcf, that is capacity that is, essentially, on the margin.  I talk in my testimony about the marketers, like Mr. Brett’s client, are much more price-sensitive than heating load customers, who absolutely need the service.  So the question, if we’re asking about the whole 250 Bcf, and Union said, okay, I want $4 for all of this, what would people do?

     My contention is that the heating load customers, at least in the short run, if they didn’t have any alternative, they would pay that.  Union might well lose some of the marketers if they tried to increase the price to $4.  Part of the point of this example is to say, if they went from $1 to $4, they could lose half of their market and still be miles ahead of where they were at $1.

     MS. SEBALJ:  But isn’t it true that the heating load customers are not who we’re talking about here?  Union isn’t asking for forbearance over those customers?

     MR. STAUFT:  No.  But the question I’m examining throughout this is would it be appropriate – well, what I’m doing here is responding to the underlying contention in the EEA/Schwindt study, and I think this was Enbridge’s contention as well, is that if you could get around this bundled service problem somehow, which is quite a separate issue, fundamentally, the utilities do not have market power in relation to storage at all.

     If all of the market was at Dawn, their position, as I understand it, is that they do not have market power in relation to storage at all.

      If you’re looking just at the 30 Bcf market, then we already know what the profit maximizing price for them is.  It’s the dollar or a $3 or something.  I mean, I make the point that that’s already way bigger than the cost-based rate, but if you expanded it to include the entire market, the result might be quite a bit higher prices, even, than what is observed already for the limited segment that’s already subject to market pricing.

     MS. SEBALJ:  But if we’re assuming that Union’s asking for what Union’s asking for, which is only to be able to charge market-based rates for the excess storage capacity.

     MR. STAUFT:  Right.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Then we’re really only dealing with about 30 Bcf.


MR. STAUFT:  Right.  Taking out the Enbridge and GMI volumes.  And as I say, we already know what the profit maximizing price is for that.  It’s whatever their prices are right now.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Which are market prices?

     MR. STAUFT:  They are market prices, yes.  I have said that they are market prices that may not – probably do not reflect the competitive level as that phrase is used in the definition of market power, but obviously they’re market prices, sure.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Let’s just assume for a second that we’re talking about 70 Bcf in your quadrupling example.  As I said, I’m going to walk through some specifics.

      In order for the quadrupling to occur by our – the collective “our” – calculations, that would be about 17.5 Bcf.  Would you take that subject to check?  So 17.5 Bcf on a revenue-neutral basis, which I think was your discussion, at $4?

     MR. STAUFT:  Okay.  Sorry, they would have to – you had better give me that one again.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I think it was your assertion that that would be able to do this quadrupling on a revenue-neutral basis and therefore sell a lot less storage at a lot higher price.

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes, just is it arithmetic.  As you quadruple your price, you can afford to lose 75 percent of your market and still be in the same position you were before.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So in this case, the 75 percent of the market would be somewhere around 50 Bcf?

     MR. STAUFT:  Sure.  Okay.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Which means that Ontario’s storage customers would have to find about 50 Bcf of storage elsewhere?  We’re assuming that Union’s withholding this 50 Bcf?

     MR. STAUFT:  Sorry, the 50 is – 75 percent of 70?

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

     MR. STAUFT:  Is that what it was?

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

     MR. STAUFT:  Okay.  In that example, yes.     .

     MS. SEBALJ:  And I think you also agreed yesterday, and you can correct me if I am wrong, that due to market arbitrage forces, the price of storage in Ontario would in summer equate to the winter/summer commodity price differential along the forward curve.  Is that correct?

     MR. STAUFT:  Could you repeat that?  I’m sorry.  I missed it.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sure.  The price of storage in Ontario in summer would equate to the winter/summer commodity differential along the forward curve?

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, I would put that – storage is normally bought in one-year chunks.  It doesn’t have sort of a summer price and a winter price.  But apart from that, yes, the way it’s normally priced –
     MS. SEBALJ:  It’s the difference between the winter/summer.

     MR. STAUFT:  More or less.  You can do more elaborate calculations, and there may be some extrinsic optionality value and things like that, but basically that’s right.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So in this scenario, market dynamics would cause the commodity price forward curve to gap out at about $3?

     MR. STAUFT:  It could.  Sure.  I mean, for the marketing sector, okay, the value of storage is going to be more or less – and the maximum that they will pay will be something like that summer/winter differential, as we’ve discussed.  That’s probably not true of heating load customers, who have no alternatives.

     MS. SEBALJ:  We’re not talking about heating load customers, we’re talking about the 70 Bcf.

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, part of the 70 Bcf is heating load customers.  I thought that’s where you were going with this.  heather

     MS. SEBALJ:  We could have started with 30 Bcf, if that’s what you want, but the heating load customers are not contracting with Union. Enbridge and GMI are contracting with Union; isn’t that correct?

     MR. STAUFT:  To serve their heating load, though.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Correct.  But as a customer, I’m not trying to go out and find gas to heat my home.

     MR. STAUFT:  Okay, I’m sorry, no I was looking through to the nature of the load behind it, but fine, maybe that’s – maybe what you want to do is talk about the 30 Bcf that’s just marketers.

     MS. SEBALJ:  That’s fine.  The numbers don’t really matter.

     MR. STAUFT:  Mm-hm.

     MS. SEBALJ:  The point is that as this scenario unfolds, what’s happening to the commodity price in Michigan?

     MR. STAUFT:  Probably nothing.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Is it not the same forward curve at this point?  Is the commodity price not going to be impacted by the fact that we’ve had a quadrupling of the commodity price in Ontario?  Is the forward curve in Michigan not going to be impacted by the steepening of the forward curve in Ontario.

     MR. STAUFT:  It could be.  Depending on the volumes.  You’ve changed the example so that we’re talking about a relatively small volume.  It may be that if you were taking just the 30 Bcf, and Union tried to pop that price up to $4, that BP and Coral and Nexen would all say, never mind.  Thanks.  We don’t want service.  And Union just wouldn’t sell any of it.

      And that’s, you know – on the face of it, that’s what you would expect.  It could be that you would – that 30 Bcf may not be enough to move the entire Ontario market.  It probably wouldn’t be enough to move entire Ontario market.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So a quadrupling of the price would not result in customer migration? 

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, quadrupling of the asking price might well result in customers just saying, never mind.  I don’t want this service anymore.  I’ll go market –
     MS. SEBALJ:  In which case, they have to find it elsewhere.

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, or not.  Marketers can come and go out of the market.  There probably would – they are meeting requirements somewhere, but a lot of that is in the U.S., and elsewhere.

     MS. SEBALJ:  If that’s the case, then isn’t it true that Union is not profitably sustaining this price increase?

     MR. STAUFT:  That’s what I’m saying.  Sure.  For that small segment of the market; for, you know, 30 Bcf worth of market, a fraction of what they have, with customers that are quite price-sensitive, they probably could not sustain that kind of price increase.  So I said before, we’re already observing their profit-maximizing price presumably already.  If they could increase it to $4 profitably, they would have.  But they haven’t.

      The concern is when they do it – when they have the ability to price however they like with the entire – the entire or a much larger segment of their – much larger portion of their capacity.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I’m turning now to your reply evidence.  And specifically at page 3.  You say that:

 “The market premiums that have been observed in the exfranchise market simply reflect a competitive outcome, and that it is therefore appropriate for the utilities to both collect and retain that premium.”

Can you elaborate on why you concluded that the observed premiums in the exfranchise storage market are the result of the exercise of market power?

     MR. STAUFT:  I’m sorry.  Can you tell me what paragraph we were in here, just so I can get the context?  Oh, right at the top.  Okay.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

     MR. STAUFT:  First of all – well, again, these types of analysis are typically done in relation to the entire plant, or the entire set of facilities that the utility owns.  In relation just to that, the 30 Bcf, what I would – that the basic reason for that is what we talked about before, which is that if you use a cost-based price as the benchmark or the proxy for what competitive price would be, in the absence of market power, the observed prices are much higher than the competitive level.

     It really comes down to the question of how comfortable you are with this notion that cost-based prices are an appropriate proxy for the competitive level, is really perhaps where you’re having trouble with this.

      But if you accept that proposition, then the fact that observed prices are four times the cost-based level or the competitive level is just evidence of market power.  That kind of fits the definition – that’s what the definition of market power is.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So what is your proposal for the disposition of the premiums for the exfranchise storage market?

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, I had a long discussion about this, I think, yesterday with Mr. Brett.  My understanding is that the way it works now, I don’t have a real good grasp of the details of this, but in principle what happens is that those premiums are flowed back to the system as a whole.  They’re a credit to the revenue requirement.  So the Board regulates, continues to regulate the overall revenues of the utility, and only charge customers in total an amount equal to the – to its actual costs.  And I believe – I mean, that is the standard model for utilities with market power, which these utilities are.

      My suggestion would be that the Board continue with that.  As I was saying, as I was discussing with Mr. Brett, a secondary question is how exactly that overall revenue gets recovered from different customer classes.  

     And – sort of as a matter of market power analysis, I would say there isn’t any particular reason to discriminate between customer classes on that – you know, in relation to that, but there are probably all kinds of other reasons, and there may well be other reasons, to say that a market type pricing for the marketers, say, or perhaps for the GMI or Enbridge would be appropriate, but that maintaining the regulation of revenues at a cost-based level then requires the flowing back of those premiums to the infranchise customers, just to make the numbers work.

     MS. SEBALJ:  At page 23 of your reply, you talk about an embedded cost rate.

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes.

     MS. SEBALJ:  It’s the second, I guess, the last full paragraph.

“An embedded cost rate is therefore the appropriate standard to measure expected market prices against regardless of what economic theory may suggest about how prices will be determined in competitive markets.”
Can you elaborate why, in Ontario, you propose to depart from economic theory and use the embedded cost rate as the appropriate benchmark?

     MR. STAUFT:  Sorry.  I’m not getting how you think I’ve departed from theory.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Well, you say “regardless of what economic theory may suggest about how prices may be determined.”
     MR. STAUFT:  Okay.  What this was doing is – again, we’re back to the question of what is the best proxy or an appropriate proxy for a competitive level?

     As I’ve said, a cost-of-service rate, I think, is an appropriate proxy for that.  What a cost-of-service rate does is design prices at a level that will enable the firm to earn a market return on its investment.  And that’s what competitive markets do in the long run.

      This was a response to – it should have been made more explicit, I appreciate.  But some of the people at the Technical Conference, and I think Dr. Schwindt and I think Mr --. Well, anyway several people observed that price formation in a competitive market is not exactly the same as competitive rates.  And I can accept that.  I mean, that is probably true.  Regulation is a surrogate for competition.  But I don’t know anyone says that it exactly replicates competitive outcomes all of the time.

      And some of the utility experts were relying on that fact to say that I was wrong to use a regulated rate as a proxy for the competitive price.

      In the short run, what this is getting at is, in the short run, yes, there probably are differences between what you would see in a competitive market and a regulated rate.

      Nevertheless, in the long run, it can’t be the case 

· as part of that, though, they end up suggesting that competitive prices are systematically and significantly higher than regulated prices.  And in the long run, I don’t believe that can be the case.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stauft, can I ask you a question on that?

     MR. STAUFT:  Sure.

     MR. KAISER:  Economists like Mr. Brown would say that in competitive markets price equals marginal cost.  Have you heard of that concept?

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes.  I have, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And do you think it’s possible to have an industry where the marginal cost of production is significantly higher than the average cost?

     MR. STAUFT:  In the short run, that happens, sure.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, in the short run or in the long run.  I mean, the problem as I understand it is that Union and many of these people who have been in this business for a long time have a low average cost.  They’ve low-cost facilities.  And that’s what the regulator uses and he sets a price.

      The problem is, those low-cost facilities are gone.  So new entrants like Market Hub Partners, they face much higher costs.  Their marginal cost is higher.  And if they don’t get their marginal costs covered, they’re not coming in.

      That’s the whole thing that the FERC recognized, that average cost pricing isn’t going to attract entry.  And price will in competitive markets be marginal cost, and marginal cost can be above average cost, and in the long run or short run that difference will exist if, in fact, the cost of building new storage is significantly greater than it was 20 years ago.  Isn’t that the fundamental problem?

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes.  And that, I believe, is why the Commission has very consistently allowed market-based prices for new facilities.  And that is, as you say, the motivation behind the new rule that they just – Order 678, I think, was the number.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes.  That’s true.  And that all applies, or most of it, to new facilities.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MR. STAUFT:  The Commission has not taken that theory and applied it in a way that gives market-based pricing authority to CNG, ANR, Natural Gas Pipe.  National Fuel.  All of the established storage operators that have traditionally and always just operated under cost-based rates.  That marginal cost problem that you talk about has not been taken, and I don’t see any reason for it to be taken, as a justification for vastly – well, for giving established incumbent large-scale firms market-based pricing authority.

     MR. KAISER:  No, I realize that’s a separate issue.  I realize re-pricing existing capacity is a separate issue.

     MR. STAUFT:  Right.

     MR. KAISER:  But I’m just dealing with your concept, that in the long run competitive prices are going to somehow come down to the regulated price or that this regulated price is a proxy for competitors’ prices.  It isn’t, and in facts the FERC regulator recognized that.  When somebody comes into the market, whether it’s Red Lake or Market Hub or whoever it is, and they’re pricing above marginal cost, and marginal cost is up there, that’s a competitive price.  Isn’t it?

     MR. STAUFT:  In that circumstance, yes.  Yes.  You’re right.  Storage, because it is a finite resource, what I was talking about earlier, I was speaking in more general terms, that under competitive conditions where production can be expanded infinitely, then, you know, then regulated prices have to be, in the long run pretty much the same as competitive prices.  You’re right.  On the margin, just because the physical nature of how storage works and the fact that there’s only a finite amount of it out there and it gets more costly as you go for smaller pools and more remote pools and everything else, on the margin it probably gets more expensive.  


And as you say, the Commission has responded to that, and I think that’s a sensible thing, to allow cost recovery or, you know, market-type pricing on those marginal pools.  But that’s quite a separate theory from, are we going to give CNG and ANR market-based pricing just to help the developers of these marginal pools?  That doesn’t make sense.  And that’s not something the Commission has done.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I’m debating whether to ask this question, but just as a final question, you’ve said that the price that has been bid in on the excess storage capacity that Union has, I think you said earlier that it 

· you hesitated, but you said it reflected a market price.  I’m just wondering what it is about that process, given that it’s an open RFP, that there’s no suggested bid, that there’s no – what other than a market price could the price reflect, and why can’t we use it as a proxy?  

MR. STAUFT:  It is a market price.  I’ve acknowledged that.  Of course it’s a market price.  The market is operating and people bid for it; they buy and sell it.  That’s fine.

     The definition of market power, though, is maintaining price above the competitive level.  The competitive level has a technical meaning.  It doesn’t just mean whatever market prices you happen to observe.  It means the market prices that you would observe under competitive conditions, where nobody has market power, you know, there’s good information, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.  And that is a different thing.  If you just – you’re shaking your head.

     MS. SEBALJ:  No, it’s again – we’re chasing our tail, because again, by definition, when you’re trying to decide whether to forbear, you’re never going to have that number because –
     MR. STAUFT:  You may.  In the telecom market, it looks like that happens all the time.  The local telephone exchange cases that have been talked about, there the competitors’ products are cheaper than the regulated rates.  And they’re apparently available in virtually unlimited quantities.  And as a result, the incumbents have actually lost market share and had to shut in some of their facilities.

     In that market it works fine.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And what about the natural gas market.

     MR. STAUFT:  In the storage market, it doesn’t seem to work.  You have a much different – certainly in the Ontario storage market the competitors aren’t cheaper than the embedded facilities; that, you know, you don’t have cable telephone providers and VoIP providers and that coming in, actively competing business away from the incumbents.  Here what you’ve got is, Union has very low-cost facilities.  All of the alternatives are vastly more expensive than Union’s facilities. And, on top of that, are not really available in any significant quantities just because of the – I mean, there’s lots of storage in the general area, but we’ve talked about storage in Michigan doesn’t do you any good if you don’t have pipeline connections, and basically those are very limited.  So it’s a completely different thing.

      And it’s just a function of that’s the way the storage business works.  There’s nothing bad about that.  That’s just a feature of the industry, makes it different from other more competitive industries.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any further questioners?  Mr. Warren.

     MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Stauft, I just actually have two quick questions on two areas.  The first one is on this question of infrastructure and the geographic market definitions, and the second involves the definition of a product.

     In yesterday’s transcript, it was page 162, your discussion with Mr. Brett, I think, the bottom of 162, and a bit over to 163, you say at line 23:

“The second point is the way the transportation infrastructure in North America has developed you would not expect to see very large quantities of unutilized capacity just lying around in the market.  Facilities are not built, as I think several people have said, unless there’s a need, unless they’re used.” 

And then in your reply evidence – you don’t have to turn this up – on page 13 is where you talk again, and in this case in relation to the EEA/Schwindt study, and indicate that they don’t have any discussion of what criteria one might apply in determining whether a particular storage facility is available – this particular U.S. storage facility is available, in terms either of the level of unsubscribed storage capacity of the facility’s contracting status, the availability of the connecting transportation capacity.


Given what you said yesterday to Mr. Brett about what you view as, in my words, what rational developers will do.  They’re not going to build pipelines on spec and things on spec.  Is there ever a scenario, then, where you think there would ever been the kinds of linkages and connections on infrastructure that would allow you to conclude there is a competitive market in storage?  Heather

     MR. STAUFT:  I think it is very unlikely.  As I was saying there, just the nature of the business is such that it’s so capital-intensive, and the capital is so sunk, so to speak, once it’s invested, it’s absolutely useless for any other purpose, it just doesn’t normally make sense for people to build – it never makes sense for people to build a lot of excess capacity.

      Another way to put it, perhaps, is that entry and exit are very difficult in this business, compared, for example, to the telecom business, which just makes the entire structure very rigid and unlikely, or unable, I guess I would say, to respond to large-scale pricing changes or disruptions of that kind.

      So likely there is just not, for facilities the size and with the location of the Ontario storage facilities, I think it would be very difficult to ever get to a situation where you would feel comfortable giving them market-based rate authority.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Then I’ll go on to my second, somewhat related question, which is on the product definition.

     In your reply evidence on page 6, I think, in an answer to a question that starts on page 5 about substitutes, your answer, starting in the middle of the page in the second full paragraph, says that:

“It must be recognized that the main function of storage in Ontario is not to assist with the management of price risk, but simply to augment the delivery system via ‘seasonal load-balancing’.  The product that end-use consumers need is annual, ever green, firm load-balancing services, which will enable them to balance the volumes that they are obliged to deliver each day and every day of the year, with their end-use consumption.”
So you’re describing there the needs of a utility, an Enbridge, a Union, a GMI.

     MR. STAUFT:  Right, the role of storage as a substitute for long-haul pipeline transportation, basically.

     MR. RUPERT:  And in other parts of your evidence, you seem to restrict the customers that we’re interested in to Ontario utilities or GMI.  You don’t seem to talk very much about northeast U.S. utilities and the class of customers that you think we ought to be interested in protecting.

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes, apart from the – part of that is just that I’m not sure how significant they are as customers in the 30 Bcf block.  That’s all it is.

     MR. RUPERT:  Would you agree that the same needs as any utility that’s got a seasonal heating load?

     MR. STAUFT:  Sure.  I would.

     MR. RUPERT:  Now, that’s the traditional need.  Now, if a new developer in Ontario or elsewhere has a storage facility, and they are charging market-based rates, are you saying that that facility’s of no interest to a utility that needs to have the traditional seasonal load-balancing service?  I’m just trying to understand your distinction between physical facilities in a particular part of North America as having this primary purpose for seasonal load storage versus a facility a hundred kilometres away that doesn’t have that purpose.  


How do you trace the purpose for the storage to the particular facility, which you seem to be doing on page 6 of your reply evidence.

     MR. STAUFT:  Mm-hm.  Mm-hm.  Okay.  No, any customer in the northeast with incremental requirements, say, there’s no reason for them not to be perfectly – you know, not to be interested in new Ontario storage.  I mean, it’s all physically the same.

      The context for the discussion on page 6 was really in response to, I guess I’d say it’s in the context of what are going to count as useful alternatives to utility storage.  And that may be different.  The point, I guess, is that that may be different for different classes of customers.  For somebody that is just using storage as a price play – you know, they’re just speculating on gas prices, basically, and using storage as a tool for that, there maybe may be financial instruments or other market mechanisms that they could use to take those risks in the same way.

      It’s different for heating load customers that, as I say, depend on the storage infrastructure, basically, as a substitute for pipeline capacity.

     MR. RUPERT:  How far do you go behind the scenes to figure out the ultimate end-use of the storage?  If a marketer is doing transactions at a storage facility, it may well be very likely that some of their customers are these seasonal, attritional seasonal load-balancing consumers that you’re talking about.  How far back behind the marketers’ customers do you go to figure out what’s your need for storage?  I don’t understand how you’re able to just identify certain entities as having that need, and not others?

     MR. STAUFT:  That’s a fair comment, actually, you’re right.  And you can imagine some market structures where basically all the storage is held by marketers.  And just from public data you wouldn’t have any idea at all what they were doing with it or what functions they were  using it to perform.  And that’s a fair comment.

      In this case, because just by happenstance we are able to identify some classes of customers as likely having different uses, and I take it your point that they may not.  I mean, there may be marketers that are serving LDC loads that are not fundamentally different from Union’s own infranchise customers, but if we sort of imagine or guess that that’s what they’re doing, it provides a grounds for sort of at least discussing treating them a little bit differently.

      In a situation where it’s completely opaque as to what is going on back behind the primary customers, I guess in that case my analysis would be to say, well, certainly the main physical function of the Ontario infrastructure is load-balancing.  And we have to just assume that that’s what everybody’s going and deal with it on that basis.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.

     MR. STAUFT:  Which would mean, you arguably don’t have exceptions; you don’t say, well, we’ll charge market prices to BP and Coral and Nexen because they’re just marketers anyway.  Your rationale for that would diminish, and you would really be forced more towards uniform cost-based pricing for everybody, really.

     MR. RUPERT:  But you would agree in the commodity itself, the market and our current structures don’t require us to consider what use someone is putting the commodity to at the end.  Are they heating a school or are they doing some sort of a trivial, non-discretionary activity with that natural gas?  


The market prices and the charges don’t require us to go back and check, what are you doing with the gas?

     MR. STAUFT:  No, no.  You may be able to do that on a sort of ad hoc basis, but you’re right; there’s no reason to believe that you would always be able to make that sort of distinction.

     MR. RUPERT:  But you would make some distinction, it sounds like, for the storage, depending on the use to which the storage is being put, in your opinion?

     MR. STAUFT:  Again, if you could figure that out, but you may not be able to.  You may not know.

     MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.

     MR. STAUFT:  Could I just go back, actually, to your earlier question about whether there were any circumstances in which you might get forbearance?  I should have mentioned that you could get sort of, if there were significant technological changes or very significant market structural changes in eastern Canada, the argument might change.  I was maybe being too definite on that.  If, for example, you got 2 Bcf a day worth of LNG capability installed in Toronto harbour, obviously that kind of thing would change the market structure enough that I wouldn’t want to be – I wouldn’t want to be saying no now, if there were things like that.

     I was assuming just sort of normal development of the industry as it’s taken place so far.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Thank you.


EXAMINATIN OBY MS. CHAPLIN:

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stauft.  I just have a couple of questions following up on this table of cost comparisons at page 58.

     MR. STAUFT:  Sure.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  I don’t know that you need to turn it up.  I just want to be clear I understand what you did.

      As we understand now, under storage costs all of those are cost-based rates.  And I understood from your discussion with Ms. Sebalj that you didn’t particularly investigate why those cost-based rates were higher than the Union cost-based rate; am I correct?

     MR. STAUFT:  No, that’s true, but it wouldn’t really be possible to investigate that.  It’s just, that’s the way it worked out.  That’s the amount that the utility’s invested, and it’s just a --  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I’m just curious, because we have some evidence in this proceeding that in some cases cost-based regulated rates reflect incremental costs, that there are cases of incremental tariff making.  And I’m just wondering whether you investigated whether that had any bearing on this data.

     MR. STAUFT:  None of these reflect incremental rates, no.  These are all system-wide rates on all of these facilities.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

     MR. STAUFT:  It’s true that on some pipelines they’ll have – it’s typically done as a separate rate schedule, right?  There will be the FT service with a rate which is sort of a system average.  And just for historical reasons they may have some other services, FT-4, that ended up paying an incremental rate, and that would be separately stated.  But the ones that I’ve used here, both for the storage facilities and the pipeline facilities, those are all rolled in average cost rates.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And just in this discussion of your initial sort of scenario of the potential for Union to quadruple the price of storage, I take it that you use that as an example to show that in this sort of capital-intensive industry there needs to be, in a sense, quite significant excess capacity for us to be comfortable in forbearing from regulation.  Is that the appropriate conclusion for me to reach?

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes.  I think so.  If you think of the excess as potentially being outside of –
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, in other words, alternatives for customers to use should Union decide to quadruple its prices.

     MR. STAUFT:  Right.  Right.  The problem is that the demand certainly in the heating load sector is very inelastic.  Right, so if they did attempt that kind of pricing move, the market response won’t be people saying, okay, I won’t burn gas this winter.  So unless people have physical alternatives, they’ll still pay that price.

      So then it becomes a question of whether there are physical alternatives.  And the point of the example is, really, just to say it won’t do, in my view, to identify alternatives on a small scale, just around the margin.  If the potential is for the price of 250 Bcf of storage and 4 Bcf a day of gas to increase in price by $3, the fact that you have alternatives for 25 million a day or 50 million a day or something like that isn’t going to be effective in disciplining whatever the pricing behaviour is that we see from the utilities.  You need a lot of it.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  So your concern – sort of the twin concerns of a price-inelastic customer is with the capital intensity – because I’m just trying to think of, in other perhaps not perfectly competitive but workably competitive industries that may also be capital-intensive, I do not believe that we observe tremendous excess capacity.  I’m just wondering if you can point to examples.  Am I wrong or is that correct; that in other capital-intensive, workably competitive industries, you do not see tremendous amounts of excess capacity?  Generally with the firms with excess capacity, that becomes very costly for them to hold.

     MR. STAUFT:  Right.  Right.  And that’s why people don’t do it here.

      I’m having trouble thinking of industries that are as capital-intensive and where the capital equipment is so useless for other purposes once it’s installed.  That’s, I guess, part of my problem.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I guess I’m just trying to understand.  The conclusion I draw from your analysis is that the concern is really timing.  I guess a simplistic example is if G.M. were to quadruple the price of all of their cars, all the people buying cars couldn’t suddenly turn up at the doors of the other ones and there would necessarily be all cars there for them to buy.

     MR. STAUFT:  Right.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  So we would have the same – but I  gather that your concern is, well, I don’t have to buy a car.  I can wait until Ford increases its capacity, and I will buy a car from them then.  Is that essentially –
     MR. STAUFT:  That’s true.  And I think in the car business there are a lot more competitors and a lot more cars can move around the world pretty easily, that kind of thing.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  I’m not trying to use that analogy any further than I took it.  If we were to step back from that, and we were to, in fact, accept that what we were certainly looking at in what’s being proposed by Union and Enbridge is forbearance in the exfranchise market, where perhaps the load is less price-inelastic, does your concern diminish?  I kind of gathered from your answers that your concern diminishes somewhat, but I just want to check that that’s –
     MR. STAUFT:  The difficulty is that – well, maybe I’ll put it this way.

      You’ll see that effect in almost all pipeline situations, certainly in the United States, where at the margin the value of pipeline services is usually – in fact, usually in the States it’s quite a bit less than the cost-based rate.  They have quite elaborate discounting mechanisms and so on.

      So in any firm with market power at the margin there’s going to be some segment of customers, probably, that won’t pay or don’t have to pay a very high price, right; they are sufficiently elastic in their demand or have enough alternatives that they don’t have to.  But that doesn’t mean that the firm doesn’t have market power in total.  The fact that it’s got some customers that it can’t exercise market power over, some potential customers, doesn’t mean that it doesn’t have market power.  And I don’t think it should mean that therefore they should be able to just – well, I guess I can leave it at that.

      See, in a pipeline, the U.S. pipeline context, you could make the same argument and say, well, the marginal 25 percent of their customers, they can’t exercise market power over so we’ll give them market-based rate authority.  The problem is that in that, that’s not of any interest to the pipelines, because for those customers, they can’t even recover their costs, market-based pricing and having a fully allocated cost burden on those services.  They’d lose money.  They’d be way under water.

      The situation we have here is kind of like that.  If it were the case that the market price of storage on the margin for the utilities was 10 cents, then I would say, okay, give them market-based pricing for that and let them lose money.  Because that’s what they would do.

      But as it turns out, the way the market has actually worked out, even at the margin they are still able to charge prices that, if you looked at that service on a stand-alone basis – I think Mr. Thompson went through with one of the utility witnesses – would get them an 80 percent return on their invested capital, which to me is still – it’s much less of a concern in that segment, but, you know, an 80 percent return on their invested capital for 40 percent of their storage plant is still not anything like a competitive outcome.

     So, yes, the concern is much less, or somewhat less, in relation to those people on the margin.  But in the facts as we have them here, it appears that there is still a large amount of rent involved.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stauft, this whole question of market power and the ability to price above competitive levels and who would be impacted, I guess we can agree that we’re talking about the 30 Bcf customers, the marketers at the end of the day?  It’s not the captive customers.  They’re protected, and these applicants aren’t suggesting any change in that.  It’s the exfranchise customers that we’re talking about; right?

     MR. STAUFT:  Right.

     MR. KAISER:  Now, a la section 29, we’ve already forborne – I mean, that’s priced at market.  This Board isn’t controlling the price of that, whether it’s 90 cents or whatever the price is of that.  That horse is out of the barn.  And those customers are paying those prices.

      And I detected two responses.  One was, that’s wrong.  Those poor guys like BP, they ought to have cost-based rates.  Or, alternatively, I don’t care, they’re not complaining.  Good for them, but make sure that the rents that are extracted by this monopoly price go back to the residential customer.  That was where I thought you landed on that.  Right?

     MR. STAUFT:  I think that’s true.  Yes.  That’s fair.

     MR. KAISER:  And that, of course, has nothing to do with market power.  We’re not protecting the customers that are paying those monopoly prices.  We’re simply transferring the rents from one class of customers back to the other.  It has nothing to do with market power.  

      That decision or rationale or whatever has to be based on something else.  Transferring the rents from the customer that is being gouged, allegedly, back to customers that are fully protected, has nothing to do with market power.  You would agree with that; right?

     MR. STAUFT:  It’s a separate logical step, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  And I thought I also heard you say you have trouble with the notion that, you know, it’s all about who gets this money.  Should the utility be able to get it and put it in its pocket, or who gets it?

     But leaving all of that aside, as you’ve properly said, did I hear you say that, at least with respect to any new capacity that comes onto this market, regardless of who puts it on the market, you’re happy with market-based pricing?

     MR. STAUFT:  Yes – generally speaking, yes.  Certainly when you have unaffiliated third parties developing whole new sets of facilities, I don’t have an objection to market-based prices for that.  And I think the Board has already, basically, said that that’s going to be the rule.

      MHP, for example, or Enbridge Inc., are in slightly different positions just because their affiliate connections. 

     MR. KAISER:  Well, MHP is basically dupe (ph.) dressed down like a little boy.  Do you have a concern with that?       
MR. STAUFT:  No, I think at the Technical Conference I told Mr. Smith, I said, well, you know, in principle, sort of on a market power basis I don’t have any problem with that.

      The difficulty in that kind of case is always going to be satisfying yourself that there isn’t some affiliate advantage going on somewhere.  And sometimes those can be hard to detect or hard to measure and that kind of thing.

      So –
     MR. KAISER:  But those are issues the Board deals with from time to time?

     MR. STAUFT:  Exactly.  Exactly.  The Board can deal with that.

      The other case that’s been presented here, I guess, is situations where the utilities are expanding their existing infrastructure, just sort of, like, drilling new wells, or, I think it was mostly in relation to deliverability.  And that creates a little bit more of a difficult problem.  I guess you could say, well, it would make sense in a way, at a high level, to give the utilities market pricing authority for that.

     The difficulty is, you can’t segregate out – you can’t identify the capacity that is actually created by that activity.  It’s all sort of part of the integrated pile.  You can’t separate it out and say, well, it’s that capacity and it’s those customers that get that capacity, and they’re the people that need to get, need to get –
     MR. KAISER:  But if you could separate it, you wouldn’t have a problem?

     MR. STAUFT:  No, no.  I mean, another – a proxy for that, I think I say in my testimony is that in relation to these expansion things, well, heck, the Board awards a fair return, given the risk.  What’s the problem?  So long as they are assured of getting their costs recovered on a relatively low-risk basis and they get a fair return, cost of capital, what’s the problem?

     I mean, that’s not something that the utilities find satisfactory.  If you wanted to, I know – I suppose the next step would be to say – and I know the FERC has done this –
     MR. KAISER:  Well, FERC didn’t find it to be satisfactory either.

     MR. STAUFT:  No.  No.

     MR. KAISER:  That’s why they went through this whole process, to create a mechanism to create market-based prices for storage.

     MR. STAUFT:  For, again, primarily new stuff.

     MR. KAISER:  I’m just talking about new stuff.  


MR. STAUFT:  The other approach in that could be incentive rates of return.  You could do that kind of thing.  I know the Commission has done that – or I believe the Commission has done that in relation to some electric transmission things, just to avoid the problem.  If you admit that, yes, we need to give these people a higher return in order to induce this behaviour, because we can’t really make them do this.  That’s the problem; right?  The Board can’t make them do this, you may be forced to some kind of an incentive rate of return type of operation.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Warren.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Stauft, I may need a minute to catch my breath to contemplate the idea of Mr. Smith in short pants.

     MR. SMITH:  Don’t think too much about it.

     MR. WARREN:  Thanks.

     I have only a very few questions.  In Mr. Leslie’s cross-examination yesterday, he put to you the issue of the fluctuations in capacity on pipelines and he said that his understanding was that at the moment there was excess capacity on the TCPL system between Emerson and Parkway.

      Assuming that’s correct, what if any relevance would that excess capacity have to the issue of the cost of storage substitutes at Dawn?

     MR. STAUFT:  That would not be relevant at all to the identification of substitutes for storage at Dawn.  TransCanada capacity is not a viable substitute for storage – well, it can be, but it is very, very intensive on a unit basis.  And as I think I said with Mr. Leslie, capacity goes up and down on the main line all the time.  As a long-term solution that would be cost-effective; it’s useless as a substitute.

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Cass, in what he characterized as a “benign” cross-examination of you yesterday, asked you if you had done anything more than looked at websites.  I wonder if you could tell me what websites you looked at and why you looked at those websites.

     MR. STAUFT:  The FERC requires, under its regulations, all of the companies under its jurisdiction to have on their websites a set of informational postings, as they are called, and those informational postings include the tariffs, the official tariffs, and also information about a number of things, but the material I was looking at is in particular lists of customers with detail on the customers, unsubscribed capacity, operationally available capacity, and other operational data on the pipeline.  So these websites aren’t just advertising vehicles.  They are FERC-mandated informational postings that are on the sites.

     MR. WARREN:  In your direct evidence and in your reply evidence, and, indeed, in response to questions that were asked by the Board Panel this morning, you expressed to a view, of the Ontario storage market and the pipeline serving the market as reflecting, if I can put it this way, in essence, the need for load-balancing, seasonal load-balancing.

      Now, in that context, I want to return to the example that Mr. Brett put to you yesterday.  And I don’t know whether or not it was a real-life example or a hypothetical.  But let’s assume it was a real-life example of Centra Manitoba going to a marketer, as I understand it, to obtain a load for three days in the winter.

      Can we or would you conclude that his example would illustrate the ability of a secondary market to fulfill what you regard as the fundamental needs in the market in Ontario?

     MR. STAUFT:  Well, commercial transactions like that could be set up, and probably are in Ontario.  But the point I did make with Mr. Brett is that the people that, the marketers that, are able to set that kind of thing up use, ultimately, the same physical infrastructure that the customers themselves would and have to pay the same costs.

      So they are not a discrete substitute for Union’s storage as against, you know, other physical substitutes.  They are not a separate class of substitute for utility storage.

     MR. WARREN:  My final question is, and I’m not quite sure how to fairly characterize Mr. Leslie’s reliance on this.  I reach out, I guess, for a Harry Potter term, and I’ll characterize his repeated references to the auction as a kind of invisibility cloak for market power.

      Can you tell me, sir, what in your view is the significance, if any, of an auction in the Ontario market as you’ve characterized or described that market?

     MR. STAUFT:  I don’t believe that the presence or absence of an action mechanism for allocating or selling capacity has anything to do with market power or with the presence or absence of market power.

      I mean, if the suggestion is – and I guess maybe Mr. Leslie had this in mind, if the suggestion is that by requiring pipelines or storage operators to auction their capacity you prevent them from exercising market power, I mean, if there were true, the FERC would have figured that out a long time ago and, you know, avoided the need for rate-regulating anybody by requiring them to auction capacity.

      In fact, the Commission already requires people to basically auction capacity, but certainly the economist does not think of that as any kind of counter – or as eliminating or even really mitigating market power.  They still rate-regulate everybody.

      With an auction too, I think I said this in an undertaking response, you have to ask whether there’s a reserve price or not.  And firms always have reserve prices.

     MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions in reply.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I believe that Gaz Métro is next.  I don’t know whether you want to take a short break while we do the switch.

     MR. KAISER:  Why don’t we take a short break.  Mr. Leclerc, are you up?

     MR. LECLERC:  Yes, sir.

--- Recess taken at 10:00 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:20 a.m.
     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  
Mr. Leclerc.

     MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Chairman, just before we commence, it would be my intention to advise the Panel I intend to withdraw now and await for – follow the rest of the proceedings by transcript and await the argument schedule.  My friend, Mr. Warren, his client and my client have coincident interest.  So I’m on a motion, it would be on Friday, and expect him to be representing our interests there.  And accordingly, I would ask permission to withdraw.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

     MR. LECLERC:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Board.  For the record, my name is Louis-André Leclerc.  Appearing on behalf of Gaz Métro.  With me is Louis-Charles Ratelle, out of Quebec, regulation advisor for Gaz Métro.  If I may, I would like to introduce my panel.  
First, Madame Sophie Brochu.  Madame Brochu is executive vice-president of the company, responsible for all activities of Gaz Métro in Québec, including gas supply.  To Madame Brochu’s right, and closest to you, is Mr. Jean-Pierre Bélisle, marketing manager gas supply, and to Mrs. Brochu’s right is Frédéric Morel, senior manager contractual affairs for gas supply.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Could we swear the witnesses, please.

     MR. LECLERC:  I’m advised, Mr. Chairman, that all three witnesses have a preference for a solemn affirmation.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     GAZ MÉTRO – PANEL 1: 

     Jean-Pierre Bélisle ; Affirmed.

     Sophie Brochu ; Affirmed.

     Frédéric Morel; Affirmed.

EXAMINATION BY MR. LECLERC:

     MR. LECLERC:  Madame Brochu, do you have before you the Gaz Métro evidence, which I believe was marked in these proceedings as Exhibit J36?

     MS. BROCHU:  Yes, I do.

     MR. LECLERC:  Was this evidence prepared under your supervision?

     MS. BROCHU:  It was.

     MR. LECLERC:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make?

     MS. BROCHU:  No.

     MR. LECLERC:  Do you adopt it as your evidence in these proceedings?

     MS. BROCHU:  I do.

     MR. LECLERC:  Thank you.  Mr. Bélisle, do you also have before you the Gaz Metro evidence?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  I do.

     MR. LECLERC:  Were you involved in the preparation and review of this evidence?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes, I was.

     MR. LECLERC:  Yes.  Mr. Bélisle, were you involved in the preparation and review of this evidence?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes, I was.

     MR. LECLERC:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  No.

     MR. LECLERC:  Do you adopt it as your evidence in these proceedings?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes, I do.

     MR. LECLERC:  Mr. Morel, were you also involved in the preparation and review of this evidence?
     MR. MOREL:  Yes.

     MR. LECLERC:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make?
     MR. MOREL:  No.

     MR. LECLERC:  Do you adopt it as your evidence in these proceedings?
     MR. MOREL:  I do.

     MR. LECLERC:  Mr. Chair, I would just like now to invite Madame Brochu to make an opening statement.

     MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.

     MS. BROCHU:  Mr. Chairman, madame, sir, good morning.  
My colleagues and I are pleased to be here, and I will be brief.  The main purpose of our presence here and of our testimony is to inform the Board and make sure that you understand that access to Union storage is of vital importance for Gaz Métro.  And the reason why we’re here is because in the report that eventually led to the hearings, we saw a word that was a bit troubling for us.  To use Harry Potter terms, it’s like the word Voldemort, and it’s the claw-back.  
We, as you are probably aware, are the largest out-of-franchise customers of Union.  And we’ve been a customer of Union for the last 30 years.  Since 2001, we’ve been paying market price, and we have no problem in paying market price.  But certainly, if one comes to talking about claw-back of our capacity, we would feel deprived of a right that we feel we have earned through the years.

     We don’t want the privileged access to that storage.  All we want is to have the ability to sit down, negotiate, and compete on a pricing basis to access that storage.  So, again, we’re not asking for a privilege, but just to maintain our ability to get access to that storage.  
One must understand, and you are certainly aware of that, that Ontario and Québec are part of, essentially, the same integrated big large market.  Consumers, Union Gas and Gaz Métro, the three eastern LDCs, are all fed from the same TCPL system.  And TCPL is actually the backbone of our whole supply system and Union, for GazMet, is the lung of our supply. 

     So, that’s the reason we’re here, essentially, to tell you, whatever you decide, and it’s not for us to tell you whether you should deregulate or not.  Our intent is not to mingle in the relationships that you have with your LDCs, but just to be aware that access to storage is important.  We are ready to pay market price, and the claw-back notion got us here.

     MR. LECLERC:  Subject to that, Mr. Chairman.  The witness panel is ready for cross-examination.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Leclerc.  
Mr. Leslie.  Do you have anything?

     MR. LESLIE:  No, I don’t, thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass?

     MR. CASS:  No, sir, thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Smith?

     MR. SMITH:  No, thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Thompson?
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Good morning, panel.  I represent the Industrial Gas Users Association, as well as the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.  My name is Peter Thompson.

     MS. BROCHU:  Good morning.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And my interest in examining you is to obtain some facts that I think may assist the Board in addressing this market power question that’s before it with respect to Union.  And I’d like to start, if I might, just by getting information about GMI’s profile.  
This is addressed in your pre-filed evidence.  On page 1, paragraph 2, you provide the mix of customers that you serve, substantially residential; is that correct?  71.6 percent –
     MS. BROCHU:  Sure, yeah.

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- residential.  24.7 percent commercial and institutional, and 3.7 percent industrial.

     MS. BROCHU:  Absolutely, from the number of customers, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That’s number of customers.  And then by volume, it’s almost 60 percent industrial; is that correct?

     MS. BROCHU:  That’s right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, do you know how your profile compares to that of Enbridge Gas Distribution or Union, for example?

     MS. BROCHU:  I’m sorry.  We don’t have that by heart.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  What is the load factor at which you operate your distribution system?  Is it 40, 50 percent?  I’m talking about your distribution system in Québec.  Approximately.

     MS. BROCHU:  I would say depends on the part of our system you talk about.  But if for any – if it’s of any help, the ratio of our winter to summer is about 5 to 1.  The demand, the summer value with the winter peak is 5 to 1.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what I was trying to get was a year-round estimate of your utilization or load factor.

     [Witness panel confers] 
MS. BROCHU:  One way to look at it would be, the average is about 500 a day, and our peak is about 1.1.  So that ratio would give you a good indication.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So roughly 50 percent?
     MS. BROCHU:  Roughly 50 percent.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That’s great.  
Now, you have an appendix B to your testimony, a chart showing the ownership of Gaz Métro.  And if I read this correctly, Enbridge Inc. has about a 32 percent interest, Gaz de France has about a 17.56 percent interest, and then Trencap has a slightly more than 50 percent.  Am I right?

     MS. BROCHU:  That would be right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And what is Trencap?

     MS. BROCHU:  Well, Trencap is everything you see above Trencap there on those pages.  Trencap is just, I would call, it a regrouping or a consortium of various interests, mostly pension fund interests investing in our company.  So you see the Caisse de 
ovem et de placement here, which is a Québec pension fund, and then beside SNC Lavalin, if you look at BC Investment Management Corporation, the Régime des rentes du 
ovement Desjardins, the Règime de Retraite, those are all pension fund types of investors.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  
Now, in terms of Enbridge and Gaz de France, I believe they are in a partnership, and maybe GazMet is part of it, to develop the Rabaska LNG facility in Québec; is that right?

     MS. BROCHU:  Yes, Enbridge, Gaz de France and Gaz Métro are. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, you’ve given us some information on your total throughput in your evidence.  Can you tell us the percentage of the throughput that is what we call system gas and what is direct purchase gas, roughly? 

     MS. BROCHU:  Obviously, it fluctuates from year to year, but it would be about 45 system, 55 direct, right now.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

     Now, you acquire storage from Union, as the evidence discloses, and I think it’s in an amount of 22.6 pJs; is that correct?
     MS. BROCHU:  It is.

     MR. THOMPSON:  What’s that in Bcf, roughly?
     MS. BROCHU:  There’s about a 5 percent difference, just like gigaJoules and Mcf.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it’s up or down?

     MS. BROCHU:  21. something.  I’m sorry.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Let’s just call it 21 Bcf.  Thanks.  
And this is a storage that Union sells to exfranchise customers?  You’re one of the group of exfranchise customers that Union sells to?

     MS. BROCHU:  That’s what we understand it to be.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you indicate in your evidence you thought you represented about 32 percent of Union’s exfranchise customers?  That’s in paragraph 7, second-last line.

     MS. BROCHU:  That’s right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I don’t think you need to turn this up, but there is an undertaking response provided by Union in these proceedings which – and it’s Undertaking No. 47, that shows Gaz Métro at about 28.27 percent of its total exfranchise load.  But in addition to your company, the other distributors shown in the load are Enbridge at about 26.54 percent, and Kingston Public Utilities at about 1.31 percent.  That totals about 55 percent.  Do you have any reason to question those numbers?

     MS. BROCHU:  We don’t.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  
Now, you’ve given the history of your long relationship with Union in your pre-filed evidence, and it goes back to 1975.

     MS. BROCHU:  Before me.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Not before me.
And could you tell us could you tell us, what is the service you buy from Union?

     MS. BROCHU:  I will ask Mr. Jean-Pierre Bélisle to answer that question.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  The service we’re buying from Union, we buy storage services, of course, and transportation from Dawn to Parkway.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is the storage service space injection and withdrawal?
     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then you have transportation from Dawn to –
     MR. BÉLISLE:  Parkway.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Parkway on Union’s system.  Is that M12?
     MR. BÉLISLE:  That is M12, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then to get the gas from Parkway, the gas coming out of storage from Parkway down to GMI, is that the STS service that you have from TransCanada?
     MR. BÉLISLE:  We have STS service from TransCanada, yeah.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But is that what it’s for, to carry the gas coming out of storage to Montreal?
     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And is it fair for me to say, then, that what you acquire from Union is a delivery service only?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Meaning what?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Meaning you’re not buying commodity from Union, you’re buying delivery service only.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  We don’t buy commodity from Union whatsoever.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And in terms of the other arrangements that you have upstream of the Union system, do I understand that all of your contracts are on the TransCanada system?  Transportation upstream?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  We have – all the upstream is on TransCanada from Empress, yes, in Alberta.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And, now where do you source the commodity that you either use for your system sales or carry for your customers?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  I’m sorry, where the –
     MR. THOMPSON:  What’s the source of the commodity?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  It’s all Alberta gas.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, Alberta.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  And I also have to mention that we also buy gas in winter at Dawn directly.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the gas that you buy at Dawn directly in the winter is for what purpose?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  It helps us to balance the franchise.  We bring the gas to Montreal.  Instead of storing it, it just flows through to Montreal.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And you mentioned in your testimony you have a few other, a couple of other, small storage facilities, I believe, in Québec.  That’s in paragraph 26.  A small one in Saint-Flavian, and another one in Pointe-du-Lac; is that right? 
     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes.  That’s correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And apart from that, currently, do you have any other storage services that you rely on?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yeah, we have 2 Bcf of LNG in our franchise, in Montreal.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  There was some evidence referenced by Mr. Smith, and again, I don’t think you need to turn this up.  Let me describe it to you, and if you need to see it we’ll draw it to your attention.  But in – it’s in a report that – I’ll give this for the record.  It’s in Exhibit I8.1, and it’s the Acres study report that’s at tab 7b.  And this is a report dated July of 2002.  And at page 13 of the report it says this:
“Gaz Métropolitain, the major Québec gas distribution company, is another specific example of a gas storage purchaser capable of substituting Ontario-based storage with storage services from Michigan.”
It goes on:
“Gaz Métropolitan has traditionally contracted for storage service in Ontario from UGL.  Recently, it made storage service arrangements for some of its needs to be provided by a Michigan storage service provider.  It has a contract with CoEnergy Trading Company for an exchange agreement that provides Gaz Métropolitan with 4 Bcf of storage services.” 
Can you just explain to us what that arrangement was all about, if you know?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  It was a summer to winter exchange.  That’s not valid anymore.  It was from 1994 to 2004.  So when in July ’02 it says “recent”, it was not that recent.  It was in ’94, actually.  And the first three years were for 4 Bcf per year, and then we had the option to vary the amount for the last seven years.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And just explain how that worked.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Well, we give gas in summer and we get gas back in winter.  But it’s all happening at Dawn, not in Michigan. CoEnergy was based in Michigan, but the service was at Dawn.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So this was actually a transaction that used Union storage; is that right?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  I wouldn’t know.

     MR. THOMPSON:  You don’t know.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  No, you would have to ask CoEnergy for that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But as far as you were concerned, were you purchasing Michigan storage as a result of this transaction, or was it a Dawn-based transaction?
     MR. BÉLISLE:  Dawn-based transaction.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  
Now, in the history – well, just before I move back to the history, you mentioned you do buy, would it be fair to call it, peak-day supplies at Dawn in the winter.  Is that what you’re referring to?

     MS. BROCHU:  It’s more than peak.  It’s like, visualize it as a cake, okay.  So it’s more than peak.  It’s like seasonal buying that we, that we – we call it the wedding cake back home, okay?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And how much of your sugar do you put in the cake, and how much are you getting from the purchases at Dawn?

     MS. BROCHU:  Can you just explain a bit more your question?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, well, I understood – you have a certain amount of capacity with Union’s storage capacity.  And you move gas from Western Canada and inject that into the storage facility in the summer.  Was that right?

     MS. BROCHU:  Yes, it is.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then I think you’re saying you also buy some gas at Dawn.  Do you inject that in storage or is that just being bought to carry to Montreal?

     MS. BROCHU:  This is bought and carry.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.

     All right.  Just back then, quickly, to –
     MS. BROCHU:  Just to make sure that we understand each other, this is part of the overall supply system.  It’s not the only path we are using and supply tools we’re using, but those are two tools within the portfolio.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I understand.  And what proportion of the supply is the stuff you buy in the winter at Dawn, roughly?


[Witness panel confers]
     MS. BROCHU:  We’re talking amongst ourselves because it varies with our supply plans, but I would say between 10 and 15 Bcf per year, approximately, out of Dawn.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Of a total of 200 and something?

     MS. BROCHU:  Of a – let’s say, yeah.  200 and something.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what is it?  I thought there was a number in here.

     MS. BROCHU:  Well, I thought you were going to compare that with the Dawn storage, which is about 21 Bcf.  So if it gives you a –
     MR. THOMPSON:  No, I was interested in the total supply.  It’s 10 to 15 compared to 21 Bcf of Dawn storage, but in terms of your overall supply needs?

     MS. BROCHU:  Page 1 of our testimony shows that we distribute about 214 pJ per year.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So 215 roughly, or – it goes down with Bcf?

     MS. BROCHU:  It does.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So let’s say 214.  It’s close enough.  Thanks.

     So what you’re buying in the peak – sorry, what you’re buying at Dawn in the winter, it’s less than 10 percent of your overall supply?
     MS. BROCHU:  I would agree.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  
Now, just a follow-up on that.  Why don’t you buy all of your gas at Dawn and have no storage?

     MS. BROCHU:  I think the way that one supplies the market it has to serve depends on the overall strategy that one adopts.  As an LDC, our goal is not to extract the very last penny out of a situation.  Our goal is to physically load balance an overall franchise who depend on Gaz Métro, to load balance their needs.

     In Québec people have the choice to load balance themselves.  None are doing that right now, everybody relies on Gaz Métro to do that.  
So I would say that the overall philosophy of our supply plan is to have, to the extent possible, diversification of tools, geographic diversification.  And obviously, being located where we are, we are limited to a certain extent to that diversification, namely of supply, and this is why we are trying hard to get LNG in.  
But I would say going totally on buying spot gas would not be something with which we would be comfortable in doing.  And I would say that for an LDC the physical is something that is very, very important, and we would not feel comfortable going only buying spot gas.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  I’ll come back to that in a moment.

     In terms of the history, you point out in your evidence that you were on cost-based rates, I think, from 1975 to 2001.  And you make reference to the Board’s decision, I think it was in 1998, that moved after a two-year waiting period, I think it was, moved from the cost-based to the so-called market-based pricing?

     MS. BROCHU:  Yes.  Would you be kind enough just to guide us through our own evidence?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Yeah, that is in paragraph 6.

     MS. BROCHU:  That’s right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And I don’t know if any of your people on the panel are familiar with this history, but in the IGUA pre-filed evidence there are two of the Board’s decisions, well, three of them, that pertained to that, if you will, transition.  Were any of you around when that happened?

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. BROCHU:  We were around but not implicated.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, the only point I wanted to nail down was that there was no market power analysis that was done at the time to justify that move away from cost-based rates.  Can you confirm that?  Or if you can’t, can you undertake to check and confirm it?

     MS. BROCHU:  We could check and confirm.  We cannot say that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  
Could I have a number for that, please?

     MS. SEBALJ:  It’s K10.1.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

     MR. LECLERC:  Mr. Chairman, how would that be helpful, in the sense that if the Board’s decision demonstrates whether or not there was a study conducted as to whether there was market power or not, what will the witnesses add in this regard?

     MR. KAISER:  I’m not sure.  Let’s ask Mr. Thompson.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, maybe I misunderstood you, but are you suggesting there was a market power analysis that was presented?

     MR. LECLERC:  No, I’m not.  What I’m suggesting is, what would the confirmation from Gaz Métro add to the debate, given that the information is either in the Board’s decision or not?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it will demonstrate that the move that took place at that time was not based on market power considerations.  That’s what I think it will help demonstrate.

     MR. LECLERC:  But then again, what does the confirmation from this witness add or confirm in any way in this regard.  The source of their information would be to review the Board’s decision.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Fine.  Let’s leave it there.  Forget it.  
In looking at the history that you’ve described here, really from paragraphs 8 onwards, I get the impression, and tell me if I’m wrong, that Gaz Métro regards the Dawn storage it acquires from Union as part of the transmission system network that it uses.  Is that fair?

     MS. BROCHU:  I think it’s fair to say that we view, as I said, TCPL being to the backbone of the supply in the region, and Union as the lung of that system, so I would say part of the overall supply system, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But the way you describe it is, and correct me if I’m not putting this fairly, but you describe it as if it were an integrated component of the upstream system that you use.

     MS. BROCHU:  We would agree.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  All right.  
Now, in terms of the transportation contract linkages to this piece of the system, you have transportation contracts upstream, you mentioned, with TransCanada.  At what load factor are you able to operate on those contracts, approximately?

     MS. BROCHU:  Our long haul is used this year, in the projected year, at 97.6 percent, on the long haul.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then, moving it, when you take gas out of storage and move it downstream to Montreal, are you able to maintain a high load factor on that transportation as well?

     MS. BROCHU:  Not in the summer, no.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But in the –
     MS. BROCHU:  It’s fully utilized in the winter, but it’s not utilized fully in the summer, obviously.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So that’s the M12 and the – is the STS an annual service?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Is STS is an annual service.  It allows you to bring gas in the winter and inject it in the summer.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So when you’re operating at approximately 50 percent load factor, and let’s assume you are bringing 100 units out of the west, on the summer days, and this is an oversimplification, but on the summer days you would bring 100 down, put 50 into storage, and take 50 on to Montreal; right?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then on the winter days you would bring 100 down, you take 50 out of storage, and move 150 down to Montreal?
     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes.  That’s right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And the storage piece of that is integral to achieving these load factors that you achieve upstream?

     MS. BROCHU:  Can you rephrase that question?  I’m not sure I understand what you –
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, you’re able to achieve a high load factor upstream because you have this integrated storage piece in your – I’ll call it a network.

     MS. BROCHU:  That’s how it’s been designed, right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.  If you didn’t have it, you would have to have 150 on TransCanada to bring it all the way.

     MS. BROCHU:  If we didn’t have it; “it” being what?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Storage.
     MS. BROCHU:  Storage or Union’s storage?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Union’s storage.

     MS. BROCHU:  Well, I’m not sure I can agree with that.  If we didn’t have Union storage, we would try to look at the opportunities and alternatives to Union storage to get that.  
But yes to – and maybe that’s a good place to put it, I wouldn’t be so sure as Mr. Stauft to say that transportation is not an alternative to storage.  If storage is an alternative to transportation, then transportation is an alternative to storage.

     But we would look at various ways to do that to minimize the costs, and looking at the alternative to Union is definitely something we would be doing.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I’m not suggesting there aren’t alternatives, but the cost of alternatives is an important consideration.

     MS. BROCHU:  It sure is.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so what you’re currently paying for Union storage, you tell us, is about twice the cost-based rate.  You tell us that in – somewhere in your testimony.

     MS. BROCHU:  Can you guide us, please?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I thought I marked it here.

     MR. LECLERC:  Paragraph 6.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Paragraph 6?  Sorry.  Yes.  I did.  Yeah.  Page 2, paragraph 6, last sentence.

     MS. BROCHU:  Yeah, it says more than twice.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And we know from the evidence in this case that the cost-based rate for storage in Union’s system is about 31 cents.  Do you have any reason to quarrel with that?

     MS. BROCHU:  Do we have any reason for what?

     MR. THOMPSON:  To question that number?

     MS. BROCHU:  No.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so – well, is the amount that you pay for storage to Union a matter of public record in Québec?  Do you prove that number in your –
     MS. BROCHU:  It is not.  It is filed confidentially at the Québec Energy Board.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, when it’s more than twice – let’s – for the purposes of my discussion let’s assume it’s about 80 cents.

     MS. BROCHU:  Well, I will use more than twice and not say 80 cents.  But if you want to do semantics, I’ll be pleased to do that with you.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let’s go with the 80 cents.  Now, you have in your evidence a contract sheet, it’s appendix C.  And if I go down to 2006, it looks like there’s a series of contracts totaling 22.6 pJs.  Do I read this correctly?

     MS. BROCHU:  You are.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the first one to come up for – well, the first one to expire will be the 10.3 contract.  In other words, these are sort of a ladder of contracts; is that right?
MS. BROCHU:  These are a ladder of contracts in the sense – and maybe to provide perspective, at one point in time, given our strategy of diversification, we wanted break, if you wish, the big chunks of contractual arrangement we had with Union.  And we sliced those.  And we tried to renew them to keep an average duration of about, let’s say, seven years, as it can be shown here.  But, yes, the strategy is not to have a whole chunk being expired at the same time.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And let’s, just for the purpose of this discussion, assume that the 10 Bcf expires tomorrow and Union says to you, in the words that bother you in their evidence, you can’t have it anymore.  Okay?  That’s my working assumption.
     MS. BROCHU:  Okay.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, what do you do then?

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. BROCHU:  Okay.  I was chatting with my colleagues here because I will tell you that, from a business standpoint, our experience has been to sit down with Union, I would say, between a year or 18 months in advance, around a year in advance, to look contractually at what will happen with that.  
If we didn’t have Union, we would fall back to a whole melting pot of solutions.  Of it you would find probably exchanges at Dawn, you would find transportation, and you would probably find some Michigan-based options, probably through a third party.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

     MS. BROCHU:  That would have transportation on Vector, for example, to bring that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So let’s look at the Michigan storage option.  And would you look at the tariffs, first of all, to see what it costs to get storage in Michigan?  Get it to Dawn?

     MS. BROCHU:  I hope you believe we will.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Okay.  And you might want to turn this up if you have it.  It’s Mr. Stauft’s pre-filed evidence.

     MS. BROCHU:  Just give us a moment; we will have to have this.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sure.  It’s Exhibit X8.1, at page 58.

     MS. BROCHU:  So you wanted page 58?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Page 58.  There’s a table there.  And the numbers that I wanted to draw your attention to were the numbers that he’s got for storage cost for natural, Vector, transportation costs, total.  This is transportation costs to get it to Dawn.

     National Fuel, storage, transportation costs.  And total to get it to Dawn, $1.71.

     And ANR is the cheapest, 70 cents and 85 cents; about $1.55 to get it to Dawn.

     Do you have any reason to quarrel with those tariff numbers?

     MS. BROCHU:  So those would be primary markets, but I am not confirmed that they are correct.  We look at them punctually, but not like yesterday.  But we understand it to be on the primary market, right.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that’s the primary market numbers.  And that’s considerably more than our 80 cents; right?  That’s considerably more than the 80 cents you were paying yesterday?

     MS. BROCHU:  You’re asking me to comment on evidence of somebody else’s.  And I see those numbers, and I have a virtual problem with the conclusion that you’re making.  Each and every time we sit down with Union we look at alternatives.  Some of them are here; some of them do not appear here.  And we have this fiduciary right for our own customers to make sure that we’re not paying more for Union that we have to.

     So it’s difficult for us to come here with a premium compared to, I don’t know exactly what is in here.  But I can tell you that what we have out of Union is competitive with the alternatives.  We encompass many factors into that competitiveness assessment, obviously, and for other reasons than monetary reasons, we’ve been preferring Union, and probably putting a little value there.  But I can tell you that Union is competitive to alternatives, so I have difficulty to correlate with somebody else’s testimony and evidence.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  So are you telling me you have done a competitive analysis to confirm that what you’re paying to Union is the right number?
     MS. BROCHU:  We test the market.  The answer is, yes.  Each and every time we negotiate with Union, we test the market.  You will understand, Mr. Thompson, that we’re getting into something that is of commercial sensitivity, but we do, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Can you produce it in confidence to the Board?  

     MS. BROCHU:  I have a problem with that, sir, because it comes from third parties, and when they do that, they do that in a fashion that I am not sure they would agree with it being discussed.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, are you saying you put your requirements out to bid?  
MR. LECLERC:  Mr. Chairman, may I ask again, what is the relevance of the actual exercise conducted by GMI when it sits down with Union, whenever that happens in time, to the issues being discussed here?

     The witness has provided testimony to the effect that they do conduct a market test to see whether the prices that are being charged by Union are fair or not, and fulfilling their fiduciary duty towards their ratepayers.  But what is the relevance of an exercise that has been conducted at one point in time to these hearings?  And I’m not quite sure whether it is relevant.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it goes to the very issue of the allegation that Union operates in a competitive market.  The evidence that we rely on suggests that the next best alternative is considerably more than 80 cents.  I understand the witness to be saying:  We’ve got a study that says it’s 80 cents.

     MS. BROCHU:  That’s not what I’ve said, sir.  What I’ve said that when we sit down with Union and negotiate, before we do that, we test the market.  And we don’t even tell Union how we test that market.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, can you tell me how much the next best alternative is about 80 cents?  We’re suggesting it’s at least $1.55.  Is that in the ballpark?

     MS. BROCHU:  Mr. Thompson, are you asking me to confirm to my supplier at which price he could push the envelope to?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah.

     MS. BROCHU:  Publicly?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Because the question is, does your supplier have market power?  Do you know what the market power –
     MS. BROCHU:  He could to that today.  I mean, if you believe –
     MR. THOMPSON:  He could take you up to $1.55 today?

     MS. BROCHU:  Well, if he felt that he could, he can do market prices and the market prices, I’m saying – I’m saying, if this is right, and I’m not saying it is, but if this is right, I mean, Union – we’re paying market price.  So that market price is established between business people operating in a business environment with their own, you know, requirements.  The duration that an LDC can enter into is different than a marketer can enter into, and that can influence vastly the price.

     So I have trouble looking at a specific page like that and saying that what we do is comparable to that.  That’s all I’m saying.  And I’m not going to say publicly, certainly not in front of Union, how – they don’t even know which alternatives we’re looking at.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know what Union’s marginal cost of – well, do you know what the marginal cost of storage is?

     MS. BROCHU:  Which cost of storage?  Their cost?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, their cost, anybody else’s cost, I suppose.  We’re being told here the marginal cost of storage is some sort of threshold that we should be using to test whether Union has market power or not.  And I’m asking you, have you ever seen that number?  I haven’t.

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. BROCHU:  I think there is a mix or a confusion of concept around all this.  When we look at alternatives, we don’t look at the marginal cost of Union.  We look at alternatives, whatever those alternatives are.

     If it so happens that the marginal cost of Union is lower, because they have an existing facility, than the other marginal costs of an emerging facility, it provides Union with a competitive advantage.  Does a competitive advantage translate to market power?  Not necessarily.

     And if, one day, somebody comes up with a marginal cost down the road that happens to be lower than the marginal costs of the new facility, then people will adjust to that.  And that’s called market responsiveness.

     So if somebody’s market responsive, does that make that entity, a market controller?  I personally cannot say that.  But we’re not market experts.  
All I’m saying to you is that we test the market.  We talk to people, and we ask them what they could be doing for us at that point of time.  And we’ve been renewing Union, even though we are market-based.

     So this is why, when we first met, we said, we have no clue to say if they have market power.  We don’t have this expertise.  We’ve never felt that.  That’s all we can say.

     So it’s difficult.  Again, for me, coming back to this evidence here, it is very troubling, because I don’t find myself in there.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Leclerc, let me see if I can help you in terms of what, at least, would be of interest to the Board.  Your witness suggested, when she was talking earlier about options, as I heard it, there may even be cases where your client preferred Union for non-monetary reasons.  This suggested that if we were just looking at prices, to me, there were other services, comparable services, out there that might be priced more or less comparable to Union, but there would be a preference for Union for some other reasons which they didn’t describe.

     MR. LECLERC:  That’s my understanding.

     MR. KAISER:  So our over-reaching interest here is to determine the extent to which there are substitutes that buyers face for Union’s storage.  And so I’m wondering if she could address that issue, without referring to specific prices.  But if she could just develop that earlier concept, the way I read into it, that if you were just looking at prices there are alternatives but there are cases way you might even prefer Union even if you get the storage somewhere else at the same price.

     MR. LECLERC:  If I understand your point, sir, you’re suggesting you want the witness to expand on what would be those other advantages that Gaz Métro sees of dealing with Union.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, and also confirm, which I read into that answer, that there are alternative storage services available at comparable prices.

     MR. LECLERC:  That, my understanding, sir, depends at what time they do the exercise.

     MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.

     MR. LECLERC:  Okay.  So I have no problem with that, Madame Brochu, if you could expand on that.

     MS. BROCHU:  I will answer, maybe, your first question on what other types of characteristics.  

All things being quell equal, an LDC prefers to get its storage services as close as possible to its market.  If we could have, you know, 50 Bcf of storage in Québec, we’d be Québec.  We wouldn’t be sitting here today.  Unfortunately, our geology is not as generous as Ontario’s, so we have to rely upon external storage services.

     The further away you get, theoretically, the pricier you get; the more operational constraints, which are not insurmountable.  They can be dealt with, but it becomes more complex.  And you face more probabilities of force majeure occurrences.

     As an LDC, we’re not a marketer.  So it’s not a matter at a specific time.  If there is there’s a force majeure situation, it’s not a matter of what would be the price implication.  We need the juice in our own franchise.  So the further away we get, the more likelihood that there is a force majeure between our system and the storage services.

     So that will be kind of the, the, I would say the – some of the differences one can see with different storage.

     Obviously, we’ve been dealing with Union for a long time.  They know us.  They know the type of needs, operationally.  It’s true, it’s easier to deal with somebody you’ve been dealing with for 30 years.  So that has a value.  
That being said, it isn’t worth 50 cents, Mr. Thompson.

     Can I ask you to repeat your second question?

     MR. KAISER:  Well, what I read into your earlier answer was that – and I guess you’ve partly touched on it, is that if you were looking at price alone, leaving aside these conditions which you just mentioned, you can find this capacity in the marketplace at roughly comparable prices; is that the case or not?

     MS. BROCHU:  The nuance I would make, sir, is that it would be a basket of tools.  Okay?  Not necessarily storage, let’s say, in Michigan, with corresponding Vector transportation capacity and all attached.

     There are many people who have capacities on Vector right now who are interested in marketing a product.  Where they store, how they transport, the market is transparent, you don’t know that.  You don’t know.  But you know that if you ask for a certain type of delivery service over a certain period of time, you will find people interested in doing that.  And that’s how we benchmark our friends at Union.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, a critical component in all of this is the price.  For a substitute to be a good substitute, it has to be available at a price similar to the 80 cents we’ve assumed.

     And we’re suggesting that the next best alternative is at least – and I’m talking now for delivery services, that’s what you want.  You don’t want the commodity, you’ve got the commodity; right?  So you want delivery services.  And if you have to go to Michigan to get it, you’re going to have to pay a price for it; right?

     MS. BROCHU:  I may not be the one going Michigan to get it.  And the way they are – let’s say I am – the problem I have with the discussion here is that we’re trying to – in French we say “saucissonner”.  We’re trying to slice things as if one transaction was being part of only one transaction.  
When we deal with a marketer – I won’t name anyone – when we deal with marketer, they have their own portfolio.  They may be swapping Michigan with Chicago.  I have no clue where it comes from, but the gas appears and they make a slice of it.  
So if we were to deal with them, and if they were to incorporate let’s say part of it out of Michigan, would we pay 100 percent of Michigan costs?  Not necessarily, because they would be playing around with their own portfolio.  So I cannot answer that question the way you’re asking me to, sir.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it’s actually Union that’s supposed to demonstrate what these so-called substitutes do cost.  They haven’t done it.  So I’m trying to get a feel for it.  
But just talking about marketers, my understand is marketers like to bundle up stuff with commodity.  Is that the way it works?

     [Witness panel confers]

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Not necessarily.  We talked about CoEnergy earlier.  There was no commodity involved.  It’s just a service provider.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  And you can do that every day for whatever period you want, and the volume you want.  You can do it every day with marketers.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So where – if I want to find out the price at Dawn, the commodity price at Dawn, there’s publications available for that; right?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yes, there is.  Yeah.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Where do I find what storage services, unbundled from the commodity, cost at Dawn?  There’s nowhere that that’s available, that I am aware of, is there?

     [Witness panel confers]

     MR. BÉLISLE:  I think they all base their calculations on the summer-to-winter swaps.  So it is date of service, it is not the molecules involved.  So when you give a molecule to someone in the summer and you receive it back in the winter, it’s the difference between those spreads.  And you can do that at Dawn.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the marketer uses the summer-winter swap as its pricing guide, is that what you’re saying?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  I would believe they do that, yes.  I’m not a marketer, but I would believe that’s what they do.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that’s what I think the evidence has indicated here, but that includes commodity.

     MR. LECLERC:  Mr. Chairman, again, I don’t see how these witnesses can speak on behalf of what a marketer does.  They can speak of their own experience and explain what they do, but they can’t speak on what the practice of a marketer is and how such marketers manage to derive a return from the transactions they enter into.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I’m not really asking them to do that, I don’t think.

     MR. LECLERC:  That’s what I understood you to ask.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if I did, I misspoke myself.

     My question is:  Do the marketers sell their product with the commodity?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  The service they provide – actually, when I give them the gas in the summer, it is my own gas, and they give it back to me in the winter.  So it’s my gas that I gave to them.  They don’t have to provide the gas.  So that’s typically an exchange from summer to winter.  
So, if I want to buy their own molecule, then I will do – the cake we talked about earlier.  I will buy in the winter, directly, that will with their molecule that I buy.  But when I do an exchange which mimics the storage, it’s my gas I gave to them in the summer.  
If I don’t have enough space at Union, I will give them gas in summer so I create space.  And they give it back to me in the winter.  So it’s my gas.  I bear the risk, the credit risk, on that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Because it’s my gas.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Let’s come back to the commodity, though, at Dawn, which you were talking about earlier, and I asked you why don’t you buy all your gas at Dawn, and you said that you wouldn’t think that was appropriate, or words to that effect.  Do you recall that?
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It would not be our preference; right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what are the risks involved in that?  Union comes here and says, You can get all you need at Dawn.  Don’t bother us with this storage business.  And we say that we think it’s going to be pretty pricey to buy all your winter needs at Dawn on a spot basis to cover off your storage obligation.  What’s your view on that topic?

     [Witness panel confers]

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Sophie’s talked about Union being the lung of our system.  The lung of our system.  Union provides a very good service, like, you can inject and withdraw it many different times during the year.  When we buy in the winter, we usually buy flat deliveries.  There’s not much flexibility in there.  

     So the flat deliveries in the winter represent part of our approach to gas supply.  So we have supply in Alberta, we have storage, we have the cake at Dawn, so it’s a mix of tools.  And we load-balance the franchise with the mix of tools, it’s not one single thing.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But the price of the product you buy in winter is what, approximately?  

     What I’m trying to get at, is the price of your product that you bring year-round down from the West, put in storage and take out, on average, is less than that price that you’re paying in the winter; am I correct?

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. BROCHU:  Just give us a second.  We’re trying to define what’s commercially sensitive here as a strategy, okay.
     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. BROCHU:  Look, we’re getting into a Gaz Métro supply strategy, but we will provide you a hint of an answer here that will show you that things are not necessarily as clear cut as one can believe from the outside.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Typically, what we may do, let’s say we buy a slice of gas at Dawn over the period of November to March, which is typically winter.  Let’s say we buy 10,000 gJ flat.  We will, most of the time, base our decision on an Aeco-plus.  So what we will pay to the marketer, the commodity delivered at Dawn will be an Aeco price, plus a fixed option that covers transportation between Aeco and Dawn.  That fixed transportation costs includes, of course, transportation in the secondary market, includes the fuel and the variable costs.

     Now, in the Aeco price itself, because you are buying winter gas, the spread from summer to winter is probably built in the price at Aeco.  So it would reflect the winter price at Aeco, which would, itself, incorporate the summer to winter value at Aeco, though, in Alberta, not at Dawn.  So that’s typically what we will do.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And what that’s telling me –
     MR. BÉLISLE:  But the rest, I don’t know what they do.  That’s what I buy.  I don’t know what the marketer does.

     MS. BROCHU:  So the answer to your question is that we don’t know.  It depends.

     MR. THOMPSON:  You don’t know what?  You know what the – you’re buying at a price that’s higher than the average price you would pay from – the average price of your commodity brought down, put in storage, and taken out, is lower than the winter price you’re paying at Dawn.  That’s what I understand you to be saying.
     MR. BÉLISLE:  The answer is, winter gas is typically always more expensive than summer gas.  That’s the nature of the things, for now.

     MS. BROCHU:  But we’ve seen otherwise sometimes.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  And we don’t necessarily fix the commodity, we buy an index.  So we don’t know what the price will be.  We’ll see it when we get there.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But if you lose – so what I’m trying to get at is I’m trying to get a number.

     Let’s just assume that the costs of your next – well, let me ask this:  What’s the current spread between the winter and summer price?  How much, roughly?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  I believe you’re looking for a very short-term price, because you seem to imply that it’s very expensive.  I would say this year is fairly expensive, but we don’t do a year-to-year storage deals.  We go long term.  And that changes, I think, everything, the whole dynamics, being long term.

     So you can find a price, you can have the swap yourself from anybody, from summer to winter.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I’m just a dumb lawyer.  Give me the number.  What is it today?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  I don’t know.  The market changes every second.  There’s people trading NYMEX every single second.

     MR. THOMPSON:  What is it, $1.00, $2.00, $3.00?

MR. BÉLISLE:  I don’t look at it, myself, every day.
     MR. LECLERC:  Mr. Chair, I’m asking my friend to let the witness answer question.  And again, I’m asking whether it’s relevant, to the extent of what were the prices yesterday.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Yeah, we know, typically, this year it’s very expensive because the price of gas is going down this summer and the winter remains high.  So it could be $2.00, $3.00, $4.00 this year.  But we’re not going to contract storage this year.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  
Well, let’s just take that as the difference, the $4.00 difference that we’re talking about.

     MS. BROCHU:  Okay, sure.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let’s assume a number that’s greater than 80 cents for the purposes of my next questions, okay?

     Assume the number is greater than 80 cents, and it could be as much as $4.  And assume, in my scenario where Union says you’re not getting anything from us because of claw-back, then you have to go somewhere else and to make other arrangements.

     MS. BROCHU:  I mean, this is an academic question, because you’re comparing a spot spread with a seven-year duration storage contract.

     But contractually, the answer is yes.  I mean, conceptually, your answer is yes, but in reality, this is not how it’s going happen.  
And at the end of the day, to me, for what it’s worth, the optimal – I mean, the ceiling that Union can charge to a long-term customer for storage is the transportation costs.  The date the storage costs goes beyond transportation storage costs, we move the gas from West, and we will sell is it capacity in summer.  And that has a price, but that will be to me the ceiling of what Union can push the envelope to.

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it’s the transportation cost on TransCanada?  Is that what you’re talking about?
MS. BROCHU:  Oui.  In our case, yes.  
     MR. THOMPSON:  And what’s that, compared to the 80 cents?  

     MS. BROCHU:  So the tariff would be 93 cents now, less the resell in the summer of the – you would have to add the fuel and things like that.  But conceptually, that’s what we would be doing.  If storage was to disappear, tomorrow, storage disappear, I don’t know, there’s an explosion at Union, Union is not here anymore, I’m just exaggerating, but I bet you that TCPL will be full out of the West.

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, but that’s 93 cents at 100 percent load factor.  You’d be working at 50 percent load factor on TransCanada.

     MS. BROCHU:  Yeah, and we would be reselling the capacity in the summer.  
     MR. BÉLISLE:  If I may add, your storage costs would be the difference between the total and what you resold in the summer.  So you would be buying the gas in the winter at Aeco.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right, well, I guess we can figure out what the TCPL toll is, but that’s what you’re telling us is the ceiling.  The TCPL toll.
     MS. BROCHU:  Well, I’m saying this is a conceptual ceiling.  Is it higher priced than what Union is charging today?  Yes.  But I was uncomfortable with the examples, say, that Mr. Stauft was using.  With $4 storage, when storage is at $4, I bet a whole bunch of guys will get it.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the TCPL toll is considerably higher, is what I heard him say.  And how much higher is it than 80 cents?  It’s not just 13 cents higher, I’m quite sure.  It’s much more than that.

     MS. BROCHU:  What is your question, sir?

     MR. THOMPSON:  What you say is the ceiling for Union –
     MS. BROCHU:  Right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Tell me what it is.  Because it’s a TCPL-derived number.

     MS. BROCHU:  It’s a TCPL-derived – what I’m saying to you is that, conceptually, the ceiling to Union storage would be TCPL minus the resell of the capacity in the summer.  Your assumption is as good as ours, sir.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, can we leave it as it’s considerably higher than 80 cents?

     MS. BROCHU:  When you store gas, sir, you need to bear a financing cost, which you don’t have to bear on a transportation cost.  This is one of the differences.

And I can tell you that when we look at moving gas out from the West and reselling the capacity and avoiding paying the financing costs of storing the gas, this is not skyrocket, sir.  And again, it depends on the assumptions you make on the resell of the capacity.  It depends on the state of the market at the time you need to do that.  Do you do that in advance?  Do you lock in your differential for 5, 7, or 9 years?  But I’m saying, it’s not through the roof.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I agree with you.  If you couldn’t resell any of your capacity, what would the number be?  It would be TCPL at 50 percent load factor.

     MR. LECLERC:  Mr. Chairman, I have trouble with these questions.  What the numbers would be, when, what circumstances, at what point in time.  It varies from day to day, and I don’t see where this cross-examination is going.

     MR. KAISER:  Let’s do it on this basis.  Let’s do it as an undertaking.  Here’s what I think that Mr. Thompson’s driving at and I think would be useful to the Board.  Let’s use the example that the witness did that Dawn disappeared for some reason and your client had to rely on TransCanada transportation as an alternative.  And taking into account all the factors and what the potential resale value would be, in your independent judgment, at this time, what financing costs you would save on the storage, how much more would it cost you in percentage terms?  We don’t need actual numbers.  Could you do that Mr. Leclerc?

     MR. LECLERC:  I think that’s not going to be a problem at all, sir.  We’ll take the undertaking and try to come back to you as fast –
     MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chair, can I ask you to modify that slightly?
     MS. BROCHU:  Excuse me.  Can we ask that to be confidential, because I am feeding my own supplier here?
     MR. KAISER:  That’s fine.  Any objections to that?  Mr. Thompson, you would get it, but under the usual non-disclosure basis.

     MR. RUPERT:  Well, I think she doesn’t want Union to see it, and Union’s a party to the proceedings.  That’s how I interpret it.

     MR. LECLERC:  I would rather go confidential to the Board, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, before we have an argument on the confidentiality, let’s let Mr. Rupert add his comments.
     MR. RUPERT:  My modification was only that I think everyone would agree that the assumption that Dawn storage pool would disappear tomorrow is fairly unrealistic, and would have far reaching ripple effects far beyond what we’re talking about here.  So I assume in your analysis – you don’t have to use this number – but we’re not talking about some proportion of your space is not available.  We’re not talking about the Dawn storage hub disappearing, because that would be a completely ridiculous scenario that would totally invalidate everything, including us holding this hearing, of course.

     MS. BROCHU:  We agree.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  So we’ve cleared up that.  
Mr. Leslie?

     MR. LESLIE:  We don’t have any problem with the confidentiality.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I assume I’ll see it, will I?

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

     MR. LECLERC:  Do I understand, sir, that confidential – unfortunately, I’m unfamiliar with the Board’s rules in this regard, but I always understood that confidential filings before the Board are kept confidential with the Board and no other party.  That’s the whole purpose of the confidentiality filing.  Unless you tell me that our rules are different in this regard.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, our rules do provide that counsel can obtain it under – there’s fairly strict terms, and I think you could provide Mr. Leclerc with the form that to the parties are required to sign.

     MR. LECLERC:  To the extent that my friend, Mr. Thompson, cannot divulge the information, I would have no problem with that.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, our counsel will give you the form.  I think you’ll be satisfied.  Have a look at it.  And see if you can work it out with Mr. Thompson.  I take it none of the other parties need to see this information; is that right?  
     MR. LESLIE:  Well, I’m not so sure.  If Mr. Thompson is going to see it and use it in argument, then we may, per force, have to use it ourselves.  Or I may need to see it.  I don’t want to see it, but I may be –
     MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.

     MR. LECLERC:  And to the extent, sir, that Mr. Thompson can use it in argument, well, then the whole purpose would have been defeated in the first place.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I don’t know that I agree with that.  This is an issue in the case; what are the cost of substitutes.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, let me just deal with that issue.

     It is, as Mr. Thompson started to say, a question of the cost of substitutes, and that’s a burning question here.  It will be what it is.  The Board will know the real numbers, you’ll know the real numbers and Mr. Thompson will know the real numbers.  In his argument he doesn’t have to specify the numbers to make his point.  
I don’t know what the numbers are going to be, if they’re going to be higher, they’re going to be lower, something.  He’ll be able to refer to the numbers in his argument without divulging the breadth of the spread, I would think.  Am I right, Mr. Thompson?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I’m not sure, I guess, until I see it.  But maybe I could make another suggestion.  I’m trying to be constructive here.  
Why don’t we take what the witness has said and develop what we think the number is, and discuss it with my friends so that we’re putting on the record a TransCanada-derived number.  I mean, the whole purpose is to get something on the record that people can refer to.  And as I say, Union was supposed to, under the FERC test, prove what the cost of substitutes are.  So I don’t have any problem collaborating with Union and –
     MR. KAISER:  Maybe that’s not a bad idea.  I may have confused things totally by introducing the concept of a spread, as to how much greater the cost of it would be on TransCanada.

     Let’s just – it is a matter of arithmetic that you can work out with the parties, what the cost of this alternative would be, regardless of what their cost at Union is.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And the sensitivities, if you will, to summer re-sales, and the kind of things that Ms. Brochu has mentioned.

     MR. LECLERC:  Would it be appropriate, sir, or acceptable, if we were – with regard to the sensitive aspects, propose a range?

     MS. BROCHU:  Or a matrix?

     MR. KAISER:  Why don’t we leave it on this basis.  Mr. Thompson is going to do his numbers, you’re going to do your numbers.  You can possibly discuss the approach with him that he may find comfortable.  He’s a very reasonable man.

     MR. LECLERC:  That’s very acceptable to us, sir.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe we should give that a number so we don’t lose track of it.
     MS. SEBALJ:  I’m not sure whose undertaking it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  It’s a collaborative undertaking.

MR. SEBALJ:  Yes, the dual undertaking is K10.1.

     UNDERTAKING NO. 10.1:  TO PROVIDE, AS A PERCENTAGE, 

THE COST OF MOVING GAS AS OPPOSED TO STORING IT ON 

DAWN

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  My last few questions, panel, really, I guess, have to be put on a hypothetical basis.

     You obviously know what the cost-based rate of Union’s storage is, because it’s mentioned in your testimony.  It’s about 31 cents; it’s on the record.  And the Board’s decisions, as you mentioned, authorized Union to move off that rate towards what was called a market-based rate and it’s now up to, for the sake of assumptions, about 80 cents.  
And my question of you is:  If Union says tomorrow, well, -- and this is hypothetical, that something was coming up for renewal tomorrow, the summer/winter spread has now increased, this cap, by $4.00, and Union says to you tomorrow, We are increasing our prices by $3.50.  And the cost of your next best alternative is $44.  Do you then complain about market power, or do you just pay the $3.50?

     MS. BROCHU:  Sorry, if you buy strawberries in the winter, you will pay $3.00 for your pint, because it comes from the United States, and the United States only provides those strawberries.  And in the summer, the United States guys need to lower their price to match the local production.

     We’re talking about competitiveness.  Would we complain if Union is to ask for market price?  Market price is what market price is.  And if one agrees to play the market rules, then so be it.  Would we be happy about that?  Would we complain to Union saying, you know, we’ve been customers for 30 years.  You’ve gone through bad times, we’ve helped you.  Can you help us?  Can we mitigate that?  Can we negotiate something else?  We would certainly deploy everything to mitigate such an increase, but at the end of the day the market price is what the market price is.

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, when you say market price, you’re just comparing it to an alternative, to your next best alternatives.

     MS. BROCHU:  The next best alternative, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But for a competitive market to exist, there have to be substitutes at a price that’s comparable to your existing price.

     MS. BROCHU:  I agree, but this is where I have a problem, again, it might be because of my little economics background.  But if you prevent somebody, if you prevent market price from emerging, you will never get alternatives, never.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But we’re dealing with what used to be monopoly services.  What’s happening here is that you’ve got these utilities that are trying to commoditize an asset that was developed as a utility asset, and now they want to change its character to commodity.  
And I’m looking at you, Gaz Métro, with an obligation to your customers.  When are you going to scream, market power?  You’ve gone from 30 cents to 80.  You could go up another $4.00 if they get you at the right time.  Now, are you just going roll over and pay it because your next best strawberry costs 4 and a quarter?

     MS. BROCHU:  Well, I will tell you that we’re not reputed to be rollovers for one.  Second, as Mr. Chairman said, the horse is out the barn.  We’ve been at market price for the last five or six years.  And, yes, every time we’ve renewed we’ve renewed at a higher price.  Yes.

     But this is based upon alternatives.  And I am sure that if we can do that, our colleagues at Union’s do that.  So they know what they can charge.

     So when, again – you know that.  We fight like crazy to lower the cost of gas in franchise, but there is a philosophical leap here that you want me to make, is to say because a utility owns it, it shouldn’t be market price.  And that’s where I have a problem with that philosophy.  
If a third party comes in at – if a third party comes in at 40 cents, what do I do?  Do I go to the next party?  Or do I negotiate down Union?  I’ll probably do both.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if somebody came in at 40 cents and you turned it down, I would think you would have a small problem with your regulator.

     MS. BROCHU:  Well, I would.  But I’m saying I would negotiate Union down there.  Those are the laws of the forces.  But the market price by itself will favour the emergence of alternatives, because cost-of-service is not going to do that.  That’s my personal belief.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But to have a fully – well, have a functioning, workable competitive market, this is the whole point.  There has to be substitute available at a price comparable to what you’re paying now.

     MS. BROCHU:  What we’re saying to you, sir, is that when we sit down with Union, we test the market, and the indications we have allow us to negotiate, I hope, intelligently, with Union.  And I do believe so.

     And if I follow your logic, what would happen is that we would be condemned to never have market price, because if you say so, then it will never happen, because you will never have put together the forces to create it.  So are we condemned to stick to where we are, or can we move along?

     MR. THOMPSON:  But your concept, I put to you, of a market price, is where one person agrees with the other person as to price.  Therefore, you’ve had a negotiation, and that is a market price.  Parties have agreed to it.  Right?

     [Witness panel confers]

     MS. BROCHU:  I mean, parties agree to it under many assumptions.  But I would say that in this case – you sound like there is a dual pull [phon] here.  Is dual pull a word here in English?  Dual pull?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Duopoly.

     MS. BROCHU:  We’re not in a duopoly here; right?  You understand what I mean?  No I mean, there is Union and – it’s not a whole group of alternatives, of physical alternatives, but there are alternatives and people playing around with those tools.  So it’s not like it’s one call.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I’m not suggesting there aren’t alternatives, I’m suggesting the cost of them is considerably more than the Union unbundled storage.  And if it was a competitive market, there would be something to constrain Union from moving its price up by $4.00, in my example.

     MS. BROCHU:  But they can do that today with us.  They could do that today.  What prevents them to do that today?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Moving up to $4.00?  Nothing.
     MS. BROCHU:  Nothing.  But they don’t do that.  Why?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I guess because you got a contract.

     MS. BROCHU:  No, we renegotiate every single year or two years with them.  Why am I not at $4.00?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I don’t know, because you haven’t told me what the ceiling is, but –
     MR. LECLERC:  Mr. Chairman, I’m not quite sure that we’re in the area of questions and answers.  I believe we’ve gone into the realm of argument.  The witness has stated repeatedly that when she negotiates with Union she checks what are the other alternatives are, and what the checks are, and makes a decision.

     Obviously, she does not agree with my friend’s position, and that’s something, I think, should be left for argument.

     MR. KAISER:  I think that’s right, Mr. Thompson, we’re really into argument now.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think I agree with you.

     Let me just ask one question about the claw-back position.  I wasn’t quite clear on what you were getting at.  In terms of my example, I used an example where the price went up to a point where you – I was asking you, would you do something about it.  And we go sort of sidetracked arguing.

     But in the claw-back situation, what do you propose to do?  What are you asking the Board here to do?

     MS. BROCHU:  Well, the problem we have with the claw-back is – the way we understand it – is that it would be exercised because we are out of franchise customers of Union.  And the underneath implication for that is, like, if the Union customers had a right of first access to Union’s storage.  And we say, here we have a problem.  We don’t say that we want to have more rights than the Union customers, but we want to have the ability to sit down and bid for that capacity, and negotiate for that capacity on the same terms and conditions as the Union customers, for the capacity that we have.  Again, we’ve been a customer for 30 years.  Since we pay market price, we have turned over something like $100 million to Union customers.  

And we say it’s already discriminatory for somebody to be paying market price compared to cost-of-service.  It has been your decision, and we totally respect that.  It would be pushing the envelope unduly and be discriminatory to us and detrimental to us to see that, well, because you’re not a Union customer, you didn’t even have the right to access.

     So that’s what we think about claw-back.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But if you have all these other alternatives out there that you’re telling us about at a “competitive strawberry” price, what’s the problem?  Why do you need to stick with Union?

     MS. BROCHU:  It’s a matter of discrimination, and I think we have been very clear to the fact – we’ve been very clear to the fact that we like that storage.  We prefer that storage.  It’s part of our integrated system.  We benchmark them when we sit down with them.  The other alternatives are least preferable for now.  

     It might change for the future, but we wouldn’t want, because we’re in Québec or outside of Union franchise, just not to have the ability to bid for that storage.  That would fall on discriminatory grounds and that would be unjust, we feel. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I put it to you, Ms. Brochu, the storage you have from Union is still a monopoly-type of service as far as GMI’s concerned.  You are captive.  And that’s why you’re asking this Board to protect you.
     MS. BROCHU:  We don’t hide that we are dependent.  We’ve written it.  But we’re not captive.  I’m captive of TCPL.

     MR. THOMPSON:  But it’s part of the same integrated system, as far as you’re concerned?

     MS. BROCHU:  No, there’s a difference, sir.  I will live it to Louis-André Leclerc.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  We’ll leave it to our respective imaginations.  Thanks.

Those are my questions.  Sorry to be so long.

     MR. KAISER:  Anyone else?  
Mr. Moran.

     MR. MORAN:  Just a couple of questions.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MORAN:

     MR. MORAN:  Good morning.

     MS. BROCHU:  Good morning.

     MR. MORAN:  My first question has to do with your existing contracts.  Do you have renewal rights in those contracts?  

     MS. BROCHU:  Can I just ask you who you represent, please? 

     MR. MORAN:  Oh, I’m sorry.  You’ve forgotten from the Technical Conference.  I’m acting on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.

     MS. BROCHU:  Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry about that.

     MR. MORAN:  My apologies for not introducing myself.

     MS. BROCHU:  No, it’s okay.

     MR. MORAN:  In your existing contracts with Union, do you have renewal rights?

     MS. BROCHU:  We don’t have rights, per se, but we have a business practice of sitting down and renegotiating.

     MR. MORAN:  Could you explain to me how that works?

     MR. MOREL:  Well, basically, when one of our contracts comes up for – the term of the contract is coming up, we sit down 12 to 18 months prior with Union’s people to discuss what kind of price and the conditions we could have for a new contract to maintain the capacity we hold at Dawn currently.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  And I think, as I heard you describe the process, while you’re doing that you will look at the cost of other options that are out there; correct?

     MR. MOREL:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And that at some point during that process, prior to the expiry of the existing agreement, you will reach agreement with Union on a replacement agreement?
     MR. MOREL:  Hopefully, yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And is that how it typically has happened?
     MR. MOREL:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Thank you.  
Those are all my questions, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  
Mr. Brown, anything?

     MR. BROWN:  Nothing, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Anyone else?

     MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. DeVellis?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  No, thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     [The Board confers]

     MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  Just one question on the issue you referred to as –
     MR. KAISER:  Do you have questions?
     MS. SEBALJ:  I had planned to ask questions, but frankly, I think they have mostly been answered.  Thank you.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:
     MR. RUPERT:  All right.  Do you want to go ahead?  All right.  Sorry.  
The claw-back issue you just talked about at the end.  You’ve been through, I assume, Union’s material they filed for this proceeding as to how they propose the future unfold with respect to allocating a certain amount of the existing storage space to the infranchise customers out of the cost-based rate.  And additional requirements in the future for those infranchise customers would have an increment of market-based storage.

     Does the concern you just expressed about access and claw-back, does that exist even with the proposal that Union has put before us right now?

     MS. BROCHU:  My understanding of it, and we may be wrong, but my understanding of it is that the claw-back situation in that proposal would disappear.  This Damocles’ sword that today we have on our head, although we feel shouldn’t be exercised, would disappear with Union’s proposal.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.

     MS. BROCHU:  That’s how we’re understanding it.

     MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  
Just going back to make sure I understand.  You’ve explained how you have a ladder of contracts with Union.  And can I take it from that that part of your strategy is to ensure that you have access to alternatives, that you don’t have all of your contracted requirements in one lump with them?

     MS. BROCHU:  Yeah.  I would say that the fundamental underlying strategy there is to make sure that we don’t renew the whole chunk at the same time.  So if we have a problem for any reason with Union, if we cannot agree with the price, that we don’t have, you know, a big problem in a single year.  Those are scaled around.

     And it pertains to the type of needs we may have in franchise.  It gives us the ability to see things coming.  It’s just good business planning.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  And am I correct in concluding, sort of, from the bulk of your evidence that you gave to Mr. Thompson, that while your preference is to retain service with Union, you continue look to alternatives and would expect to continue to do that in the future?  And that you believe you have alternatives.
     MS. BROCHU:  Absolutely.  Absolutely.  And again, when we buy gas at Dawn, it’s an alternative in itself.  The two products might not be totally comparable, and to be nice to Mr. Thompson, you get the NFL and the CFL.  Two good products; different.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  I’ll let that one go.

     [Laughter] 

     And he also took you to the table of prices that Mr. Stauft prepared, which showed some prices for storage in Michigan in the primary market.  I kind of gathered from your response to that that you look to published tariffs in the primary market, but that, in a sense, you might be just as likely to source Michigan storage through a third party, and that, therefore, those prices on that table are not very relevant, from your perspective, as to what your alternatives are.
     MS. BROCHU:  If I may answer your questions, taking aside this page here and talking about primary tariffs, because I don’t know if they are primary tariffs.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

     MS. BROCHU:  I don’t know that evidence.  But certainly, the posted tariffs and primary market is absolutely relevant.

     But also, the secondary market is also very relevant, because a primary market assumes that, you know, the product would be used.  And I may need only a piece of it, and somebody else needs another piece of it.  If I were to buy it myself, I would have to bear the whole cost of it; same for the other entity.  
If a third party comes in and can, because of their network, put our two needs together and make it, you know, something that is more attractive to each of us than the primary market, then that can be very attractive and the primary market becomes less relevant, unless – I mean, aside from the fact that it sets the fundamental pricing of it.

     So the secondary market, when you talk about load-balancing deliveries, is, I personally believe, very active.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Active?

     MS. BROCHU:  But they are not – I don’t want to give the impression that there are thousands of alternatives.  They are quite limited, but they are.  They are.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  And so in other words, there’s more than one, but no a hundred.  Is that –
     MS. BROCHU:  You got it.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  And because one of the challenges we have is that information regarding the primary market, tolls on TCPL, forward prices, tariffs for storage, are very easy to come by, but data as to the secondary market, which appears to be from your characterization, perhaps even a better alternative than the primary market, is very difficult to come by.  And I’m wondering if there’s – you know, if in any way you can help us with that.

     MS. BROCHU:  I would just maybe qualify here.

     The secondary market is not necessarily better than the primary market, it just might be suiting a specific need in a better fashion.  And because of that, the pricing of it, for example, in a longer or a smaller period, might be more of interest.

     So the secondary market is essentially a market that has its own life, interest, players.  And you get this primary market.

     The difficulty in long-term planning and infrastructures is that infrastructures, you cannot reason them on the near term.  You need long-term investment, capital intensive.  And by definition a pipeline or a storage facility will arrive either five years too soon or five years too late, compared with a specific need.  So there will be a time when the primary market will be more expensive than the secondary market, and sometimes you will have exactly the reverse.  
So it’s alive, and it’s a balancing of what it is.  You don’t have secondary market for commodity, because it’s fluid.  You have only one market, but you have secondary market for infrastructure because of that.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  So I suppose in a worst-case scenario, if you were looking to replace a large segment of your Union supply, you might – this is a hypothetical.

     MS. BROCHU:  Mm-hm.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  You might be faced with an increase because you’re having to arrange short-term access through the secondary market.  But essentially, you sort of see your ultimate backstop as contracting for incremental capacity on TCPL.

     MS. BROCHU:  I would say that to us or to somebody else, given where we are –
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.

     MS. BROCHU:   -- it would be probably our worst-case scenario, having to contract 10 years’ transportation capacity on TCPL because they would have to build, because transportation between Alberta and Dawn would have been full, for example.  That would be a bad scenario.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

     MS. BROCHU:  One we should be able to see coming.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MR. KAISER:  Now, you’ve been living in this free market or market-based world for a while, seven years or so.  And you negotiate with Union annually for a portion of your requirements, which you spread over seven years.  As I hear it, every year a certain amount comes up for renewal, and you sit down and you negotiate with them.

     And you’ve raised the question as to what is the discipline on their price going above whether it’s 80 cents or 90 cents.  There’s some limit on how much they can raise their price.  Now, would I be right that you’re probably a pretty astute buyer of these services as things go?  Pretty knowledgeable?

     MS. BROCHU:  I like to believe so.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  And an important customer to Union, given length of the term of your contracts and the number of years you’ve been dealing with them?

     MS. BROCHU:  True.

     MR. KAISER:  So you would probably have pretty frank discussions when you have these annual meetings.

     MS. BROCHU:  Frank and virile.

     MR. KAISER:  When you go into these preparations, these meetings, as you told us, you test the market, I think, to use your phrase?

     MS. BROCHU:  Right.

     MR. KAISER:  So would you go to people like BP, prior to that, and say, if we needed this, what could you do for us?

     I’m just using that as an example.

     MS. BROCHU:  Yeah, just because you’re using BP.  We do that with many parties.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  And I understand that.  And I’m referring to these marketers because it’s come up, and there is some evidence that Mr.Leslie’s client has filed that Washington 10, 98 percent of the capacity is booked by marketers at ANR, it’s 20 percent.

     I want to get a measure from you as a sophisticated buyer.  How reliable and useful in these negotiations are the quotes that you would get from marketers?  In other words, can you go into Union and say, Well, that’s just hog wash.  I can go to BP or I can go to Coral and I can get this.  I mean, do those kinds of discussions take place?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  If I may, sir.  I’m sorry.  Yeah, of course we talked to them.  And I’m sure Union does the same, on their part.  I’m sure they do the same calculations.  And we talk to the BPs of the world, Nexens, and Corals, just like Enbridge would do.

     And the price we get from them is a fairly reliable, I would say.  And sometimes, we will ask them to commit for a period.  We’ll say, can you hold on to your price for two weeks or three weeks, when we feel that discussions are getting closer or the negotiations are getting closer.  And there are many ways to go about this.  But we can rely on them, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Because your being a big and important customer to Union, you would also be a big and important customer to somebody like BP.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  To all these guys.

     MR. KAISER:  They would pay attention to you, I would think.  They would do some work and give you some numbers that you could work with, and hopefully Union wouldn’t get the business, and they might get a piece of it.  I mean, is there a real market in that sense?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  Just like CoEnergy, they had our business for 10 years, from ’94 to 2004.  And it was a very reliable service.  And that improved a whole lot.  CoEnergy – there was nobody in ’94, practically, doing that.  Nowadays, you can compare now.  It’s 12 years later and you can compare.

     MR. KAISER:  That would be my last question.  So would you say that is it range of options is increasing as a result of all this activity through FERC in the U.S.?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  I would say it’s becoming a lot more sophisticated, yes.  You can buy optionalities, you can buy many, many things.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.
     MR. RUPERT:  I’d just like to follow up on that last question, and it’s been since, I guess, 2001 since you started paying market rates to Union.  And, of course, 2001 was an historic year in gas and power marketing.  And compared back to then, we went through a real trough of a lot of marketers that went out of business, a lot of marketers were trenching.  So, in today’s world, how do you compare the competition and the availability of services and the aggressiveness and number of marketers that are there to deal with a big client like you, compared to a few years ago?  Are we back to where we were?

     MR. BÉLISLE:  One of the big issues when we negotiate with these guys is the credit rating nowadays, because of Enron, and all what happened with Enron equivalents and Dynergy.  

What we see more and more in the market is banks.  Banks will provide you these services now, even at Dawn.  I don’t have to name.

     MS. BROCHU:  No.

     MR. BÉLISLE:  No.  And they have a super credit rating; AA+ in certain cases.

     MR. RUPERT:  And that includes the Canadian banks?  Toronto-Dominion Bank, for example, as a Calgary operation, do they provide services in here?
     MR. BÉLISLE:  I can give you UBS, the Switzerland bank, and RBC, the Royal Bank.  They are all coming into this very heavily.

     MR. RUPERT:  So that you don’t feel that the departure and failure of many of the firms that were around five or six years ago is a serious problem in the search for these alternatives or substitutes that a firm like yours goes through?
     MS. BROCHU:  I think we went through a certain crunch, okay?  Because when those firms disappeared, our board of directors said, you’re not going to deal with a credit rating lower than X-Y-Z.  So when that happened, we had fewer players to play with for a period of time.  Then the banks figured out they could get in.

     And now the banks are getting into the physical.  So that’s like the next steps of – because you can have one asset with two players, one asset with 30 players, and at one point in time you need more assets.  So who will be investing in the assets?  That’s the next question.  Because we need to develop those assets.  As an industry we need more physical storage.  So who will do that?  And what are the conditions that are required to make those assets be developed?
     And one must not kid itself.  With cost-of-service, it won’t happen.  It’s just that the risks are just too high for anybody to invest its money in that.

     So the market needs –- if we want what everybody wants, which is a very competitive market, we need more physical to be built.  And in order for it to be built, we need market prices to emerge.  It’s a matter of cycle.

     MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.

     MR. KAISER:  If I could just end with this, I detect a sort of son of Red Lake in your comments, that you would rather have more storage at higher prices than no storage at lower prices.

     MS. BROCHU:  You bet, sir.  And I think our industry will be worse off if we go that way.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  
Mr. Leclerc?
     MR. LECLERC:  I have no redirect, sir.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Do you want to take a break?  15 minutes?  Or do you want to take the lunch break now?  What’s your convenience?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I think the lunch break is the most logical.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  One hour.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:09 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 1:19 p.m.

      MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Moran.  


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I understand Mr. Leslie has some housekeeping matters.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:
     MR. LESLIE:  Yes.  Thank you very much.  I have three undertakings, which you should all have copies of, and there are additional copies on the table for anyone who wants them.  They are K3.3, K5.2 and K7.1.

      In addition, you should have a table which has the heading “Supplemental Response to Union Gas Limited Undertaking 43A.”  This was an undertaking that was given to the City of Kitchener.  There was some correspondence regarding further information.  We’ve attached the correspondence so you can see for yourself what the genesis of this was and the table is on top.

      We’re sending that electronically to Kitchener this afternoon.

     That’s all I had, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Moran.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have the APPrO witnesses before you, Mr. Chair.  Immediately to the left of Mr. Brown is Mr. Duane Cramer, and then Mr. Brian Kelly, Mr. John Wolnick, Mr. John Rosenkranz, Mr. Rob Cary, and Mr. Mike Nolan. 

     MR. MORAN:  As a housekeeping matter, Mr. Chair, I have a package of CV’s.  I provided Ms. Sebalj with a set, and I’d like those marked as an exhibit, please.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MS. SEBALJ:  It will be J10.1.

     EXHIBIT NO. J10.1:  PACKET OF CURRICULUM VITAE FOR 

     APPrO PANEL 1
     MR. MORAN:  And there were some extra copies of the c.v.’s on the table behind me.

      APPrO PANEL – 1: 

      Duane Cramer; Sworn.
      Brian Kelly; Sworn.
      John Wolnik; Sworn.
      John Rosenkranz; Sworn.
      Robert Cary; Sworn.
      Michael Nolan; Sworn.
  
EXAMINATION- BY MR. MORAN:

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I will introduce each of the witnesses and I will be seeking to qualify four of them as experts in this hearing.

      Let me start first with Mr. Cramer.  Mr. Cramer, as I understand it, you are the vice president development for Sithe Global Power; is that correct?

     MR. CRAMER:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And you’re responsible for the company’s development activities here in Ontario.

     MR. CRAMER:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And primarily that involves the Southdown station proposed for Mississauga and the Brampton Goreway Station currently under construction?

     MR. CRAMER:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  And as I understand it, you participated in the development of the APPrO evidence that’s been filed with the Board? 

     MR. CRAMER:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And to the extent that you participated, do you adopt it as your evidence?

     MR. CRAMER:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Mr. Kelly.  As I understand it, you worked for approximately ten years for TransCanada Pipelines?

     MR. KELLY:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And since 2001 you’ve been employed by TransCanada Energy.

     MR. KELLY:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And currently you are the manager for eastern commercial operations for TransCanada Energy.

     MR. KELLY:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And your responsibilities include the day-to-day operations of power generation assets in Ontario and Québec?

     MR. KELLY:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And as I understand it, you’ve been involved with the development of the Portlands Energy Centre proposal for downtown Toronto?

     MR. KELLY:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And you participated in the development of the APPrO evidence filed in this hearing?

     MR. KELLY:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And to the extent that you did, do you adopt it as your evidence in this matter?

     MR. KELLY:  Yes, I do.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

     Mr. Wolnick, I understand you’re a professional engineer with an MBA.

     MR. WOLNICK:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And currently you are an associate with Elenchus Research Associates?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Prior to that, I understand that you worked for Union Gas as a project manager.

     MR. WOLNICK:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And before that, for about four years, you worked at Westcoast Energy, Inc.

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  As director of business development.

     MR. WOLNICK:  That’s right.

     MR. MORAN:  And prior to that, for about five years you worked with St. Clair Pipelines.

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  As manager of the storage business development.

     MR. WOLNICK:  Correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And prior to that, for approximately 20 years, you were employed by Union Gas.

     MR. WOLNICK:  That’s right.

     MR. MORAN:  Now, Mr. Rosenkranz, by way of education, as I understand, it you have studied economics and have completed the course work for your Ph.D. in economics?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And your career has been largely with respect to gas supply matters.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Including pipelines, storage, and LNG.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That’s correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And for the past five years you were employed by Calpine Corporation.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Slightly over six years.

     MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And you were involved in the gas supply matters for the Greenfield Energy Centre proposal down near Sarnia.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, that’s true.

     MR. MORAN:  And you are currently now a consultant.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.

     MR. MORAN:  And you continue to provide services to Greenfield Energy Centre on gas supply matters.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I do.

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Wolnick and Mr. Rosenkranz, you both worked on the proposals that were set out in the APPrO evidence?

     BOTH:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

     BOTH:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, subject to questions that other parties may have, I’m proffering Mr. Wolnick and Mr. Rosenkranz as experts in gas supply matters, including storage. 

     MR. KAISER:  Any objections?  The Board will accept the witnesses on that basis.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     Turning now to you, Mr. Cary.  You have a masters in physics and engineering?

     MR. CARY:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And an MBA, and you’re also a Professional Engineer?  

     MR. CARY: Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And you operate your own consulting business?

      MR. CARY:  That’s right.

      MR. MORAN:  And as I understand it, your expertise covers the restructuring and evolution of electricity markets, including market rules, procedures, and related contract issues?

     MR. CARR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Regulatory and commercial aspects of the electricity markets in Ontario and the Maritimes?

     MR. CARR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  Associated issues for generators and trading companies?

     MR. CARR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And as I understand it, you were largely responsible for the APPrO evidence with respect to the Ontario electricity market and the intra-day volatility in that market?  

     MR. CARR:  Yes.

     MR. MORAN:  And you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?  

     MR. CARR:  I do.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

     Mr. Chair, Mr. Cary is offered as an expert on the operation of the Ontario electricity market, subject to any concerns of other parties.

     MR. KAISER:  Any objections?  That’s fine, Mr. Moran.  Thank you.

     MR. MORAN:  And finally, Mr. Nolan, you’re a Professional Engineer, also with an MBA?

     MR. NOLAN:  Yes, I am.

     MR. MORAN:  And you’re currently the manager for market operations for Ontario Power Generation’s fossil and hydro businesses?

    MR. NOLAN:  Yes, I am.

    MR. MORAN:  And you spent approximately 25 years working for Ontario power generation?

    MR. NOLAN:  Yes, Ontario Hydro part of that.

    MR. MORAN:  And you’ve been involved in the areas of power system operations, fuel supply planning and electricity production in the current marketplace?

    MR. NOLAN:  That’s correct.

    MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, Mr. Nolan is offered as an expert on the role of fossil fuel and hydroelectric  generation in maintaining the reliability of the Ontario electricity system.

     MR. KAISER:  Any objections?  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  

     MR. MORAN:  I have a brief direct examination, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.

     EXAMINATION BY MR. MORAN 

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

     Starting with you, Mr. Cramer, how would you describe the deliverability needs of a gas-fired generator?

     MR. CRAMER:  As the gas-fired generator in Ontario, dispatchable gas-fired generators, we’ll be taking our dispatch instructions from the Independent Electricity System Operator on a real-time basis, and the dispatch instructions are actually 5-minute by 5-minute intervals.  As a result of where gas-fired projects lie in the merit order and the pricing that’s offered into the market base on our fuel costs, we’ll typically be the resource that’s brought on-line for intermediate and peak demand periods of the day.  So typically, starting up in the morning, running through the peak period of the day, and shutting down in the evening hours.

      And as a consequence of that marginal resource during those daytime hours, subject to a significant degree of variability with respect to our actual operations; for example, you know, ramping up in the morning, a slight change in the load that’s experienced in the market could delay or accelerate our start-up for that day by a couple of hours.  You know, a change in the weather during the course of the day can bring us on longer or shut us down earlier than we expected.  


As a consequence, there’s quite a bit of variability in the production that we’d be called on to provide, and as a result the fuel that we’d actually be consuming.

     And then, you know, in contrast to that operating regime that we have on the output side, the gas sector as it currently stands operates in a day-ahead paradigm where the expectation is that we’ll be able to readily predict our consumption for the following day and be able to schedule that with the pipelines and with the storage resources that we’ll be relying on, and purchase the fuel, you know, early in the day preceding the day that we’re actually expected to operate.

      So we have a fundamental mismatch between the realities that we deal with on the production side and the limitations of scheduling gas on the input side. 

      And you know, it becomes particularly an issue, for example, over a weekend where the gas markets are – with respect to purchasing fuel, are set up with the expectation you’re buying your fuel for Monday, early in the morning on a Friday, and creates some real challenges, given, again, the variabilities that we will likely face with respect to the gas that we’ll actually consume.

      So, you know, the fundamental issue that we face is need for additional flexibility in the ability to deliver gas to our plants and to better meet the real-time dispatch scenario that we have with respect to the plant operations.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Cramer.  Turning to you, Mr. Cary, Mr. Cramer has touched on aspects of this just now.  Could you summarize the reasons for the intra-day volatility faced by gas-fired generators?  

     MR. CARY:  I will try and do that.  The IESO makes forecasts a day ahead of time, and starts to release dispatch information and demand forecasts as it counts down from the day-ahead up to real-time.

      The evidence describes or tries to quantify what those changes are, but we should also talk about the reasons for the changes.

      The first one is simply unpredictability of the load.  There is a very significant change in the demand forecast that takes place between the day-ahead when the IESO is carrying out its forecasts and real-time.

      The IESO has been challenged over the years to try and improve its forecast quality, has paid a lot of attention to this, and it is one of those intractable problems to refine the forecasts any further than they are at the moment.

      So we live in a world where the demand forecast does change between the day-ahead and the real-time, even down to the last two or three hours ahead and down to the hour-ahead.

      As far as a gas-fired generator is concerned, that problem is compounded by other things that happen on the system.  It may be that another generator somewhere else fails.  It may be that import or export transactions change between the day-ahead and the real-time.

      Those will all impact the duty expected of a particular generator when it comes to the real-time.  I think those are probably the key issues and the reasons for the differences.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  There have been references earlier in this proceeding with respect to the plan of the IESO to develop a day-ahead market for the electricity market Can you comment on that, please?

     MR. CARY:  I think those will be useful in the context of the electricity market, but they will not impact in any way the variability that takes place between the day-ahead and the real-time operation of the electricity market.  So they don’t solve in any way the intra-day problems that we are talking about here.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Are there any other initiatives being looked at by the IESO that might have an impact on this issue?

     MR. CARY:  Some reference has been made to the day-ahead commitment process, which is really a subset of a day-ahead market process.  That has come into effect on the 1st of June.  I have looked at the results and it seems to have no impact on what we are talking about.  And one wouldn’t expect it to with a forecast level like that.

     MR. MORAN:  Have you had an opportunity to review the IESO evidence that’s been filed in this matter?

     MR. CARY:  Yes, I have.

     MR. MORAN:  And with respect to the intra-day volatility that you’ve been describing, how does that evidence compare to your view of it?

     MR. CARY:  It largely agrees.  If I can pick up the IESO evidence, they talk about a number of uncertainty factors, including load forecasts, imports and exports, loop flows, congestion, and ramping, as well as unexpected de-ratings and outages.  They, in fact, have added three items there, the loop flows, congestion, and ramping restrictions, which are additional to the major items that I had identified.  The others are the same.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Cary.  

     Turning now to you, Mr. Nolan, I wonder if you can provide an overview of the role that’s played by existing coal and hydroelectric resources for system reliability purposes.

     MR. NOLAN:  Yes, I’d be happy to do that, Mr. Moran.  I suppose to start with I was looking for a way of describing the demands placed on all classes of generators by the electricity system.  And in doing so, the inspiration I took was actually from some testimony in the earlier section of this proceeding, and the words came from Mr. Thompson, and he was talking about APPrO’s position in the Technical Conference.  And he tried to paraphrase that by saying that APPrO’s view was that the gas market would be efficient when it can give gas generators all the gas they need but only when they want it.

     And I listened to that, and I was taken by the fact that if you translated the gas words or exchanged the gas words for electricity words, that phrase very aptly described what the electricity system expects of generators.  And so we would say the electricity market will be more reliable or reliable when it can give electricity customers all the electricity they need, but only when they want it.

      And in doing that, in meeting those demands, fossil and hydroelectric-generating facilities act largely as partners.  I would characterize the hydroelectric facilities as the nimble or the agile partner and the fossil facilities as the slower partner.  But they partner quite well in meeting the demands of the electricity system for changes in output for load-follow.

      Fossil plant largely fills the major load-following role, with some assistance from hydroelectric facilities.  The hydroelectric facilities themselves, at least those that have adequate water supply, and subject to the limitations of the water management agreements that bind those facilities, those facilities that have discretionary output use that output for peak-shaving, so as to reduce the overall requirement for load-following.  So that’s clipping off the daily peaks when otherwise more expensive resources would need to be applied.

      Those hydroelectric facilities also provide operating reserve, which is the standby capacity needed in the event of unexpected events on the power system.  And those hydroelectric facilities also supply the second to second balancing between load and generation that the system requires.

     MR. MORAN:  Now, Mr. Nolan, what does managing system reliability mean with the introduction of more gas-fired generation?

     MR. NOLAN:  Well, if the expectation is that coal-fired plants will be retired in the foreseeable future, and coal-fired plants, at this point, provide something of the order of 5,000 MW worth of variability or load-following capability to the power system, then that duty cycle is the duty cycle that gas-fired generators are going to be asked to follow.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  

Now, Mr. Wolnick, the Board has heard that APPrO had made a proposal regarding storage in its pre-filed evidence and that Union had responded in its evidence with a counterproposal, and that ultimately settlement was reached with both Union and Enbridge on the issue.  Can you describe first the Union settlement on this issue and how it relates to the deliverability needs of generators?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Generators in Union’s franchise area typically fall into one of two categories, either a T-1 service or U-7.   Customers within those rate categories are entitled to an allocation of base storage.  That base storage comes with 1.2 percent deliverability.  The cost of that storage is rolled in cost-based rates.

      The historical way of allocating capacity by the utility is really based on the seasonal needs of the customer.  And I think you’ve heard here today that generator needs are different.  They really are intra-day needs.  We determined that allocation on that basis was really not appropriate.

      So a different methodology was really entered into with Union and Enbridge, and in Union’s case, in order to recognize the high-deliverability needs of the generators, an allocation or an entitlement methodology was developed whereby the generators entitled to contract for deliverability up to 24 times the peak-hour needs of the generator itself.

      So basically, it would be the full day’s requirement.  Take whatever the peak hour is times the 24 hours in the day would create the full contractual right for deliverability or injectability.

      The space entitle.  Was typically basically four times that volume.  So basically four days of injection or withdrawal.

      Now, there was an additional provision in there that, in order to sort of deal with the deliverability, Union included a provision that to the extent that the customer didn’t contract for the full entitlement, the space was, really, limited by 10 times the deliverability contracted for.

      So that was really a secondary provision.  Now, in the allocation of the deliverability, Union is proposing an open season for customers to go out and contract for that capacity in open season.  And generators in their evidence have proposed that that capacity be allocated to them on a priority basis.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  And with respect to the Enbridge settlement on this issue, how does that compare?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Basically very similar.  Slightly different formula.  The formula there was 17 times the peak hour, divided by 10 percent, which was the presumed deliverability that storage would have times 57 percent.  And that would create the space entitlement.  There’s a formula to create the space entitlement.  And then Enbridge, to the extent that they developed high-deliverability storage again, expected the generators to participate in an open season process to acquire the extra deliverability.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnick.  Mr. Rosenkranz, settlement was also reached own the additional nomination windows.  Can you describe the settlement on this issue and what it does for generators in relation to intra-day volatility?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, certainly.  The APPrO evidence had a number of recommendations that were developed by the generator group of various tools that we felt were important to have available to generators in Ontario.  Among those, in addition to this historic higher deliverability storage, was additional nomination windows to deal with the mismatch between the daily gas market and the shorter-term dispatch of the power market.  With additional nomination opportunities, depending on what facilities or contracts were available to feed into those additional nominations in terms of the delivery services on the utilities, that will help to better balance your daily and short-term supplies with your actual requirements.

      The recommendation of the APPrO group was that because we didn’t know when this new information would become available about what the change in our gas requirement would be, either up or down, that there should be opportunities throughout the day to put in adjusted scheduling numbers for the gas supply that we would bring into the utility or put into storage or whatever we were doing under the terms of our contracts.

      We recognized that there needed to be some time for the utility to react, so our proposal was that there be a two-hour time between the nomination and the time the gas was actually scheduled to change the flow.

      Union Gas had made proposals to increase the number of nomination windows for certain services available to certain customers on certain paths on their pipeline system.  In particular they proposed the FT24 service that would provide 10 nomination windows for service between Dawn and Parkway, primarily intended for customers out of franchise, and again, particularly for power generators in the Toronto area.

      So they were addressing a portion of the need that we were – that we had identified.

      In the course of the settlement discussions, we really worked on a number of different things.  One was increasing the number of windows and discussing what were the various constraints to increase in those windows.  And the other was expanding these additional windows to more services, not just between Dawn and Parkway, but for other transactions within the Dawn hub and between Dawn and other transporters, particularly transporters that connected with Michigan supplies or other U.S. supplies at various border points.

      The agreement that we reached was that there would be some additional nomination windows for the FT24 service, and certain other services as a near-term fix.  And that’s laid out in the settlement, to increase the number of windows from 10 to 13.

      The other aspects of the settlement were, first, to look at that number of windows and to see if there were ways to make that available on other transportation segments within Union’s system.  Particularly, these were C1 transportation contracts between, as I said before, the border points, points such as Ojibway, Bluewater, St. Clair, and various point on the system, to make those available for other transactions.

      The other portion of the discussion, because within the time available we weren’t able to work through all the issues that may be involved to increasing the number of nomination windows from 13 to something closer to the hourly nomination that we thought was necessary and still feel would be helpful, the agreement was that there would be an industry task force that would convene very soon after the completion of this proceeding, I would expect, that would go through those issues and see if that could be expanded.  So we see all three of those elements of the settlement being important.

     MR. MORAN:  Now, in light of the description of the settlement on storage allocations that’s laid out in the two settlement agreements, and in the context of the services as you’ve described them, with the addition of nomination windows within the Union system, can an infranchise generator access high deliverability storage that’s located outside of Ontario to meet its intraday needs?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think it’s important to – the answer is today no.  And I want to explain why the answer is no.  It’s important to look at what the additional what the additional high-deliverability needs of the generators are, particularly today, with the services that exist today or are expected to exist in the near-term, and speaking in particular of the Enbridge Rate 125/316 services that are being implemented, but in the Union system today we’re dealing with the T-1 service, and potentially the U-7 service, though it has been discussed it’s really T-1 service that’s being used by the customers.

      The settlement in terms of the storage allocation discusses the storage entitlement or opportunity to purchase storage infranchise for customers under the companion storage service that goes with and is part of the delivery service.

      So if we’re looking at the access to deliverability above 1.2 percent, say, for a Union customer to go with his T-1 transportation service, the only service, the only storage that meets that need and is comparable to what is needed to round out that service package is additional deliverability, in terms of injection and withdrawal, on that customer’s T-1 storage service space.  


So we’re dealing with a particular product that’s very narrow in terms of sort of the storage product space 

· storage product space, if I say that correctly.  And that’s where we’re looking at the service that generators will be looking to, to acquire.  

That is not something that is available in the market today.  It’s something that is very specific to that utility.  It’s very specific to those particular rate schedules, and it’s very specific to the particular location of Dawn.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rosenkranz.  Mr. Kelly, as you will know, there has been many references to the secondary market and what marketers might be able to do for customers.

      How would you describe the intra-day secondary market in Ontario?

     MR. KELLY:  I’d say that the intra-day secondary market in Ontario is not capable of providing the services that gas-fired generators need.  TransCanada has held extensive discussions, most specifically within its work on PEC.  We have held a number of discussions with marketers.  We have posted RFPs specifically for the services that we believe PEC requires, in order to manage its fuel on a day-to-day basis, and to date we have not been successful in terms of securing the types of services that we require.

      In fact, in conversations with the marketers, they’ve indicated to us that the types of services that we really need are the types of services that are actually being discussed here at the NGEIR forum... shall I start over?  

      So, as I mentioned, the types of services that the gas-fired generators need, at this point in time the marketing community, we’ve seen no indication from the marketing community that they’re able or capable of providing those services to us on a reliable basis, intra-day.

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Cramer, has your experience been any different from what Mr. Kelly has described?

     MR. CRAMER:  No.

     MR. MORAN:  All right.  Finally, Mr. Wolnick, how should the deliverability needs of generators be met based on the methodology set out in the two settlement agreements?

     MR. WOLNICK:  I think the APPrO proposal dealing with the high-deliverability aspects of this is that the incremental high-deliverability should be cost-based and should be allocated to the generators on an incremental cost basis.

      I guess in terms of how we would see that kind of unfolding over time, I know the utility is proposing RFPs.  I guess we disagree with that.  I guess our view is that high deliverability is similar to any other needs that a customer has.  For instance, any customer wanting to connect to the distribution system would approach the utility and talk about its needs, be it for new pipeline, new services – new service pipeline in from the street, whatever.  And we see this higher deliverability basically in the same context as that.  So they would enter into discussion to discuss their specific needs, and then based on that, the utility would look at what the cost of those services are, and come back to the generator with the proposal on those costs, based on its incremental needs.  I guess we would see this higher deliverability really being a different rate base than some of the other storage that exists today.  So if they could track that separately, track it on an incremental basis and allocate it specifically to these generators, and meet the high deliverability services.

     MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Wolnick.  Mr. Chair, those are all of the questions I have in direct.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  Mr. Leslie.

     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Smith is going to go first.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:
     MR. SMITH:  Good afternoon, gentlemen, members.  Mr. Rosenkranz, Mr. Wolnick, it’s been a long time, and I’m delighted to be back with you.  Gentlemen, I am Laurie Smith, and I represent Market Hub Partners Canada.

      Now, I fear we may have gotten a little unnecessarily cross-threaded through the course of the proceeding.  What Market Hub Partners part would like to do is just clearly understand where APPrO is coming from vis-à-vis the issues of particular concern to MHP Canada.  Okay?  


Who should I speak to about the policy position of APPrO?  I’m happy if others want to add in, but I see a smile from Mr. Rosenkranz.  It’s not altogether clear.

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I would suggest that if Mr. Smith can just pose his questions, the panel will field them as they hear them coming.

     MR. SMITH:  In which case, Panel, as I recall, APPrO did not appear at the Technical Conference or at least that part of it that dealt specifically with the Issue II, storage regulation, segment.

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, we were there for every day of the Technical Conference.

     MR. SMITH:  But the Issue II component, which was dealing specifically just with the forbearance issue, for example, as I recall, there was – the APPrO panel had appeared previously speaking to some of the specific rate proposals and settlements, but was not part of the series of witnesses that appeared thereafter.  I’m not trying to put too much on it.  I just observe that you weren’t there when we were asking the same questions that I’m about to ask you, that we asked everyone else.

     MR. MORAN:  I’m not sure what turns on it, Mr. Chair, but the evidence that APPrO has filed was presented at the Technical Conference, and Mr. Smith is right, we didn’t show up twice to say the same thing again.

     MR. SMITH:  Well, it may have just been format for the conference, and that’s fair enough.  But nothing does turn on it particularly.

      We had sent well prior to the Technical Conference on May 12th a set of written questions to try and expedite that proceeding to determine what people’s positions were, and the question we had posed to the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, TransCanada Energy, Portlands Energy Corp., Sithe Global Power, Goreway ULC and Sithe Global Power Southdown ULC is as follows, and perhaps I can put it to you because I never did get an answer.

      In light of the proposed MHP Canada storage developments and the existence of the affiliate protocols outlined in its evidence, would you support the grant to MHP Canada of market-based rate authority and contracting flexibility similar to that afforded to non-affiliated independent storage developers?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Mr. Smith, we’re not totally surprised by the question, and we had prepared to some extent.

      In terms of a formal position of APPrO on all of the subcomponents that you raise in that question, and it does raise a number of different issues, certainly APPrO supports the development of additional storage.  APPrO sees the importance of incentives in terms of market-based rates under appropriate circumstances to appropriate applicants developing additional storage.

      Our concern, particularly, is the issue of the pricing of specific high-deliverability storage services to infranchise customers, and that’s certainly what we want to discuss in terms of this particular panel as the remaining concern from our settlement.

     We have concerns, I’m authorized to state, that the APPrO membership has some concerns about the relationship between affiliates, particularly storage and delivery services.  And as you would expect, one of our big issues is access, comparability of access to services, particularly storage services.

     So, in terms of answering your specific question, as far as I can go, we have not done an investigation of the particular relationship between MHP and Union, or do we have any recommendations on what particular structural or rule measures should be taken to provide protections that are possible.  All I’m authorized to say is that we have some concerns about that issue.

     MR. SMITH:  Is it fair to say you’re simply flagging the fact it is an issue and the Board’s going to have to satisfy itself as to whether or not there are sufficient protections?  Is that a fair summary of your position?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that’s fair; there are issues that the Board should look at, and as I said, they’re narrow issues of this particular applicant, your client, and Union Gas, the distributor.  We would raise that there are also more, broader issues, generally about access rules, the availability of certain services to move gas across the utility system.

     MR. SMITH:  Right.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Or particularly Union Gas, which operates the Dawn hub.

     MR. SMITH:  Right.  And you’re familiar with the fact that MHP Canada proposes to simply take out a standard transportation service on Union in order to access Dawn, the same as anyone else?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, we were aware of that from Mr. Redford’s testimony.

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you for that, sir, because I think this will substantially abbreviate my questions.

      In your reply evidence, you stated at page 5 – in fact, you concluded, that:

“It is unreasonable to require these customers to purchase essential services from their gas utility without the protection of cost-based rates.”
Right?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Just refresh me where –
     MR. SMITH:  It’s page 5.  Page 5 of 5 in the reply evidence.  And it was the second-last sentence:

“It is unreasonable to require these customers”

· being yourselves – “to purchase essential services from their gas utility without the protection of cost-based rates.”
Right?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly.  It’s reference to the non-discriminatory access to transportation distribution system under transparent conditions.  Right.

     MR. SMITH:  For high-deliverability storage service.  That’s what your particular focus is for present purposes?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would say just more generally this is talking about competitive storage and balancing services so it’s a bit more general in terms of the – because I was so careful earlier on to carve out a particular subservice.

     MR. SMITH:  There’s nothing concealed in the question, sir.

      Now, would it be fair to say that really is your issue?  I think that is what you were saying earlier.  That is really your issue in this aspect of the proceeding, the storage regulation Issue II?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In terms of our reply evidence, what you see is as far as we intend to raise those issues.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If you go back to our original evidence, one of the issues that we talked – that was an issue that we raised early on in terms of access and transparency.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And availability of services.

     MR. SMITH:  And this may explain some of the evidence which had been prompted by the MHP panel just as they appeared, but the subheading that you used to introduce this Issue II topic and to express that issue on cost-based rates for these various services was “treatment of affiliates in assessing market power.”  They seem somewhat disconnected.  We weren’t really sure why.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  What we were trying to do is highlight within the context of some of the testimony that had been given up to that point in this proceeding, where there had been a lot of discussion of the issues that were addressed by FERC, by the FERC, or F-E-R-C, in market-based rate proceedings and how that might be used as guidance by this Board, that the fact that this issue, which was one of our issues, was something that was brought up in that context we thought would be useful to bring up in front of the Board.  It was not meant to be a specific recommendation or conclusion with respect to MHP.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And that’s useful to know, sir.

     APPrO’s members and MHP and Tribute are all trying to develop much-needed energy infrastructure.  Would you agree?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yes, I think we would.  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And APPrO has indicated that directionally they are in support of greater choice and additional storage in this market area?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And you don’t have any objection to market-based rates per se for this independent storage development?  And I’m careful to say independent storage development.

     MR. WOLNICK:  Well, I think generators will be infranchise customers of Union.  And I think part of the concern is, perhaps Union’s expressed the position that it’s going freeze the storage available for infranchise customers.  And I think, if I recall the evidence correctly, it’s also indicated that the other storage it has not for infranchise customers or in new storage it develops, it won’t use that to dedicate, allocate, or provide to infranchise customers.

      So, to the extent that, you know, generators are growing with the Union franchise area, and they need to acquire additional base load storage, that Union presumably is going to go out and bid for that, go out for bid and RFP.  And presumably MHP is one of the few customers or few suppliers in Union’s franchise area that may provide that service to Union.

      So I guess we’re a bit concerned, not so much as with MHP’s position but more your affiliates’ position, about perhaps tilting the balance in MHP’s favour here.

     MR. SMITH:  Well, you’re familiar with a caveat that IGUA and AMPCO had placed on their support for the proposition I’d put to you at the outset that this would all be subject to a standard prudence review.  And again, the prudence review would be an application of Union Gas if they were to select a storage service from an affiliate;; right?

     There is a check to that process.

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yes.  Yes, I do recall that.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And do you agree that it is a check on that type of –
     MR. WOLNICK:  It is a check.  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, you are also familiar with the fact that Mr. Redford had indicated that MHP certainly in the context of its first two developments would not really be a position to offer the high-deliverability service that you’re seeking?

     MR. WOLNICK:  I think I generally recall that, but I do – I thought Mr. Redford said, at least for the St. Clair Pool, he needed a couple of years’ worth of operation to see how it performed before he could really make that determination.

     MR. SMITH:  Well, we can reflect on the record, sir.  I put it to you that he did say that in terms of what the reservoir could do, but that it was not expected to be able to yield high-deliverability storage service by the nature of the reservoir.

     MR. WOLNICK:  In the 10 percent range?  I would agree with that, yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And that’s all I was saying, sir.

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And so, in terms of the high-deliverability service, at least, that isn’t something that MHP at the moment thinks that it would be able to offer to your members.

     MR. WOLNICK:  No, but I think it could provide some of the base load storage to Union.  The 1.2 percent deliverability?  And you’ll recall today that I went through part of the settlement agreement that talked about how generators would be allocated storage space.  So presumably, MHP could be a provider of that service to Union to the extent that Union needed additional service.

      So, to the extent that additional generators are coming on in the Union franchise area, MHP could have a preferential position if Union doesn’t bid on that storage itself, because it’s got this other – and I don’t recall the precise number – 60 some-odd pJs of additional storage.  If it doesn’t use that storage to offer it to infranchise customers, it may give MHP a preferential position.

     MR. SMITH:  Well, Mr. Wolnick, I guess, and I’m getting a better idea of where that subheading came from --  I’m really wondering if there is a prudence process which is available to, in effect, second-guess the decision of any affiliate to contract for service that it requires, and that that is a protection that existed in the regulatory system for a very, very long time, what’s the particular problem?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I was actually going to talk before you asked the question.  So I guess now I’m committed to answering that question.

     MR. SMITH:  Well, you can try both.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.  I will try.

     The prudence review is important.  I think there’s also been discussion about the need for an effective complaint process.  And I would just comment that a prudence review is an imperfect tool to ensure that the types of comparability of access that – it may be better done through more structural changes in terms of how the services are done, or by, as opposed to just waiting for a complaint and going through – trying to launch through a prudence review and ferret things out, just to say, thou shalt not deal with your affiliate.  I mean, that’s done fairly commonly.

     MR. SMITH:  But that’s not the only tool, sir.  The affiliate code of conduct has an existing complaint mechanism in it, and it specifically speaks to issues like undue preference of affiliates and cross-subsidization.  So assuming those protocols are observed, and they are required to be observed, and there are opportunities to bring it before the Board independent of the prudence process, I’m really wondering why it is that you have singled out this issue, given what appears to be your real concern, and brought it forward to the Board.  We took it in the context of Market Hub Partners.

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, if Mr. Smith is asking these witnesses to comment on the adequacy of the affiliate relationships code and the adequacy of the Board’s rate-making process with respect to this position, I’m not sure that they’re actually able to answer that question.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I think it’s a fair question.  I think he’s asking whether the existing procedures that the Board has address their concerns or whether there’s something that they don’t address.

     MR. MORAN:  I guess all I’m suggesting is that these witnesses may not have that kind of familiarity with the code in order to be able to answer the question.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, if you’re not familiar with the code, you can just say so.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think I said a few minutes ago very explicitly that that was not something that we had delved into and researched and developed an APPrO position on.  So I was trying to say that that wasn’t something we were going to try to help the Board on, but we went as far as to raise the issue, and also raise these other issues.

      If I can just make the comment I was going to make before you –
     MR. SMITH:  Yes, all right.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  -- legitimately asked the question, if you’ll permit me.  I just want to point out that in addition to the storage covered under the infranchise services under the settlement with Union and Enbridge, the agreement and certainly very explicit in the discussion in the Enbridge settlement, the agreement with the utilities is that this is not intended to cover all possible requirements for storage of power generators.

     So we would expect that we will also be contracting for storage services in – at this point it would be the exfranchise market, to supplement the short-notice operational high-deliverability storage that we need under our infranchise services to do things like hedging, seasonal balancing, those types of things that aren’t covered by that.

      So, in terms of the generators’ relationship to any new entrants in the storage, it may not just be the indirect relationship that Mr. Wolnick was talking about;  there may be opportunities for direct relationships as well.

     MR. SMITH:  All right.  And APPrO’s members, then, for those purposes, would want to have additional choices?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We want choices and we want the utility’s rules to give us access to those choices, exactly.

     MR. SMITH:  And you’re not suggesting that MHP Canada should have to offer those types of services on a cost-of-service basis, are you?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I’m not.

     MR. SMITH:  All right.  Thank you, and that’s fair enough.  That’s all I have, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  
     Mr. Leslie.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LESLIE:
     MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Kelly, you mentioned that TransCanada had conducted extensive discussions with marketers.  I just wanted to be clear on what services it was you were discussing with them.  Was that both the balancing services that were that are provided for in the settlement and the high-deliverability storage service, or was it one of the two?

     MR. KELLY:  In the discussions that we have held with marketers, which were specifically with regard to Portlands Energy Centre, we requested service from suppliers in terms of balancing services in the Enbridge CDA and storage services as well.

     MR. LESLIE:  High-deliverability storage services?                          
MR. KELLY:  We didn’t specify high-deliverability, we just said the amount of berm injection and withdrawal capability we wanted on a daily basis.

     MR. LESLIE:  And did that include what would comprise high-deliverability storage?

     MR. KELLY:  If a marketer would have to procure high-deliverability storage to do so, yes.

     MR. LESLIE:  So you just told them how much you wanted out on a daily basis and how much space they needed to produce that was their business.

     MR. KELLY:  Yes, and the response we received was the type of services we were looking for were not available.

     MR. LESLIE:  And was the high-deliverability storage service component of what you were looking for for the Portlands projects the subject matter of the RFPs you referred to?

     MR. KELLY:  Yes, it was.

     MR. LESLIE:  Can we get copies of those RFPs and the responses to them?

     MR. KELLY:  Those documents would be confidential, and I would have to say no.

     MR. LESLIE:  Well, we’d be prepared to take them without the prices, take out any financial information.

     MR. KELLY:  I don’t think that we’d be in a position to provide that information, no.

     MR. LESLIE:  Why not?

     MR. KELLY:  Because it would be a violation of the confidentiality of not only Portlands Energy Centre but a violation of the confidentiality of the marketers who we are doing business with, or speaking to.

     MR. LESLIE:  I see.  Could you speak to the marketers and find out whether they have any objection?

     MR. KELLY:  Yes, I can.

     MR. LESLIE:  All right.  And would you let us know, and if they don’t have any objection, would you file them?

     MR. BROWN:  Well, I think even if the marketers don’t have any objection, I suspect that there is information contained in the RFP which relates to the operations of the Portlands Energy Centre, which in turn relates to the commercial operations of that centre in terms of its bids and what-not into the electricity market.  

      I think what we can do, Mr. Leslie, is make the inquiries of the marketers.  I’ll take a look at the form of the RFP, and I take it that the information that you would be looking for would be in the nature of, what, how many marketers responded to the RFP?

     MR. LESLIE:  How many were canvassed, how many responded, what services you were looking for, that sort of thing.  I’m not interested in confidential information to your business.

     MR. BROWN:  Okay.  Well, that’s fair enough.  It may well be the marketers are prepared to, you know, have the fact that they responded without identifying their name.  And then we could tell you that there were five marketers who responded to it.  I think when you get into quantities and injection and withdrawal rights and whatnot, you are getting into very sensitive commercial operations, but if you’re interested more into how many responded and the nature of the services, we can certainly make those inquiries.

     MR. LESLIE:  It’s the nature of the services and how many responded.

     MR. BROWN:  Well, we’ll make those inquiries, then.

     MR. LESLIE:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions, thanks.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Leslie.  Do you want to give us a number for that, please?

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  That’s K10.2.

     UNDERTAKING NO. K10.2:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF MARKETERS         
     RESPONDING TO RFP ISSUED BY PORTLANDS ENERGY
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

     MR. CASS:  Good afternoon, panel.  As I think you probably know, I represent Enbridge Gas Distribution.

      I wanted to start with something that I hope will be fairly simple and straightforward, and in order to do that take you to your original pre-filed evidence on behalf of APPrO, and specifically the item called “APPrO Proposals,” which is at part 3, and the introduction is subitem 3.1.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Do you have a page number, Mr. Cass?

     MR. CASS:  My copy must have been an electronic copy or something.  It does not have a page number, I apologize.  I’m sorry? 


MR. ROSENCRANZ:  Page 25 of 71.

     MR. CASS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rosenkranz.  I’m looking at the introduction, as I said, that appears opposite subitem 3.1.  And there’s a list there of 11 items.  Are these essentially the proposals that APPrO had coming into this case for changes that would be appropriate to be made in this proceeding?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I think it should be reflected that this is the result of a number of meetings among the APPrO committee, and negotiations among those parties sharing concerns about what were the issues and trying to hone that down to a manageable list.  There were more.

     MR. CASS:  But this was the list when it was honed down by your group, so to speak, Mr. Rosenkranz?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, sir.

     MR. CASS:  Thank you.  So I just, if I may, could I take you to item 3, where one sees specifically, as part of that item, the words “higher deliverability at cost-based rates.”  


That, I’d be correct in saying, is an outstanding issue that has not been resolved in the settlement proposal that, in fact, has not yet actually been approved by the Board as far as Enbridge Gas Distribution is concerned; right?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Correct, yes.

     MR. CASS:  Subject to that issue about higher deliverability at cost-based rates, and subject, of course, as I’ve already said, to the Board’s approval of the settlement proposal with Enbridge Gas Distribution, I’m right in saying, am I not, that the other items on this list are off the table for this proceeding.  The settlement proposal, if accepted by the Board, and the determination of higher deliverability at cost-based rates, is the resolution of APPrO’s going-in proposals.  Is that fair?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think, with the caveat that we highlighted up front of the additional nomination windows that’s going to be discussed with Union and Enbridge, we feel that’s important and it’s an ongoing obligation under this agreement.

     MR. CASS:  Yes, and that is, as you say part of the settlement agreement.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Part of the settlement agreement.

     MR. CASS:  Yes.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  So I think we can answer yes.

     MR. CASS:  Now, granted that nobody, I would think, ever gets everything they’re looking for going into a settlement negotiation, would I be right in thinking that what APPrO has achieved, assuming the Board approves the settlement proposal with Enbridge Gas Distribution, has given it greater flexibility?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It certainly met an important component of the requirement that we had, and when we 
ocused on what was doable within this procedure – or proceeding.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.  So I take it, Mr. Rosenkranz, that was either a yes or a qualified yes, was it?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I’m trying to decide myself.  I believe –- 


MR. KELLY:  I’d actually like to add to that, if that would be possible.  In terms of whether a settlement agreement gets generators to where they need to be, when you get involved in something like that, you do the best you can, but obviously there are some outstanding issues that need to be resolved, and a number of those issues are going to be very important to, particularly to the Portlands Energy Centre, and I’ll let Mr. Cramer speak for himself, but I believe it may be important to him as well.  The development of certain services that are going to be necessary to operate in concert with, for instance, something such as FT24, or TCPL’s proposed FTSN service, some of those services, Union has, if I understand correctly, has made it clear they are not going to develop those services unless they get a favourable decision in terms of forbearance at this hearing.

      So, in terms of whether or not the generators feel through what has been arrived at through the settlement agreement, whether that gets us there or not, arguably not.

     MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Kelly, I’m sorry, I don’t mean to be critical, but I don’t think you’re answering my question.  My question wasn’t where the settlement proposals get the power generators.

      We’ve seen in the power generators’ evidence, and I think it was talked about in examination in-chief today, a concern about flexibility.  And my question was simply, with the settlement proposals in this case, and assuming the Board approves the Enbridge Gas Distribution settlement proposal, has that improved the flexibility?  

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I think with respect to Mr. Cass the answer was responsive.  I think Mr. Kelly’s simply indicating that there are things in the Union side of the fence that turn on your decision in this hearing that will make a difference to the overall outcome and the flexibility that Mr. Cass is asking about.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  I think we understood that.

     MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, Panel, I’m going to move on to something that I surmise may be a little more contentious.  And so, for that purpose, I’d like to start from the transcript of the Technical Conference on May 17th.

      Now, Panel, I’m going to start with three different excerpts from this transcript.  All, I think, relevant to the same point.  And I know you’ll want to comment, but I do want to ask certain questions just to identify the excerpts.  And I think it will be faster if we just get the three identified and I ask you some confirmatory questions and then we come back to the comment.

      So the first would be at page 28 of the transcript from May 17th.  Unless anybody thinks it’s extremely important, I won’t read the entirety of the question, but you’ll see on page 28 Mr. Stevens was starting to ask a question.  And skipping down to line 9, he said:

“And I wanted to specifically talk about high-deliverability storage because it’s clearly been Enbridge’s evidence that there’s an expectation that there will be more demand for the high-deliverability storage being developed than for the supply.”
Now, I was hoping that you could explain to us how allocation should work in those circumstances.  And if you need to come to a group view or an association view by way of undertaking, that’s fine.  And Mr. Rosenkranz said:

“I think we gave an answer to that yesterday, and I’d appreciate the opportunity to expand or clarify on that answer we gave yesterday.  Our view of the issue of deliverability, specifically the types of deliverability that’s needed by the power generators, is that it’s something that can be provided by a number of different means.  Increasing the physical deliverability of storage facilities at a location is one aspect of it.  There are also different things that can be done through the re-design of transmission facilities, through looping or addition of compression or changes to the system operations, that can also help make the short-term deliverability of an intra-day that is of particular concern to power generators available on the system.  So, given the various ways of creating deliverability, our view is that as long as the generators are willing to pay a rate based on incremental cost, there should be no need to – there should be no limit to the amount of capacity of deliverability that is available on the market.”

Now, just before I come to the next quote, Mr. Rosenkranz, you were asked that question and you gave that answer on that day?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  And that answer was correct?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, that answer is correct.  I don’t know if you want any explanation.

     MR. CASS:  We’ll come back to it, but I think it will be quicker if we get the three quotes and deal with it all at once.

     Then the next is at page 31.  Actually, the question starts at the bottom of page 30.  Again, a question by Mr. Stevens at the bottom of page 30:

“Well, I guess that I’ll go back to my simple example.  Assume that the utility cannot provide everything that all of you want at that point in time.  How is the allocation going to work?


Mr. Rosenkranz:  You started to say: 



“And I think we’d have to ask why.”  


Mr. Stevens said: 



“It’s a simple hypothetical question.”  


And Mr. Moran said: 

“Mr. Stevens, if I may interrupt for a second.  It may be that there’s a misunderstanding here between what you’re asking and what I think you heard from the witness.  What I think the witness has said is that what the gas-fired generator needs is with respect to deliverability.  How that deliverability is provided, there are a number of ways of doing it.  One way of doing it is using storage facilities, but there may be other ways of providing that service.  And so that’s why I think there’s some disconnect between your question.  If there’s a shortage of storage, then presumably the distributor will have to look at other ways of providing that deliverability.”

Perhaps I’ll put the question to you, Mr. Rosenkranz.  The answer was given by Mr. Moran, but in light of what you said, I assume that you would adopt Mr. Moran’s statement on that?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that Mr. Moran said that very well.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.  And then the third one is just further down on the same page, Mr. Cramer, added:

“Just to add one point.  I mean, if you’re saying it’s not available, what you’re suggesting is that the incremental cost is infinite, and it’s hard for us to envisage a situation where the incremental cost is truly infinite, because it’s going to be available in some form, from some source, on some sort of cost basis, and we’re agreeing to pay the cost.”

And Mr. Kelly, you gave the answer on that day and the answer was correct?

     MR. KELLY:  Yes, I did.

     MR. CASS:  So is that not the bottom line, panel, that it will be available from some source, on some basis? 


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, before the witnesses try to answer that question, I guess I’m trying to understand what the purpose of the question is.  This was a line of questioning that took place at the Technical Conference in advance of the settlement conference.  Subsequently, at the settlement conference we worked out an agreement on a methodology that would identify the space that would meet the needs, subject to the question of price and forbearance.  So I’m not quite sure why Mr. Cass is turning the clock back to our original proposal when, in fact, we now have a settlement proposal that addresses the allocation issues subject to the pricing issue.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.

     MR. CASS:  But, Mr. Chair, these questions are all about deliverability, and the answers were all about deliverability.  That’s why I’m asking the questions.

     MR. KAISER:  But is that settled or not?

     MR. MORAN:  I guess all I’m suggesting, Mr. Chair, is, as you heard Mr. Wolnick describe the settlement proposals today, there is a methodology set out in the settlement proposals that is based on the concept of deliverability, and Enbridge and APPrO have reached agreement on that.  What we haven’t agreed on is the allocation of that space with the deliverability on a cost basis as opposed to having to compete for it in an open season.  That’s where we’re still apart.

     So I’m not sure –
     MR. KAISER:  And is that what your questions relate to, Mr. Cass?  The allocation?

     MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, my proposition is simply, as these extracts indicate, that the deliverability that power generators need is available from other sources.  If Mr. Moran is saying that’s agreed and settled, then, fine.

     MR. MORAN:  No, Mr. Cass, that’s not what I’m saying.  All I’m suggesting is that Mr. Stevens wrestled mightily with this issue at the Technical Conference to try to understand how the APPrO proposal presented at the Technical Conference would work.  And as a result of subsequent discussions in the settlement conference, I thought we had come up with a way of assessing the space needs associated with the deliverability that’s required by generators.  


I guess I just simply don’t understand Mr. Cass’ attempt to turn the clock to a point where I thought we had moved past.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, aside as to whether he’s moving the clock back or not, is there some doubt in your mind, Mr. Cass, as to what the agreement covers, or are you saying the agreement doesn’t cover this in any event?

     MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Chair, if there is no doubt that the types of deliverability needed by power generators are available from a number of different means, then I don’t need to pursue it further, if that’s accepted.

     MR. KAISER:  It doesn’t sound to me like they are accepting it.  So what do you want to do?

     MR. CASS:  Go ahead, Mr. Rosenkranz.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.  I wanted to make sure that we weren’t stepping – I think, once again it’s a case where we’re looking at the words and we’re not understanding them the same way.

     The way we understand this, and I think it’s clear in Mr. Moran’s response on page 31, and it certainly is what I meant in my response, and I think what Mr. Cramer meant in his response, where he says at line 11:

“If there is a shortage of storage, then presumably the distributor will have to look at other ways of providing that deliverability.”

Our concern here is what’s remaining to be resolved under the settlement agreement is pricing of higher deliverability, and additional deliverability with the same space, from the utility to the infranchise customer.  Our position is that there’s an obligation to provide services that are required by those infranchise customers, and the settlement is an agreement on what that requirement is.

     So that should not, as Mr. Moran said, should not be a matter of dispute.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, you’ve agreed with me that the availability of high-deliverability storage at cost-based rates is an outstanding issue in this proceeding, right, Mr. Rosenkranz?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Going back to what you’ve – no, I don’t agree with that.  Could you just – I thought you just said availability.

     MR. CASS:  Availability of high-deliverability storage at cost-based rates is an issue in this proceeding.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would just state it a little differently.  I believe the availability of the high-deliverability storage service should not be an issue, and if it is, it better be dealt with.

     MR. CASS:  So you believe –
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The pricing of that service is an item that’s been flagged as an open issue.

     MR. CASS:  So you are confident, sir, that it is available?  That the utility, if need be, can acquire it?  It is available, it’s just pricing.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  What we tried to say in these series of answers is that, in our view, what we want is service.  We don’t necessarily care that the storage – that a physical storage pool at such and such location is being used, and this kind of goes back, to some extent, to the secondary market issues.  But we are concerned that the physical molecules show up, that the service that those physical molecules show up with or are taken under are consistent with our deliverability service – our delivery services, and that that be part of the utility package.

     I think where we had a parting of the ways – and I hope we don’t still have a parting of the ways – is the concern that has been expressed that this additional deliverability that is needed by infranchise power generators is somehow impossible or – impossible to find by the utilities.

     MR. CASS:  No, I’m saying quite the opposite.  I’m asking you to agree with me that it’s out there and it’s available.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It’s available, and it’s available to – but what we’re trying to say is that there are certain resources that are available to the utilities because of the assets they control that aren’t available to the utility customers, and that the customers need to get from the utilities that they can’t get from other parties.

     MR. CASS:  That’s fair enough.  You’re saying it’s out there, but the utility, in the case of Enbridge Gas Distribution at least, you’re thinking the utility should go out to get it?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And it should get it by the most efficient means possible.  If the deliverability, in terms of it being able to get more gas to Parkway at short notice by Union, and I keep coming back to Union, is better done by expansion or compression of pipe as opposed to more withdrawal capacity back at the storage field, that’s their responsibility to figure out what that is.

     MR. CASS:  You appreciate, of course, that subject to the discussion about a possible enhancement of storage, which is not a certainty, Enbridge Gas Distribution does not have extra storage, whether space or deliverability, sitting on the shelf, particularly for large customers like a major power generator?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  There’s been a lot of discussion about what may or may not be available.  What I’ve taken away from the testimony here is that there are a lot of things that the utilities can do with the existing facilities to create deliverability, perhaps by augmenting those existing facilities with purchases on the market at different times, at different locations.  So I think that, certainly, we would expect that Enbridge would not have services in terms of storage space or deliverability that aren’t in some way being utilized either by infranchise customers or by the market, certainly.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, let’s take it in small pieces, then, Mr. Rosenkranz.  I’m sorry.  So you know that Enbridge Gas Distribution goes out and acquires storage from Union in order to meet the needs of its own infranchise customers.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

     MR. CASS:  In fact, it’s in the order of 20 Bcf of storage that Enbridge Gas Distribution needs to acquire in order to meet even its own customers’ needs; right?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I am aware that that’s the numbers that are currently under contract.

     MR. CASS:  Right.  And to the extent that there are further demands for storage for Enbridge Gas Distribution, leaving aside any possible enhancement of Enbridge Gas Distribution’s storage facilities, it will have to do the same thing, go out and get the storage somewhere else; right?

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I think as Mr. Cass probably knows, the price on which the contracts it has with Union and whether that price should be market-based or cost-based, is an issue that has been identified with the Board.

     MR. CASS:  Well, I wasn’t talking about price.  I would appreciate it if I could just proceed with some questions, Mr. Chair, rather than interruptions.  


It was not a question about price.  It was simply about the need for Enbridge Gas Distribution, if it has further storage demands, leaving aside the issue of enhancing its own facilities, to go out and get the supplies somewhere else.  That’s fairly basic, isn’t it, Mr. Rosenkranz?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And I think we’re being maybe just careful with our words.

     MR. CASS:  Fine, fine.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And making sure that we’re responding to your question as it’s being asked.  And some of the words in your questions, maybe you’re not meaning them a certain way, and we’re taking them –
     MR. CASS:  Fair enough.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  -- a different way.  And I think the only point that we’re trying to make, following up from the exchange in the Technical Conference, and why – I pause, the way you asked the question.  It appears to be implying that you need to go to Union to buy additional storage to meet the deliverability.  And all we’re saying is, we expect you’ll probably have to do something, but we’re not going to make a decision that that means more Union storage.

     MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  I think that’s a fair answer.  And you made the point, you have a point – I’m not saying I agree with it – but a point.  I think you call it the most efficient way of doing it.  And I’m not trying to argue that with you.  All I’m saying is you are comfortable that however it is done, that it is available for Enbridge to acquire, Enbridge Gas Distribution to acquire, one way or another.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I’ve been authorized to give a limited response.

     I think that, as far as our position is, and what we’re saying our understanding is, is that we’ve agreed to a certain availability of the storage space and deliverability that the power generators need, and we think it’s entirely feasible that that’s something that Enbridge and Union should be able to fulfill.

     MR. CASS:  Right.  And as you said, you’re not pre-judging how they do it, but you believe they can do it one way or another?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We expect that it’s something that can be done in some way.  We didn’t enter into an agreement for you to provide a service that we did not feel that you could meet because we – I’ve identified it and agreed with you that it’s a necessary service.

     MR. CASS:  Good.  Thank you, now –
     MR. WOLNICK:  If I could just add to that before you go on to the next question.  

     MR. CASS:  Certainly.

     MR. WOLNICK:  You know, I think this started out as services for generators, and I think Enbridge was quite responsive in terms of their evidence.  They actually came back and looked at the market demand in the franchise area that generators would require, and came up with a development plan of developing 2 Bcf, 200 million a day.  And I thought that was very responsive.

     MR. CASS:  Yes.

     MR. WOLNICK:  And that’s probably pretty close to what the generator needs are.  And our position is that that capacity or capability should be allocated to infranchise generators in priority to exfranchise customers.

     So perhaps you’re right in this question of Mr. Stevens early on that maybe the demand will exceed supply, but at this point, if it’s allocated to infranchise customers first, I think Enbridge has developed a plan to deal just with the demand to generators.  I’m not sure I fully agree with the premise that’s put here.

     The second point I’d like to make is a little bit different.  And that is, if your line of questioning is that if it’s available to Enbridge, it’s also available to generators to go out and get, that may be true.  But given that Enbridge has got some 100 Bcf of storage that it has, it has a lot of inherent flexibility with that 100 Bcf of storage.  

     So it can go to Stagecoach and pick up 10 percent availability, and use the one nomination that’s available to bring in high-deliverability storage for those peak days and use the big 100 Bcf of storage they just got to take the intra-day swings or the day-to-day swings that a generator can’t do.

     MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Wolnick.  

     I’m just trying to measure the difference between us here, and we’re doing a lot of jousting, and the difference might not be that great.

     Yes, I agree with you that Enbridge did try to be responsive to what the generators were saying in making a proposal for something that it might be able to do.  But it’s just a proposal; it’s not a certainty.

      And so what I’m discussing with you is, in the event that that proposal is not able to proceed, your level of confidence that there are alternatives out there.  We’re having a debate about whether they’re more accessible to Enbridge Gas Distribution or to the power generators directly, I don’t need to go there.  


But you have a level of confidence that, at least through Enbridge Gas Distribution, the alternatives are out there.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, that Enbridge Gas Distribution could meet the need to supplement its services to meet the high-deliverability requirement, yes.

     MR. CASS:  Thank you.

     Now, just on a related point, and correct me if I am wrong, because again, there may not be big differences between us.  It may just be wording and semantics.  But my understanding is that in the APPrO position, APPrO would like that additional deliverability to be available at incremental cost, if I can call it that.

     But even in that scenario, even if APPrO got that result from this proceeding somehow, that there would have to be the deliverability, the higher deliverability, made available at nothing more than pure incremental cost.  Appro’s not committing that it would be buying the service at that price or cost? 

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that’s correct, yes.

     MR. CASS:  Okay.  And part of that, I think APPrO is saying, is even if that price, even if just the pure incremental cost appeared to be too high for APPrO, APPrO itself would be looking around to see what other solutions there might be; right?  Or I should say the generators.  I hope that’s understood when I say APPrO.

     MR. MORAN:  Yes.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think our view is that, depending on the price at the margin, we may buy less.  But we don’t see that there is an alternative out there to replace all of that storage.  So we came out with a particular formula that we worked very hard with the utilities to come up with, something that we felt was a reasonable base amount of storage with the short-notice high-deliverability features to go with the deliverability service – delivery service that those – that a generator would need, recognizing that some would need more and some would need less.

     So it’s stated in terms of a maximum with the ability to – but it’s not a commitment to purchase all of that.  Price may be a factor, but our concern is that we cannot replicate that service from other means today.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  Could I perhaps take you to page 226 of the transcript?  And this would be you, I think, Mr. Wolnick.  


Oh, yes, I’m sorry.  I should make clear.  It’s a different transcript now.  It’s the May 16th Technical Conference.  Mr. Stephens was good enough to set me on the right path.  I apologize.  The May 16th Technical Conference, page 226, please.

     MR. CASS:  And unless somebody considers it highly important, I won’t – there’s a fairly long question by Ms. Duguay and a fairly long answer.  I won’t read the entirety of it.  I’ll just read the paragraph at the top of page 226, Mr. Wolnick, and then just give you a fuller opportunity to comment if you wish.

     So, at the top of page 226, you were addressing a question by Ms. Duguay, and you said:

“I guess, maybe just one other thing to add to that, and that is I think that’s part of why we really proposed incremental pricing here, is because we’re going to pay the direct costs of whatever those incremental costs are to deliver that high-deliverability storage.  If that price gets too high because of whatever those marginal services where – aren’t of value of the generators, we’ll look for other solutions collectively.”
     So is that the point that we’re now addressing, Mr. Wolnick?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Okay.

     MR. CASS:  And –
     MR. WOLNICK:  Is there a question there?  Maybe I missed something.

     MR. CASS:  So am I not right in interpreting that as meaning that, even in the scenario of it being offered purely as nothing more than incremental cost, if that’s too high, our expectation should be that generators will be looking to their other solutions, collectively?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Sure .  And within Rate 125, for instance, there are some other solutions in there.  The is the 2% balancing, the tier-1, the tier-2, there is even the cash-out penalty, albeit very expensive, but even within that there’s some solutions.

     MR. CASS:  Those wouldn’t be the only things that the generators would be looking to, I assume?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Probably not.  I mean, there could be other things.

     MR. CASS:  Right.  And again, I’m just trying to measure the difference between us on various things.  


MR. WOLNICK:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  So correct me if I am wrong, but am I right in thinking, you’ve made your point about priority for gas-fired generators, but am I right in thinking that on this question of high-deliverability storage, it is the position of APPrO and the generators that it represents that, to the extent available, this service should be offered to all customers who want it, including but not limited to generators?

     MR. WOLNICK:  I think we’re here just representing generators.  I’ll let other customers speak for themselves, but generally we would support that.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  I thought so.  


Again, I could take you to the Technical Conference, but I felt that that’s what you were saying, that you would support availability to all customers.  Mr. Cramer?  Sorry?

     MR. CRAMER:  I’d like to add just one point with respect to the question you asked, John, the answer.  I mean, one of the potential alternatives to the service could be a decision by the generator to simply run or not run and take the exposure with respect to the electricity sector – the electricity side of the equation, as opposed to the gas.  But one of the outcomes of that is going to be those generators not being able to meet the reliability needs of the system.

     MR. CASS:  Well, I’m sure, Mr. Cramer, that there are lots of alternatives that generators would be looking at in that scenario.

     MR. CRAMER:  As it stands today, there is no alternative with respect to the need for the deliverability.  My alternative is to reduce the flexibility of the operation of the facility.  I mean, that is an economic trade-off for me, but it has reliability ramifications with respect to the electricity system.

     MR. CASS:  So what were you talking about, Mr. Cramer, when you said at a price, and at a time, it’s going to be there from some source.  Were you saying only through Enbridge Gas Distribution or what were you talking about when you said that?

     MR. CRAMER:  Our view, I mean, it was more of a, I guess, a theoretical position.  If you’re saying it’s not available, then by definition the cost – I mean – the cost rise – as the scarcity increases, the cost is going to go up.  And if it’s literally not available, that means the cost has to, effectively, be infinite.  

     And, you know, I mean, if the generators are saying, we’re willing to pay the cost for the deliverability that we’re demanding, that given that we’re making the money available, you should be able to find it.  And our position is, you know, particularly with respect to deliverability, because of how it has to fit within the Ontario gas system, that it’s really the utilities that are required to do it.

     We can get typical, you know, load deliverability storage from other resources, but when it comes to the high-deliverability needs that we need intra-day, as it stands today in Ontario, the only entities that are in a position to provide that are the utilities, because of how the system is set up.

     And then, you know, if it gets to the point that it becomes very costly, you know, I mean – you know, if it costs me more to deal with the problem than it costs to simply absorb the problem, I’ll absorb the problem.  But the ramification of that is, when the IESO asks me to run, I may not be able to.

     MR. CASS:  But in the course of that answer, you referred to the utilities, and you said “you should be able to find it.”  And when you’re talking about utilities finding the solution, you’re not talking about a generating plant not running or anything of that nature, you’re talking about the utilities going to market, the gas markets, and finding a solution that provides an appropriate alternative; right?

     MR. CRAMER:  Our view is that if the generators – the generators ultimately produce – you know, represent the demand.  And that demand is obviously going to be reflective of the cost of the service.  So, I mean, inherently there has to be a balance there.  

     And again, I mean we’re asking the utility to pursue that because our view is that the utilities are the only party in a position to do it, as it stands today.  And that you know, there will be a balance between the demand that we represent and the cost of meeting that demand.  

     But again, if it’s not out there, the demand is going – the cost is going to go up, and the demand will decrease.  So I mean, there has to be a balance there, and it may be that the balance ultimately results in a reduction in our need – or I shouldn’t say our need, but our demand for the service.  And it will, in turn, be reflected in how the facilities can operate.

     MR. CASS:  Have any generators, to your knowledge, or the knowledge of anyone on the panel, put out an RFP, whether non-binding or preliminary or otherwise, to find out about availability of this type of service?

     MR. CRAMER:  I think –
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Maybe first you could be more specific.  Of what kind of service?

     MR. CASS:  The high-deliverability service we’re now talking about.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If I went out and said I have a half Bcf of Enbridge space with which I have 1.2 percent deliverability and I want additional deliverability to go with my contract on Enbridge, I can guarantee you that no one would be able to respond to that RFP.  And that’s what we’re talking about here today.

     MR. CASS:  But, Mr. Rosenkranz, deliverability is just a certain amount of gas in a certain amount of time.  There’s many ways you could go out and find out in the market who can give you that amount of gas at that time.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Not to get my gas out of my storage contract today.

     MR. CRAMER:  Delivered to my burner tip.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Well, then, that’s the next step.  We’ve talked about this.  But if we’re coming back and you’re asking about the concern that we have and that we’re here for today, which is this additional deliverability under, in your case, Rate 316 service, for a customer that already has an allocation of space and a very small amount of storage that, based on some arcane rules based on history, is deemed to be 1.2 percent that you’re saying you’ll – and we’ve agreed, will be available at embedded cost-based rates, how do I get the rest of that deliverability that you and we have agreed is required?  And you’re saying, go out and run an RFP.  And I’m saying, there’s no one who has that product but you.

     MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Rosenkranz, I don’t want us to get down into argument.  But I don’t think that your proposition is at all correct.  The molecules don’t have to match up.  

     You have a certain amount of gas in storage at a certain deliverability.  If because of the deliverability parameters that are standard to all customers you can’t get it out as fast as you want, you can make an exchange of your gas, at your deliverability, for some other gas, different molecules that get you what you want.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  How?

     MR. CASS:  The molecules don’t matter to you, as long as you get it when you want it.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Now you seem to be providing evidence.  I’d like to hear that, I’d like to understand that.

     MR. CASS:  Well, all I was asking was has any generator, to your knowledge, gone out to the market to find out the availability of such a thing; and is it a yes or no?  

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And if the thing we’re talking about is the thing I just referred to, it would be nonsensical, because nobody has that thing but the utilities.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  So the answer is, no?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The answer is, no, it hasn’t been done, because it doesn’t make sense.

     MR. CASS:  Now, again –
     MR. CRAMER:  I think Mr. Kelly wasn’t –

     MR. CASS:  I’m sorry?

     MR. KELLY:  Earlier I made reference to an RFP that BEC had posted.  And while I hold the position that we are not prepared to divulge what was contained in that RFP specifically, I will state that one of the things we were looking for was balancing the services in the CDA on an intra-day basis.  Nobody, nobody, sir, was willing to step up on that.  No one.

     MR. CASS:  Can we see what you sent out and to whom you sent it?

     MR. KELLY:  No.

     MR. CASS:  That’s very useful, then, Mr. Kelly.

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, there has been an undertaking on this point, and I think Mr. Cass –
     MR. KAISER:  You can’t see it, Mr. Leslie can.

     MR. CASS:  My point was, Mr. Moran, is that it’s not very helpful if we’re prevented from even seeing what it was.  But anyway, let’s move on.

     I understand, and again, measuring the distance between us, correct me if I am wrong, but the position of APPrO on behalf of the generators is that if this high-deliverability storage service is acquired from the utility at cost-based rates, that generators would not be willing to make any commitment about not reselling the service into the market to capture a premium between its value in the market and the cost base.  Is that right or have I misstated APPrO’s position?

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, again I have to – I’m trying to understand why Mr. Cass wants to ask this question at this point.  It certainly was a question that was raised at the Technical Conference.  There seemed to be a concern about arbitrage raised by Enbridge in the Technical Conference.  Subsequently, there was a settlement conference and there was a discussion about how to limit that space and make it based on the operational needs.

     So I don’t know why Mr. Cass, at this point, wants to go back to the arbitrage issue raised in the Technical Conference when there’s now agreement on a methodology that’s based on the operational needs of the generators.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass?

     MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Chair, Mr. Rosenkranz was very good to tell me that the issue here is about pricing.  And if the issue is about pricing, what flows from that is who captures the premium between the cost-based rate and the market price or market value?  That’s a question that’s been pursued through much of this storage forbearance issue in this proceeding.

     MR. MORAN:  The settlement agreement does not say that the allocation methodology will be applied subject to an agreement that that won’t be used in the marketplace in any way whatsoever.  That’s not what the settlement agreement says.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Cass, and I understand the pricing’s not settled, but tell me, what’s the purpose of your question?

     MR. CASS:  The purpose, Mr. Chair, is to pursue a similar line of inquiry that I think has been discussed with other witnesses on the storage forbearance part of this proceeding, which is, if this service were to be sold at cost-based rates, as APPrO is contending, what happens with the premium?  And the point is simply that APPrO is not committing to anything that would suggest that it return the premium or that it in any way commit not to arbitraging in the market to be able to capture the premium for generators.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Is that the case, Mr. Moran?

     MR. BROWN:  Mr. Chair, if I could jump in as well, and I don’t want to play tag team counsel on this, but I echo Mr. Moran’s comments.  I think this is a most unfair line of questioning, and it is essentially re-opening matters that were discussed at length in the settlement conference.  The parties agreed to a settlement, subject to Board approval, with respect to allocation, and that should be it.  The parties agreed to the allocation.  And an infranchise customer is entitled to that allocation, and can do with that gas as it wishes.

     Mr. Cass is essentially trying to re-open the settlement discussions, and I submit that that is profoundly unfair.

     MR. KAISER:  Now, Mr. Cass, have you agreed to the allocation?  Have you?

     MR. CASS:  There is no agreement, Mr. Chair, on any allocation of high-deliverability storage.  In fact, that is the issue that Enbridge Gas Distribution was trying to pursue with the witnesses, is, if it’s going to be at cost-based rates, how does it get allocated?  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  So there’s no agreement to the allocation, there’s no agreement to the pricing.  Does everyone agree on that or not?

     MR. MORAN:  Well, there’s an agreement on the allocation methodology and I think, as the witnesses have described to you, the methodology assumes high-deliverability in there, because otherwise there’s not enough space there.  And that was a central part of that.  And Union witnesses agreed to that part of the proposition in their evidence, and I can’t recall whether the Enbridge witnesses did or not, but that’s the concept.  

     So what’s left over for this hearing is, with that methodology, is is it going to be allocated directly or not, or is it going to be something that you have to compete for?  And that’s all dependent upon this market versus cost-based pricing.

     MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Moran, I just want to ask, I’m not sure I’m following this at all.  Am I reading the right paragraph from the settlement agreement, that would be the paragraph that deals with this issue.  I’m looking at page 24 of 34, item B at the top of the page.  It happens to fall within the section of allocation at 1.2 percent storage.  But it reads:

“This agreement does not address the pricing or allocation of high-deliverability storage, nor does it address whether or when the company might offer that service using its own assets.”
     And I won’t read the rest of it.

     Is that the paragraph that most directly deals with the question that we’ve been talking about?

     MR. MORAN:  Yes, Mr. Rupert.  The agreement doesn’t address the pricing or the allocation of high-deliverability, and that’s because that’s a very practical issue.  The methodology assumes a certain amount of deliverability being added to that space.  The amount of space you get is driven by the fact that you’ll get high deliverability, and therefore you need less space.  The reference to allocation is simply that they’re not prepared to allocate that space or that deliverability associated with that space because of the pricing issue which is –
     MR. RUPERT:  Well, I understand.  Maybe I should read the rest of it in that paragraph.  It says:

“In the event that the company does not offer this service using its own assets and customers request high-deliverability storage from the company, then the company will use reasonable efforts to procure this service from third parties for its customers.”
     Now, whatever that might mean, there has been agreement to that among the parties; right?

     MR. MORAN:  That’s right.

     MR. RUPERT:  So I’m just wondering, and Mr. Cass, help me, is this issue you are raising in the context of the settlement agreement or are you trying to raise this in the context of the bigger forbearance discussion?

     MR. CASS:  Yes, it’s in the context of a forbearance discussion, Mr. Rupert, but it is exactly what you refer to, in that this settlement proposal does not address either the pricing or allocation of this high-deliverability storage.

     As the Board is aware, as far as Enbridge Gas Distribution is concerned, this high-deliverability storage is the only storage service that Enbridge Gas Distribution even has a prospect of selling any exfranchise market under the forbearance scenario that’s been debated for many days in this proceeding.  And I’m not sure what it is that I’m hearing from counsel for APPrO now.  It almost sounds to me like they’re saying that there’s a difference about what this settlement proposal means, because it was certainly – it’s certainly the understanding of Enbridge Gas Distribution that this settlement proposal addresses nothing in relation to forbearance opposite Rate 316, the exfranchise storage services that Enbridge Gas Distribution would sell if it was able to complete the proposed build.

     MR. MORAN:  I have nothing further to add, Mr. Chair.  I mean, Mr. Cass is correct that it doesn’t relate to Rate 316 on the forbearance issue.  There’s nothing in the agreement about that.  I’m simply pointing out that the settlement agreement – that the methodology limits space on an assumption of high deliverability, and you know, that’s the package that you have in front of you.  It won’t work without the high deliverability.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, help me, the question you directed last had to do with a premium.  Where does that get us?  Why are you interested in their position on the premium?

     MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, again, just to confirm what was my understanding, which is that the generators, and APPrO on behalf of the generators, wish to retain the ability to arbitrage off of service if it can get it at cost-based rates.

     MR. KAISER:  Let’s suppose that’s the case.  How does that help us?

     MR. CASS:  Well, I just think it’s important to the Board’s consideration of market-based rates as to whether it’s appropriate for generators to be able to arbitrage in that fashion.

     MR. KAISER:  So you think that would be a factor that would help us in determining whether to forbear?

     MR. CASS:  Yes, I don’t say in any way –
     MR. KAISER:  As to who go to keep the premium.

     MR. CASS:  I don’t say it’s in any way determinative, Mr. Chair, but again I think it’s in line with the types of discussions we have been hearing through the storage forbearance part of the case about what happens with the premium.

     MR. KAISER:  Is it a mystery, Mr. Moran, what your client’s position is on that, whatever its relevance might be?  Is it a secret, or can we take a position on it and get on with it?

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, let me suggest that the question be put to the witnesses and see whether –
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Cass.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  I’ll give it another try, witnesses.  I’m sorry if I don’t state it eloquently.  It is my understanding that –
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I’m sorry, wherever you were going –
     MR. CRAMER:  I can answer from Sithe’s perspective.  I think – I mean, I responded to this point in the Technical Conference.  You know, the bottom line is, we need an asset to meet the operational requirements.  And we’re paying the cost of that asset.  I mean, a perfect example is the M12 capacity that I’ve contracted for on Union.  I mean, I may only use it 100 out of 365, and the days that I’m not using it, I’m not going to sit there and let the asset go to waste.  I’m going to try to recover whatever costs I can.  

     Most of the days that I’m not using it, I’m going to lose money on it.  That doesn’t seem to be the issue.  I don’t see the distinction between how I use the asset that I contract for that I need, as a minimum, to meet my operational requirements, and you know, recovering the value of that asset on those days that I’m not using it.

     But the fact of the matter is, on the days that I’m running, I’m going to need it, and I’m paying the cost of it.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If I could just add what – I had a concern with something that you said, Mr. Cass, in terms of “the premium,” the same premium we’ve been talking about all these days.  Recall now, we are not talking about the embedded cost-base rates for this high-deliverability storage, we have said we will pay the additional cost in a separate cost-allocation rate base cost of service so that we’re not taking advantage of that cheap stuff that’s out there that everyone else is fighting over.  

    We’ve all agreed that all of that we’re going to get is that little 1.2 percent of the deliverability, because that’s been dealt, considered, in my view, fair.  We’re talking about the incremental cost.  

    It’s not clear at all when you’re talking about that cost-of-service rate, that there this is a premium.  If there is a premium, it’s certainly not the same premium that we’ve been talking about all these days.  

     And also, certainly this was an issue that was discussed, and that was why we’ve arm-wrestled so long over the formula of how much of the storage should be available, so that we came to something, that we agreed with you on, that was based on the operational needs.  That if we wanted additional storage for arbitrage, we go out in the market and get it.  We’ve already gone – we’re past that, we thought.

     MR. CASS:  Your comment that the premium is a different one, it’s determined from a different base, is a fair one, Mr. Rosenkranz.  That’s right.  There’s a potential for a premium to the extent that the market values it more highly than the rate APPrO was talking about paying, but it’s not the premium over the embedded cost-based rates, it’s the premium over the incremental cost rate you’re talking about.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I just wanted to make sure that was clear.

     MR. CASS:  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, are you finished?

     MR. CASS:  Just one more questions, if I might, Mr. Chairman.  

     Again, I don’t think this is contentious, but – maybe I shouldn’t say that. 

     MR. KAISER:  You’ve never forcasted it accurately yet.

     MR. CASS:  In relation to your position, or APPrO’s position, about Enbridge Gas Distribution or a utility having the ability to find available services to meet the high-deliverability needs, I understand that APPrO accepts that one of the places that Enbridge Gas Distribution or a utility might go to find that is Michigan storage?

     MR. MORAN:  Is that a question in relation to high-deliverability, Mr. Chair?

     MR. CASS:  Yes, it is.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I hate to agree.  For certain storage services to supplement the existing portfolio of services and assets that are used to provide services to all customers, that may be one of the alternatives.

     MR. CASS:  All right.  

     Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.   

     We’ll take the afternoon break at this point.  20 minutes.

     --- Recess taken at 3:14 p.m.
     --- On resuming at 3:39 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Panel, as you know, I represent the Industrial Gas Users Association and AMPCO, and I have a few questions on a few topics.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  The first one is the settlement generally in the context of my clients' concerns.  Second, a few questions about the possible scenarios for the development by the utilities of this high-deliverability service you seek.  The questions I have in the third area are about your concerns about the auction process that the utilities are proposing. 



Let me begin by saying that I detected a certain tension in the communications between APPrO and the utility counsel that preceded me and just considered how long this case had lasted had we not settled so much.

      And by way of introduction, may I also say to Mr. Nolan that this is the first time in 33 years of my work before the Board that my remarks have found their way into the evidence of a client I did not represent.

      With that, let me just ask you a few questions about the settlement generally.  And to do that, I'd ask you, if you could lay your hands on it -- I'm sure it's very close at hand -- it's the evidence of IGUA and AMPCO.  
Does somebody have that brief available for the witnesses?

      It's marked as Exhibit X9.1.

      Got lost in the shuffle.  Is that the evidence?  Or I think you've given him the...

     MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, sorry, I saw your bound volume and I thought you meant this.  You mean the evidence.  (Inaudible discussion.)

     MR. THOMPSON:  And I'll direct these questions to you Mr. Rosenkranz.  I view you as the point man for APPrO.  If you could just quickly take a look at paragraph 4 on page 2 of the IGUA evidence, you'll see there in the second sentence that states:

"A priority objective of the IGUA and AMPCO companies is to obtain results in these proceedings and mitigate and eliminate the risk of increases in the total delivered price of gas and electricity at their plants."

And then if you jump over to --

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Excuse me, Mr. Thompson, we're trying to keep up with you.  The first was paragraph 4 on page -- at the top of page 2.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just the second sentence, to set the table, here.  And then if you jump over to page 10, we list the risks that IGUA and AMPCO were concerned about.  And what I'd like to ask you is how the settlement has responded and addresses each of these risks, if you wouldn't mind. 


So what we've said in this part of the testimony, we say:

"The gas demands of dispatchable or peaking gas-fired generators, individually and collectively, can be very sizeable."

Stopping there, do you agree with that statement?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, they would be a significant portion of the existing market in the Ontario.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the second sentence says:

"On any given day, these demands can strain the capability of any gas delivery system."

Do you agree with that?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I don't agree with that.  I think that it's a matter of proper design of the facility should not create a strain.  I think strain is kind of a loaded word.

     MR. THOMPSON:  It goes on and says:  

“The magnitude of the daily and annual demands of such gas-fired generators pose a number of material risks to gas electricity consumers, and such risks include the following."

And the first one that we raise was:

"The risk of a material decline in the gas supply and delivery resources available to respond to the needs of existing gas users."

Can you explain to me how the settlement addresses that risk, if it does?

     MR. MORAN:  Mr. Chair, I'm just wondering, is Mr. Thompson talking about the commodity or the delivery service, which is what the settlement agreement is about?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was talking about big picture, gas supply and delivery resources.  I think it's both.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that... first I would say that I think that in large measure our objectives are aligned between your client and the power generators, in terms of reliability in gas service.  I don't think that we're concerned about a risk of material decline in gas supply.  I think that to the extent that APPrO proposals were incorporated into the settlement, our proposals were intended to create the environment and the services for power generators that would avoid or mitigate risk by allowing the generators to manage their supplies and the delivery of those supplies so that there would not be impacts on other customers, as you're concerned --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  -- about.

     MR. THOMPSON:  The second was:

"The risk of a material increase in rates paid by existing gas users as the result of the addition of special infrastructure to respond to the unique needs of such gas-fired generators."

Can you explain how the settlement responds to that risk, at a general level?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Well, I think in particular it's addressed -- that is a specific concern that was addressed in our proposal that was adopted in the settlement, that there be incremental pricing.  For the high-deliverability storage, there was discussion about the fact that if you, whether by additional contracts or by additional development projects, the utilities, to meet the requirements of generators, added to the existing storage portfolio with higher-cost resources, and that was all rolled into the rates to all customers, there would be an impact on all customers.

      We feel we've addressed that by the incremental pricing with the separate rate base for the higher deliverability.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  The third one was that:

“The risk of the magnitude of the demands of these gas-fired generators on a particular peak day will materially increase the exposure of the gas delivery system to failure."

How does the settlement address that?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  The settlement attempts to address that to make sure that the higher deliverability on the system, including storage and, presumably going with that is the delivery of that storage to market, and other things like additional nomination windows to make it easier on short notice to bring additional gas supplies into the province from outside the province if it's needed, are all addressing that concern and avoiding that risk that there will be some dysfunction in the market because there's a higher demand that can't be met with the existing resources or supplies.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct that the intent of the arrangement is that what APPrO members use they will provide to the system?  They're not going to draft the system for any material period of time?  Is that the intent of the arrangement?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would say that much of what was requested of APPrO and incorporated into the settlements has to do with dispatchable... being able to dispatch and control the supplies of natural gas to go along with the dispatchability of the power plant, so it is consistent with bringing gas on to the system under the contractual arrangements as it's needed, very much getting away from some of the existing services that we felt needed to be -- were not consistent with large dispatchable power generators, that currently do allow people under no-notice circumstances to take a lot of gas off the utility's system before they put gas on the system.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  I just want you to assure the Board that there's not going to be this big drafting problem, and my clients, that the intent of the agreement is what you use you will provide to the system on very short notice, and vice versa.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I mean, I'm just being careful as --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, don't be too careful because you'll create panic in the community that I represent.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I'm being careful in terms of what our objectives are and what we see as the best way for the system to operate with the power generators co-existing with the rest of the consumers in the province is based on that type of accountability.  Certainly in terms of the way that balancing works.  I think in terms of drafting, you're talking to some extent what we would term as imbalances on the system.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Temporary imbalances.  Drafting the system.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay. As we've explained, there are some amount of balancing that has to be taken care of by the utility.  So, it has to be taken care of by the system.

      So to say that we're not utilizing the delivery system or requiring the delivery system to manage imbalances, I just don't want to be careful -- I want to be careful that I'm not going that far, but we certainly are looking for that.

      But in terms of having identifiable limitations on our rights to draw gas from the system and responsibilities to utilize the services that are made available to us, to keep our supplies in line with what we're consuming, that certainly is consistent with what we've advocated and what's incorporated into the settlements.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Will there be flow control on both utilities to generators?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's not something that's addressed in the settlement.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, whether it is or it isn't, my understanding is, the utilities will be providing flow control.  Am I am I right?  Flow control meters on generators attached to their system?

     MR. WOLNICK:  I think that's just up to the utilities to decide how they're going to design the meter station.  I've heard them talk about that.  But have we agreed specifically that they'll be in there?  That's not something that we've specifically dealt with.  But I've heard that those discussions occur.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, it's up to them.

     MR. KELLY:  If I could, just to add to what Mr. Rosenkranz was saying, an issue of gas system reliability.  You know, what we've tried to do here is -- I mean, gas system reliability is as important to us as it is to the IGUA members.  We're both feeding from the same trough at the end of the day.

     The efficiency of the electricity system and the reliability of the electricity system, we feel, is tied in large part to gas-fired generators having access to the services that we require?  So that we can respond to IESO- dispatched signals as required.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, I know you want as much as you can get but only when you want it.  That creates this risk of system failure, and I just wanted, I guess, to get a warm fuzzy feeling that that has been covered off; there's no material risk of system failure as a result of drafting the system by power generators.  Is that right?  Can I go back and report that to my members?  I thought that's what we had achieved but... you're not giving me a warm fuzzy feeling.  I can tell you that.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  As with any gas consumer, we'll be responsible for staying within the parameters of our contracts.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  The last topic or the risks we had identified was the question of the level and volatility of the prices that can be paid by consumers for gas and electricity as a result of you guys getting on the system.  And we attached as part of our material at tab 7 a report of the office of the Attorney General for the State of Connecticut dealing with a particular incident, where, for arbitrage reasons, gas-fired generators decided to stay off -- or stay away from generating electricity, and almost took down the electricity system.  It can go either way.

      How is the risk of that occurring in Ontario been avoided as a result of the settlement?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Mr. Thompson, my background until recently was with Calpine Corporation in the Boston office, and I was with Calpine with field responsibilities for six power plants in the New England market during that time period.  I would, first of all, because of that background, have a concern with the particular evidence that you submitted having to do with that Attorney General's report.

      There were subsequent studies done, I think more objective, by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission staff that provide a better perspective on what happened in New England, and there were a lot of things that went on having to do with interaction of power Market Rules, with gas scheduling concerns, and provides a different, I believe more accurate, perspective of what went on.

      In terms of my area, which would be the gas supply, what we saw in January 2001 in New England was a situation where, at least on the gas side, the market worked.  The price signals for power and gas were saying that natural gas was more valuable as gas than for generation.  So that was the reason that certain power plants either switched off or switched to alternate fuel and made gas available to the LDCs for other purposes.

      So I would argue that that type of activity, and having generators in the market, particularly if there's some ability to switch fuels or switch off a gas unit and bring up another type of unit, actually provides a source of gas supply that can be made available to other customers who don't have that ability.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, just on your first point, I believe we've attached at tab 8 the actual final output of FERC with respect to the process that was initiated by the report.  I hope that addresses the concern you initially mentioned.  Does it?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, it does not.  You did not submit the report by the FERC staff of their investigation of the events of January 2001.  You submitted subsequent reports from specific rule-making proceedings that were in some way related after the fact to try to address some of the rules, and there was a lot of difference of opinion among the generators, the load-serving entities and the IESO in New England, in terms of exactly how those rules should be changed.  So that's not the report that I'm referring to.  I think that --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I apologize.  We thought we had attached the end result.  But would you like to undertake to file what you say we should have put in to give this the complete picture?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think we'd be very pleased to do that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Can I have a number for that, please?

     MS. SEBALJ:  It's K10.3.

     UNDERTAKING NO. K10.3:  TO PROVIDE END RESULT FILE


FOR THE FERC INVESTIGATION OF JANUARY 2001

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  But coming back --

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And again, I started out apologizing somewhat for the fact that I felt I need to go on a little longer than maybe necessary on that particular event.  But to come back to your question, I don't feel, and I don't think it's the APPrO's members' view that if the gas market is operating properly in terms of giving us the access to the supplies and deliverability that we need, there should be an increase in gas volatility.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I guess my... I'm sorry, Have you finished?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I was going to give some other panel parties on this panel an opportunity to add to that, if it's okay to you.

     MR. CARY:  I was just going to speak to the electricity market, because you asked me the question of both consumers -- prices paid by consumers for gas and electricity.  All of the measures that have been included in the settlement agreement are intended to improve the flexibility of the gas supply for generators, with the objective of more reliable and economical supply in the electricity market.

     That is their focus.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But are there, in the settlement agreement, in its provisions, as well as the commitments made therein -- and again, I thought there were, but maybe there aren't -- appropriate contractual and recognized regulatory constraints that the risks that materialized in New England can’t happen in Ontario?  Can it happen in Ontario?  Have we got this thing tied down tight enough that it won't happen in Ontario?

     MR. CARY:  I think that generators are just like any other people operating in the gas market.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that was pretty vague, quite frankly.  Is this likely to happen in Ontario?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think it's an issue that has to do with the gas Market Rules, the gas market services, the power Market Rules.

      I think that our position in this proceeding, and our understanding of the purpose of this proceeding, is not to go back and question whether gas-fired generation should be brought to Ontario.  It's how should the gas system and the rules of the services offered by those utilities be changed to make it work better?  So I don't think we're in a position or it's really part of this proceeding to say that everything that could possibly be done to avoid something like the 2004 cold snap in New England is within the purview of this proceeding.  It's certainly an important step, but the power generation is -- gas-fired generator being built, we're now all working together to try to make it work as well as possible.

     MR. CRAMER:  Just to add one thing, I think what the settlement agreement does do is, it sets the stage for significant infrastructure development, and outside the settlement agreement, gas-fired generators are underwriting significant infrastructure development that does bring additional resources to bear with respect to the needs not only of the electricity sector but of all gas consumers.

      I mean, the last open season on Union was a case in point.  I mean, there's capacity being built from Dawn to Parkway on the basis of long-term contracts that generators have entered into.  Those resources will be allocated on an economic basis, as John just described.

      I mean, if the demand for gas is there, the pricing and the signals that come out of that will result in the gas being delivered.

      I mean, I think, you know, that the issue that you raised with respect to the electricity system reliability points to the fact that there's still additional work that needs to be done with respect to the price signals in the electricity market and the scheduling, you know -- if you know that you're headed into a crunch day and you want gas-fired resources available for that crunch day, you have to recognize the fact that that gas has significant value and it has to be reflected in the electricity price signals.

      So it doesn't go all the way there, but at least it is bringing additional infrastructure to bear that is necessary to maintain the reliability of both systems.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the reliability of the gas system is of critical importance as well, because if it goes down, according to the evidence of Enbridge, you really do have problems.

     MR. CRAMER:  The point that I'm making is, is an outcome of the settlement agreement is going to be a significant commitment to additional infrastructure that addresses the operational requirements that, you know, if 

-- assuming the price signals are there for us to be operating on that day, that the electricity demand is high that the gas infrastructure necessary to support that is there.  That doesn't necessarily mean that that gas infrastructure wouldn't be diverted to meeting the needs of gas consumers because the electricity system isn't providing the signal necessary to assure that the resources are used for producing power.

     MR. WOLNICK:  Mr. Thompson, just one other thing.  Part of that gas infrastructure is access to high intraday high-deliverability storage on a priority basis for generators.  If generators are unable to access that, then I think your concern probably increases a bit.  So I think that's an important element of your proposal, is priority access to high-deliverability storage in the intra-day market.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me just come to that as my next topic.  I have just a few questions about the development of this stuff.  I was just trying to understand where you are in relation to where IGUA appeared to be on independent people coming into... new independents as entrants into the storage development market.  And I think Mr. Smith made mention of our position on that.

     And am I correct that you, your members, are looking to the utilities to provide this service?  That's the step 1?  Am I right?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yes, that's right.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so if Union itself develops this service and incurs the capital costs and all of that stuff, then you would look to those costs or have the Board look to those costs to determine what your particular membership group should pay for that service.

     MR. WOLNICK:  I think on the high-deliverability side that's correct.  What we've said is that we are prepared to deal with that on a incremental cost basis.  I think the base storage, the 1.2 percent, our proposal is that we have that rolled in across the board.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But then let's just take the next step, that Union doesn't develop it but Market Hub develops it.  And must be, as long as it complies with the affiliate rules and so on, at least our position is that they should be permitted to operate under the auspices of market rates.

     Now, is that your position?

     MR. WOLNICK:  No, I think we explained our position to Mr. Smith.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, then, I... well, let me take it a next step.  Suppose, then, Union buys the service from Market Hub at Market Hub's rate.  So it's costs that Union incurs, but it's actually what Market Hub develops.  Can you help me with what your position is in that scenario?  Because Union's incremental cost is what it actually pays to Market Hub.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Mr. Thompson, in asking this question, does it have to be absolutely with respect to Market Hub or could it be a Tribute or an independent --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it could be an independent, but I sensed you were concerned about the lack of independents when you were talking about Market Hub, and that, of course, has to meet some affiliate rules and a prudence test and that kind of thing, but even if they buy it from Tribute, there's a prudence test.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If you could ask with respect to Tribute, I suspect it would be easier for us to answer.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me ask it about Tribute first.  If they buy from Tribute, then you will pay Union's incremental cost?

     MR. WOLNICK:  Yeah, I think what we've talked about is that they would like look to develop, develop or acquire the cheapest deliverability that’s out there, at least the most –- not the cheapest but perhaps the best cost.  So if Tribute can provide that on a cheaper basis than what they could develop, then, of course, that would be part of the incremental cost that we would look to pay for.

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so now I put Market Hub in the place of Tribute.  What's the difference?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If there had been a determination that it was appropriate for Market Hub to be charging market-based rates and there was assurance that that was a competitive market price, then the same would apply for Market Hub Partners Market Hub Partners. 
MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.  That's helpful.  It helps me understand your position.  

Now, just moving to the auction process that you've discussed with Mr. Cass.  You have some concerns about that, as I understand it.  This is the idea where both Enbridge and Union -- well, Enbridge, at least, is saying, We're just going put this service out to auction, and my understanding is, they're going to then look at what people are prepared to pay, do some internal comparisons, and then decide whether they're going to go ahead with the development, or not go ahead.

      But in terms of that auction process, do I correctly understand, your first concern is that it would include, under the Enbridge proposal, exfranchise customers?  Is that concern number 1?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Our concern is that if this is a gas utility developing additional deliverability from existing -- particularly from existing storage facilities, and you already have it identified and agreed upon in the settlement, the infranchise requirement for that, we believe that that requirement, infranchise, should be met before you have an auction.  If there is excess deliverability from a project, perhaps because it's a lumpy project, makes sense to do 2 Bcf and you only have one Bcf of infranchise need, if there's going to be an open season or bidding or auction for the additional, I don't believe that our members have any concern with that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it's priority for infranchise.  So if Enbridge has co-generators that need the 2 Bcf, then, under your proposition, Enbridge would be obliged to develop that 2 Bcf for its infranchise -- in other words, respond to its infranchise customers as a priority, as they do now.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly, as they do now.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then in terms of the -- and let's assume that that's the scenario, that there's 2 Bcf, and Enbridge says, proposes, to say, Okay, we're not going to do this on an incremental cost plus return basis, as you've suggested, but we're going to just put it out there and see what bids we get on it.

     And that, as I understand it, is something you object to.  Do I understand that correctly, first of all?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We object to them -- certainly, if their position is that they are not going to develop these facilities, and I'm presuming that they've identified that that is the least-cost method of meeting the identified need of their infranchise generators, and they're saying that no, we're not going to do that, but if we get paid more by somebody else, we'll do that, we'd certainly have a problem with that.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, they're, in effect, asking for market-based rate authority, whether they call it forbearance, forbearance/exemption, whatever, it's market-based rate authority for this highly specialized, high-deliverability stuff that they have to develop.  And as I understand your position, you're saying, no, you shouldn't get market-based rate authority for that.  And you seem to be saying, Because we can't get it anywhere else, but then in your discussions with Mr. Cass, you seem to be saying, Well, we might be able to get it somewhere else, but the market-based rate authority principles call for a competitive market scenario where there's a substitute at a price comparable.  And my question is, are you folks relying on the market power principles in your resistance to this process that Enbridge is proposing and Union may be proposing?

     Stopping there.  Are you?  Is that --

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We certainly see, call it a market power situation.  We certainly feel that for a certain requirement that we have for this short-notice deliverability, particularly going back to the example of T1 storage, going with my T1 deliverability, I can't go out and get no-notice storage to match up with my T1 delivery service any place else.

      So it's a basic customer protection.  How can you have a market-based rate for something that there's no market for?  I mean, we're left in a situation where we're supposedly -- we'll be left to negotiate with somebody on price, where we don't feel that for that portion of our need we have any alternatives.

      Now, what was discussed with -- we got into with Mr. Cass, was that there are different needs for different types of flexibility, and different types of storage that generators are going to have.  And we've already -- and the whole purpose of the settlement was to try to identify those very specific needs for the short-notice balancing need that we feel that only can be provided under -- by the utilities from the other types of things, like more seasonal storage and what not.  And we've already agreed that those are things that can be provided by the market.

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, I'm just talking about high deliverability.  It's a new animal.  Enbridge says it's got to spend $34 million to do it; it may not work, et cetera, et cetera.  And you guys are saying, Well, if it costs too much, we're not going to take it.  And I'm just trying to understand...

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Well, what we said is, if it costs too much, we're going to take less of it.  I don't think we said we're not going to take it.  We feel that for some –- I guess in the extreme case, and now we're getting theoretical, I guess if it was ridiculously high, we wouldn't take it.  And, as I think Mr. Kelly might have said, or Mr. Cramer, you know, we'd end up taking huge penalties.  I mean, that's not a very realistic outcome, but I guess theoretically it's possible.  But certainly that shouldn't -- imbalance penalties shouldn't be the -- on Enbridge, shouldn't be the alternative that's setting the price for storage service from Enbridge.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is a good substitute for this service available from anybody other than Enbridge?  And, if so, can you put a price on it now so we can -- maybe a cap might be appropriate.  We're sort of walking into who knows where land here, aren't we?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And, Mr. Thompson, I agree with you.  It is a never-never land of sorts where we're asked to -- we've identified a need, and we're now in a situation where we're saying, How should that be priced, where we're saying that there is no yardstick for that particular need.  And I go back to the need being for existing Rate 316 service contract, where I have my space already.  I have my gas in there.  I want to take my gas out today.  No one else can give me the deliverability to get my gas out than the party that operates that service.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And, finally, with respect to this premium discussion you had with Mr. Cass, we don't know what the premium is until we know what the cost is and what the market so-called substitute, next-best alternative is.  Do we know any of that today?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, and I don't think -- we don't know that there is a premium based on our proposal.  I think we certainly know that the premium which has been discussed, which is as a result of the cost-of-service rate-making with base gas that's been in storage for 50 years, certainly that premium will not exist because we're not talking about those embedded costs.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I won't get into the premium that we are discussing in other aspects of the case.  But on the arbitrage point, if you get it, at whatever price you pay for it, if you don't need it, you're going to sell it if you can.  Is that what I should take from your evidence on arbitrage?  It only makes sense, as far as I'm concerned.  If you can't use it, you want to try and get rid of it.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Well, first of all, our expectation is that this mechanism that we've negotiated, we asked for a lot more.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I know you asked for a lot more.  We tried to accommodate you, and it looks like you're still griping.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And we came down.  So we're not expecting that this is going to be a lot more than we need for the purpose that it's been identified for.  That's the first point.  

And in terms of the arbitrage, the pricing is also relevant.  So our concern is that if we're contracting for a service and it goes into the overall supply portfolio for a power plant or a group of power plants, it becomes very difficult to say, How was that used on a particular day.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I understand.  Thank you very much, gentlemen.  

Thank you, Panel.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  

Ms. Campbell, do you have anything?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  No.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Anyone else?  Ms. Sebalj?

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SEBALJ:

     MS. SEBALJ:  I do have a few questions, panel.  

Just to clear up some confusion that I have, are the gas-fired generators saying that if there's no high-deliverability storage, then you can't run?  I guess my question is, are you saying in that case you can't run or you can't run optimally?

     MR. CARY:  You can't run as optimally.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And I think I've heard you say a couple of times now that, and Mr. Kelly's evidence is, that there are no alternatives to high-deliverability storage other than that available from the utilities.  Is that correct?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  For the -- again, you have to be careful.  For the particular service that we're talking about, and we're talking about the companion storage services that go with the relevant utility delivery services -- for example, T1.  If I want to take -- if I get -- in the middle of the day, I've got gas in T1 storage and, you know, if I have the deliverability, I have the right to take the gas out of storage and operate even on a no-notice basis, and they will take that gas out of storage.  But I cannot go above my deliverability entitlement.  

I don't have -- so if I don't have that extra deliverability, even if I've got the gas parked, stored on the Union -- on the Union system, I won't be able to run at short notice.

     MS. SEBALJ:  But at the risk of going into the territory that Mr. Cass went into, and I don't know if you were here earlier in the week, but we had to the ATM analogy of the -- you know, no one expects to get the same dollar bill that they deposited in one ATM from the other ATM.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Right.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Is there a reason that -- on the assumption that the high-deliverability storage or the storage that you have with any particular utility is only a piece of a portfolio, that in that particular circumstance you can't get the service from somewhere else for that period that you need it.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly.  In terms of -- we're not getting the exact same gas that we took out, but there is not another ATM that I can put my card into and get gas out that day.  I could go to -- if I go to Michigan and try to get gas -- if I've got storage there, say, that even has the deliverability, I still, under the current regime, need to wait for the next NAESB cycle to come up, which might be four hours away, and that may be a further delay.  It does not say -- it does not let me deliver gas now, because I'd have to go through the multiple nominations, and right now you don't have the -- even the hourly windows on the Union system to get the gas to Dawn.

The only people who have gas at Dawn that I can call upon at short notice is if I put it into my Union or Enbridge storage and I pull it out under the terms of the services that -- those services are available.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And so -- just switching gears just a little bit for a second, if there are no alternatives - now I'm going to, sort of, the discussion you just had with Mr. Thompson - if there are no viable alternatives for the particular service you're looking for at a particular time, and I know there are no anti-trust or competition experts on the panel, but I don't know if anyone's been following the storage regulation evidence that's been presented, but one of the cases that is often mentioned is this Red Lake case that the FERC looked at, which was a case where there was a new storage entrant into a jurisdiction -- are you familiar with it?  Am I telling you something you already know?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yeah, generally speaking, we know.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So my question to you is, aren't we really into a bit of a Red Lake situation here?  Let me take a step back.  Are we saying that high-deliverability storage is a different product?  Are you saying that? 

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think we're saying something -- what we're talking about is the particular service that is the subject of this -– particularly this day of proceeding, is very specific.  And having new entrants doesn't necessarily help the situation if there is no access.  

And do you want to flesh out, kind of, what we're talking about?

     MR. WOLNICK:  I think from a generator perspective, when they talk about high-deliverability service, I think you have to look at all of the attributes around that.  It's not just the fact that you can get a lot of it.  It means that you can access it through all of these nomination windows.

It’s also a companion service to either Rate 125 or T1.  It has to be firm.

     So I think those are some of the attributes, when we talk about high-deliverability service, that we're talking about.  We know that there are going to be other people that have talked about high-deliverability service.  I think Enbridge talked about purchasing some from Stagecoach.  They have some high-deliverability service, but the access was restricted.  There was limited injection/withdrawal capabilities.  And, for instance, they could only access it on the timely nomination window, under the timely nomination NAESB windows, whereas generators, that's not good enough for them.  They need to access it throughout the day.  So I think for us, those are some of the core differences when we talk about high-deliverability services.  It's about a distribution customer.

     When an LDC or a storage company accesses high-deliverability storage and uses that in conjunction with all of the other storage that they have, it gives them a lot more flexibility, because they can use -- because, you know, they can use -- they can bring in the high-deliverability service on that day and use their other storage to make up the shortfall or excess that they might have at any point in time to balance on a real-time basis.

     Generators don't that capability because they don't have that hundred Bcf sitting behind them.  If they had the hundred Bcf, they could do the same thing, but they don't.  That's just the reality of it.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Do you know what, if anything, is being done -- presumably this situation is fairly ubiquitous in terms of gas-fired generation and what's going on in the U.S., in particular.  So what, if anything, is being done to address this situation in other jurisdictions?  

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  From my perspective, and I can't speak to all markets in the U.S., but I do have direct experience with the Northeast, and somewhat the Midwest, and the pipelines there, and I prefaced my remarks that way because my understanding is that there are a lot of different things that have been done -- different ways of "skinning the cat," so to speak.  So you're going to find different solutions in different markets to meet what's, as you said, the ubiquitous need for short-term balancing deliverability for power generators.

     There are services that I'm familiar with where there has been -- and I talked about New England, which is closer to home for me, where you don't have storage nearby; the nearest underground storage is several hundred miles away.  Well, in that case, the gas transmission facilities have been designed to take that into account.

     So the pipes themselves take -- what we're talking about here, in terms of part of what's done here with storage, of getting that very short-term deliverability of several hours of draw on the pipeline before the gas supplies can catch up, is being done by the pipes themselves with the capacity and the compression and the rights that people have in terms of the flexibility of drawing gas on particularly the hourly limits they have relative to their daily quantities.

There are specific services that even make that right to pull gas on short notice more explicit in terms of having an obligation to deliver gas on a daily basis and even being able to, during the day, on an intra-day basis, add to that; but within the day, being able to draw at higher hourly rates to take advantage of the mismatch between supplies coming in and the requirements of generators.

     And there are different types of services coming out, more in terms of a mix of services that include things like the short-notice balancing that TCPL has come up with, which is something like more of a balancing service that's available on an interruptible or firm basis.

     So there are a lot of different things that are done in different jurisdictions, which is why we caution taking particular answers or particular services from those jurisdictions and applying them to Ontario.

Our viewpoint, and the education that certainly I've gotten being involved with this market very intensively the last couple of years, and certainly other people on the panel educating me, and I'll let them speak for themselves if I say it wrong, is that the Ontario market and the services of Union and Enbridge are very much based around the particular circumstances of this market, which is, it is based on the availability of storage and the use of that storage.  So you're going to see things like very narrow imbalance tolerances on your transportation to reflect the fact that the pipes themselves have not been designed to take that slack, to take that swing, because you're expected to utilize storage.  

So if we had a different market, with a different set of delivery services, I think we'd have a different sense of urgency for the access to what are, in this market called, storage services.  And particularly for power generators, if they're going to be dispatchable on both the power and the gas side, they have to be high-deliverability storage services.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  I'm going to ask a more detailed question in a second, but, Mr. Cary, I'm wondering on this narrow point - I don't want to, obviously, get into the detail of things that have been settled - but on, essentially, what is Rate 316 and this issue of alternatives and the need for high-deliverability storage, what, if anything, in your opinion, can be done using the electricity market’s -– the day-ahead market?

     MR. CARY:  The day-ahead electricity market does not address any intra-day problems at all.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  I wanted to clarify, and I know this has probably come out in bits and pieces in your discussion with Mr. Cass, but just to be very clear.  Mr. Rupert took you to page 24 of 34 of the Enbridge settlement agreement, but I'm going to take you two pages from that, which is the Rate 16 piece, at page 26 of 34, and in particular the third paragraph.  Obviously, there was no settlement on this particular rate.

The third paragraph:

"While it appears that parties are supportive of many of the technical aspects of the proposed Rate 316, there is disagreement as to whether and how the service would be offered and what pricing would apply."

And just so that we can have it clearly on the record, I'm wondering if APPrO can provide what aspects of the Enbridge proposal it specifically agrees with and what aspects it specifically disagrees with, and why.  I heard you, Mr. Rosenkranz, talk about getting high deliverability at cost and having to compete in an open season, and issues like that.  But I'm just wondering if you can either give an answer here, or if you're more comfortable giving an undertaking, so that we're absolutely clear about where the issues lie.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think we'll take you up on the undertaking suggestion.  We appreciate your offer.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So we'll mark that as K10.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. K10.4:  TO PROVIDE WHAT ASPECTS OF THE ENBRIDGE PROPOSAL APPRO AGREES WITH, WHAT ASPECTS IT DISAGREES WITH, AND WHY

     MS. SEBALJ:  Just a few more questions.  You're going to have to forgive me if I tread on things that fall into things that may or may not have been settled, but my understanding is that the pricing of high-deliverability storage has not been settled and I may tread onto some allocation issues, but I wasn't there.

     The Technical Conference proceeding from April 27th, I don't know if anyone has that handy?  April 27th.  And it's page 7.

     This was an answer to a question posed by Ms. Campbell, and it was Ms. Giridhar, starting at line 3:

"Under market-based rates, you have the ability to allocate that storage based on the highest value, so people who value it the most would obviously be able to get this service.  Under cost-based rates, if you got oversubscription, you've got some kind of allocation methodology to award that storage to the people who want it.  And when you use allocation methodologies, then you've got to come up with something, for example, by size or first come, first serve or reservation based on need."

I'm wondering, under cost-based rates -- under cost-based rates, she says, under cost-based rates, if you've got oversubscription, you've got to have some kind of allocation methodology to award that storage to the people who want it.  Is it APPrO's position that the allocation question has completely been dealt with under the settlement, or is there still anything outstanding from a high-deliverability perspective?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think until today our position was that there was no allocation problem.  Our position has been that there would be no oversubscription, because, if there's a certain amount that's requested, we expect that, in the case of Enbridge, they would go beyond -- if this 2 Bcf build is all they can do, and that's the best alternative to meet the requirement, certainly that would be done first.  But we would expect that there would be other things that they would do to meet all of the requirements of their infranchise customers.

     So perhaps we are -- perhaps we're still in a different world, which we thought was the world that we were operating in here, which is that, as infranchise customers with a need, that need would be met.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I guess my only concern is, I just want to make sure there is no gap here in terms of, if there is the possibility of an oversubscription, I'm not sure 

that -- I don't know whether Enbridge would be able to meet that need as instantaneously as the gas-fired generators would want it to be met, and I don't know if that's a question or not.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think the evidence in front of the Board is that they are confident that they can develop something like 2 Bcf and 200 million a day of deliverability, which is consistent with the expected requirements of the gas generators, and is, indeed, based on rules of thumb that come up with higher numbers than what we'd have agreed to in terms of the allocate -- what would be made available at cost-based rates.  

It's hard for me to see where this oversubscription comes from in the case of Enbridge, unless it's because they are not using this to meet infranchise needs.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And so, then, just to reiterate, I think, what you just said.  You're saying that that would more than meet the needs of the existing and planned gas-fired generation in the province.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  On the Enbridge system.  And I think there's also on the record that Union has said they can develop at least that.  And then we've also said that we believe that there are other things that the utilities can do other than those specific storage builds to create deliverability under deliverability of service, because we don't care exactly how they do it.  Do it some way.  Do it through pipe; do it through compression; do it through acquiring services from other parties.  Go out and get short-notice balancing service from TCPL, if that's cheapest.  There are a lot of things that they can do to meet the agreed-upon measure of the need for this type of storage service.  

And, again, to say again, we've already agreed that if there are other things that generators need storage for, we'll go into the market for that.  We're concerned here about this particular, very specific product. 
     MS. SEBALJ:  At APPrO's evidence, I don't think you need to turn it up, it's a very short quote and it's your evidence, but it's at page 31 of 71.  It says:
"Infranchise customers should continue to have priority when additional storage capacity and deliverability are made available by utilities."

     Could you please clarify if this statement -- if by this statement you mean that generators should be given preference when additional storage capacity and deliverability are made available by the utilities, or whether you -- I mean, you say "infranchise customers," you don't say "generators," so you mean the general group as opposed to gas-fired generators?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I think in everything we've said, we mean infranchise customers, and I believe that in all aspects what we're talking about, it's -- we're saying that these services, say, Rate 316, I mean, everything we're saying for generators would apply to any party that qualified for that particular service.  
     We're not saying that if some large industrial comes along that qualifies, meets all the qualifications for the 316/125 services and has a similar need for high-deliverability because of their operation, that they should not have the same pricing.  We're not looking for a specific carve-out based on the use of the gas.

     MS. SEBALJ:  I'm just going to warn counsel that my last two questions deal with the premium.

     I'm turning now to Enbridge Gas's reply evidence, which I have to find.  I just had it a second ago.

     Can I just read you the quote?  It's at page 9 of 12, Exhibit F, tab 2, schedule 1:
"Enbridge Gas Distribution agrees with APPrO that 1.2 percent deliverability associated with the space allocation methodology should be available at system average cost.  Enbridge Gas Distribution submits, however, that in a non-forbearance scenario, higher deliverability services should be priced at market, with any premium above cost being attributed to utility shareholders.  Enbridge Gas Distribution is open to discussing a possible sharing of this premium with ratepayers to ensure (i), that the economics of building the Rate 316 capabilities in its storage system or attractive to the utility; and (ii), create a win/win outcome for power generators and other ratepayers subject to Board approval."

And my question is, under this scenario, is APPrO willing to share the premium above cost for high-deliverability storage with the utility's ratepayers?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Our problem is that we don't understand how you set the market price for something that -- for which there's no market.  So that's our fundamental problem.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So you're saying essentially what Mr. Thompson said at the end, is there's no way of knowing what the premium would be, that's where you're struggling?  

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  There's no market to set a market-based rate against, because this service is really a sub-service of the service.  And we're talking about additional deliverability on 316 storage service where you already have your space.  If there's nobody else that you can buy that service from, where's the price setting?  Where's the market-based price?  It presumes a market.

     MS. SEBALJ:  We're back to where we were at the beginning of this conversation, which is a Red Lake situation.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I don't think it's anything like Red Lake situation.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Well, if we had others in the market selling high-deliverability storage, then we'd have comparators and potentially competition, and therefore, an ability to get to a market price.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It doesn't matter how many high-deliverability storage services there are in Ontario.  If I can't get service from them onto the Enbridge system with the same attributes as this additional deliverability on my storage -- which I'm not sure how I can do that.  Anybody else I buy deliverability from, I've got buy additional space.  I don't want additional space.  I want more deliverability for the space I already have.

     So it's a --

     MS. SEBALJ:  So we're back to this, you're captive in the utility's territory for that piece, and therefore it wouldn't matter.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  We are infranchise customers.  Under the existing rules of those services, we honestly do not see where we can buy that service, other than a utility.  And if there's no market, we don't understand how to get the market -- how they can set a market rate.  
     You know, I think we've had some discussion here.  I guess theoretically, the imbalance penalties, I guess would set a cap on it; the forgone revenue, because we just wouldn't operate if we didn't have balancing service.  We'd only operate if we can operate base load 24 hours, because we wouldn't be able to schedule ourselves and dispatch our plants.  So I guess there are some theoretical caps, but they're so outrageous as to be not relevant in our minds. 

     And we don't understand, honestly, why we're here with this, because we've already got both utilities saying that for any other infranchise needs, for their captivated infranchise customers, that they agree that cost-based rates are appropriate.  
    We've gone a step further, we've said, We don't even want that embedded cost-based rate that you agree is appropriate for everyone else.  We see that there is a somewhat different need here, and there may be somewhat higher costs, and to insulate other customers we're willing to pay an incremental cost that will insulate other customers.  
     But in terms of what's been presented here, in terms of the theoretical construct of trying to determine where you should have market-based pricing or forbearance or where we should have cost-based pricing, we're seeing what we're talking about here today as being firmly in the infranchise captive market camp.  And we don't understand why they're trying to drag us into, you know, another pool. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  I guess I'm struggling with the question.

     I'm being asked to ask you another question.  Is infranchise hourly load-balancing your real need?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Short-notice access to gas or ability to store gas, short notice.  And yes, we talked about that.  And right now, short notice under the gas system means something like an hourly notification, and one or two hours' responses is what's talked about.

     We're not advocating totally revamping the gas system at this point to do something like hourly balancing, where everyone on the whole system has to line up everything every hour.  We're still talking about daily balancing, but we're talking about being able to -- even within a daily system, if I'm bringing on gas within the day, I don't get to take gas unless I bring gas on to the system within the day.  And if I hadn't already scheduled gas, I need to bring it in.  

     Yes, we're talking about that.  That's the particular need of being able to bring gas on to the system and get credit for it and be able to start taking gas.  I don't have the mechanism to do that using other resources.

     MS. SEBALJ:  And just to follow up on what we were talking about a moment ago, I'm assuming that by agreeing to incremental cost, you -- that's your implicit recognition of the additional risk that's borne by Enbridge and having to develop this additional 2 Bcf, essentially, on your behalf?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I don't think we've conceded that there's particular risk with this storage, particularly the project.  It's an identification of the fact that any new build is going to have higher costs than the historical embedded rate.  So there was no -- it wasn't based on risk, it was based on cost.  
     Now, if it's determined by the Board that there is risk, and in order to provide the incentive it should be still under a cost-based rate protection regime, a higher rate of return for these types of investments, that would be consistent with our proposal.  That would go into the cost.

     But we haven't leaped to that conclusion.  But certainly it's a conclusion that the Board could come to, that a higher return is -- some incentive return is required.  But that would still be within a cost-based rate regime.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Thanks.

     MR. CRAMER:  And again, it depends on what kind of risk you're talking about.  Whether it's a performance risk that they have or whether it's, you know, the basic investment risk, which is going to be met with us committing to a long-term contract, just like we do with any other distribution service.

     MR. KAISER:  But is there a long-term commitment here?  This additional build --

     MR. CRAMER:  I would expect that if Enbridge is building to provide this service in response to a demand from a customer that, you know, we're going to be expected to assure that the profitability index of that investment, just like we do having Enbridge build a lateral to serve our plant.

     MR. KAISER:  All right, I misunderstood.  I thought there was no commitment on the part of APPrO to take up this capacity.

     MR. CRAMER:  Well, I think there was a distinction between the aggregate, this -- you know, I mean, the idea of Enbridge going out and building 2 Bcf.  As a group, we're not committing to supporting the investment of 2 Bcf of investment.  But as an individual generator, I am expecting Enbridge to commit this capacity to my need, I'm going to expect to be signing a contract of an appropriate term to underwrite that investment, just like any other service that they're providing.

     MR. KAISER:  So, whether it's collective or not, you're asking Enbridge to make this investment in this high-deliverability storage.  They're not going to make that investment unless they're sure that they can sell it; they have some reasonable expectation.  You're the customer.

     MR. CRAMER:  Exactly.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.  So it wouldn't be unreasonable for them to make sure that they collectively had enough commitments from your group that their shareholders weren't unduly at risk or their other customers weren't unduly at risk.

     MR. CRAMER:  And I would expect that that would be something that the Board --

     MR. KAISER:  Part of the negotiation.

     MR. CRAMER:  Part of what the Board would be looking at in granting the leave-to-construct.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Those were all my questions.  
     Thanks.

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:
     MR. RUPERT:  Just further to the last question from Mr. Kaiser, I want to understand that in relation to something you said earlier, and Mr. Cass was on about this reselling stuff.  
     What, in your view, would be the nature of the service or the contract that you would be getting?  So you would commit to this new service.  Individual generators are plugged in.  There was a discussion earlier about reselling at in, of course, a premium, perhaps.  But what would your expectation be about how this would be designed?  What rights you would have, having committed to this, to a piece of pipe, you know?  Get rid of it if you don't need it at that particular point in time.  I don't understand enough about the details of how you would visualize this service to understand what you would, in fact, resell.
     MR. CRAMER:  I can give you one example.  I mean, again, the basic -- we have a basic operational need that we're going to have to satisfy.  So we have a certain amount deliverability, a certain amount of space that we're going to require to support our operations when we're operating.

     But I mean, as an example, suppose we have a cold winter day, that, you know, there's a demand for intra-day gas in Toronto, and there's no opportunity for me to run on the electricity side.  I mean, I've got the combination deliverability out of storage, I've got the combination of my M12 capacity to Parkway, I've got a transportation contract on TransCanada.  I can deliver gas on a short-notice basis to a customer that needs it in Enbridge CDA.  I mean, I've got a bundle of assets I'm going to monetize in some fashion.  Some days I'm going to use it to produce power, some days I'm going to use it to sell gas to somebody.

     There's a whole -- I mean, you've got a basket of assets that you're going to try to optimize every day.  But I mean, realistically, I mean, if I'm under a long-term contract with the OPA, for example, to provide capacity, I'm not likely going to be able to sell that deliverability to somebody else and let it go.  I'm going to have the keep it to meet my needs, and then just use it on a day-to-day basis in the most optimum fashion.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay, so I understand.  So it's that ability.

     Now, it strikes me, without putting words in his mouth, that that's the kind of value the developers of the storage service, like an Enbridge, want to keep for themselves.  In the world they foresee with forbearance, they want to be able to sell off that service at a market-based rate.  You want to have that service at a cost-based rate and yourselves capture any value or reduce your costs through the ability to resell that.

     MR. CRAMER:  Well, I think the basic issue is, we don't even know what the value is because there's no market for it, as it stands, for this particular type of service that we're talking about.  There’s no competitive market for us to go to to make sure we're getting it at a fair value.

     What I do know is that once I’ve contracted for it to meet the operational needs of my plant, I’ve got a cost that I’ve got to pay for.  And I'm either paying for it through selling electricity at a profit or I'm paying for it by selling gas at a profit.

     MR. RUPERT:  But it also strikes me that the market for this actually then develops when you bundle it with something else if you don’t need and sell it.  There is a market; right?  If you don’t need that particular service at a particular time and you bundle it with something else to resell to someone, there’s a market for that service; right?  Someone wants to pay something for it.  

     MR. CRAMER:  For the combination of the assets, yeah.

     MR. RUPERT:  So once the service develops, the market will exist.  Your proposal is that you will be the ones that are in that market, in effect, and not the developer of the storage.
     MR. CRAMER:  I guess.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  There will be a difference in that the power generator -- I don't believe that Mr. Cramer is going to acquire the storage for that purpose.

     MR. RUPERT:  I understand.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  But he's certainly going to be in a position where he's expected to manage his gas supply and all his commitments and resources to lower his risk and keep his costs low.  
     So it's a little different situation than a storage developer who's developing the storage asset and deliverability just to sell in the market.  But your point is certainly on mark.
     MR. RUPERT:  Well, let me go to the next step, back to an example that someone posed to you earlier, Mr. Thompson, I think, where Tribute develops a service and sells that to Enbridge.  Now, the price of that, which I think you said the price that Enbridge pays to Tribute is the incremental cost Enbridge pays for that service, and you would be prepared to pay for that I understand.  So now, in that case, assuming that the costs that Enbridge pays to Tribute is higher than perhaps some incremental development cost that Tribute might have had, is Tribute capturing that benefit now?  And you're okay with that?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Certainly.  And that's because we're comfortable that that situation would be that that's a market price.

     MR. CRAMER:  And also, the underlying assumption is that that was the most cost effective means for Enbridge to meet the needs of its customers.  I mean, if Enbridge was, in fact, able to develop that capability on its own at a lower cost than entering into a contract with Tribute, then presumably prudence would dictate that they would develop their own resource.

     MR. RUPERT:  One last question on this.  Once you get into tagging a service to a particular provider, cost-based, market-based, you run the risk of what happens in many other markets where if you run things through enough people and you come back, you'll find out that someone's buying from someone at a market-based rate.  So how do you actually continue to determine that what you're paying for is this true market-based service?  Or is it, in fact, the result of a whole bunch of transactions amongst a whole bunch of people, and you're in fact buying what you think you should have had as cost-based service you're paying market-based rates for it?  That happens in all other kinds of products and commodities, as you know.  
    So what's your view as to how you're going to control your need to be paying cost-based rates if the service is somehow emanating from a utility?

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Well, I think, if I'm understanding your question correctly, that you've identified our concern, which is not that we're trying to pay a lower price than market.  We're trying to come up with a mechanism where we pay a just and reasonable price for a utility's service.

     So if it turns out that, for example, all of the higher-deliverability resources that Enbridge acquires - that they don't do any of their own build, so there is no, strictly, cost; it’s all done at market-based rates with other parties, because that's the cheapest way of doing it, and that's the price we end up paying - we don't have a problem with that.  
     We're not looking to create a premium that we're capturing.  What we're looking for is the fact that they would be taking those services that they buy at market and running them through their system to create a service to us on their system that meets our need that we can't get by going out into the market.  But we would essentially end up paying, as you say, market cost, and we wouldn't have a problem with that.

     Our problem is being in a situation where we're supposedly negotiating a cost with one party for something that we can't get on our own from other parties where there's no market-based price.

     MR. RUPERT:  But it sounds like you do have a difficulty with a situation, perhaps down the road, where a utility develops some high-deliverability storage services, finds that in addition to gas-fired generators there's several marketers who were also interested in that service.  You seem to have a problem with getting into competition with those marketers for that service.  You've, I think, requested a priority for that service.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I thought we -- if we said that -- if I said that, I misspoken.  I thought what -- again, if I'm understanding your question correctly, if there was 2 Bcf of high-deliverability storage developed, and 1 Bcf of infranchise need, and the other Bcf was put into the exfranchise market and offered up as that type of service in an auction, we don't have a problem with that.

     MR. RUPERT:  No, I think you just agreed with what I said.  It was the first Bcf which is yours, I think that's what I mean by priority.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It goes to infranchise needs, and again, I want to make sure we're not misspeaking and we're saying power generators.  It's infranchise customers with that need. 

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Just to be sure I understand the implications of this as much as possible.  What essentially you are asking for is a service for your own operational needs, but you seem to be acknowledging that on the days when you don't need it, you may be able to rebundle or repackage your assets and, in a sense, become a marketer and provide that service into the market.  And you expect to be able to do that in order to mitigate your own cost exposure.  Is that a correct summary?

     MR. CRAMER:  That's correct.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  And so I accept your characterization saying you need these services for your operational needs, but it seems to me that other customers, marketers or others, may say, Well, we also can use that service because we can also use it to rebundle and offer it into the market to provide a variety of services that customers may want.  And I'm wondering, on what basis we can distinguish that type of customer from yourself in order to give you priority?
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I mean, we're saying that was the purpose of the settlement between Enbridge and Union, to go back to the fundamentals of the requirement of a power generator and come up with that formula that we all agreed upon.  So we had, to the extent that it was possible on a generic basis, identified why our need was different from the marketer.  And also to put a reasonable cap on the amount of cost-based, higher deliverability that would be offered to a power generator, based on the size of the generator, so that you didn't create this opportunity to buy much more than was needed just to make money.

     So it's an issue.  It certainly is an issue, and I think we addressed it with the settlement.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's helpful.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, you made a private deal, but looking at it from a public interest point of view, if we had a marketer come before us and say they were unjustly discriminated against, and this priority that we might have blessed or might not have blessed in this private agreement was unjust, your argument is that there's some precedent because you're an infranchise customer, at the end of the day.

     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I would say that --

     MR. KAISER:  As opposed to a marketer. 
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It’s very much based on the fact that we’re infranchise customers, and it’s very much based on the fact that there is an identified need --
     MR. KAISER:  There's some public interest with creating power generators --
     MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly.

     MR. KAISER:   -- to creating electricity from gas.

     MR. CRAMER:  We’re a class of customers, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Lastly, this need for high-deliverability storage we understand, but is it essential?  Can you function without it?  Is it just a question of the cost of operation, or do you have to pay for it at any price?
     MR. CRAMER:  It isn't so much that you pay for it at any price, but we lose functionality in responding to the electricity system need.  And we're exposed to significantly more risk with respect to imbalances, that type of thing.  And I mean, if I don't have this service available, I'm faced with the risk of significant imbalance charges versus the risk of not operating.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, take that to the endpoint.  You have a contract with the OPA, or you're about to have one.  I don't know what the state of it is.  Is it a situation where you can say to the Board, IF we don't have this facility, this high-deliverability storage, there is a real possibility we're not going to be able to make our contractual commitments to the OPA.

     MR. CRAMER:  I think, first of all, with respect to the contractual commitments to the OPA, it's important to understand that there's no physical obligations.

     MR. KAISER:  Don't they care whether you respond to their --

     MR. CRAMER:  It's a financial contract.  And so, I mean, ultimately, the ramification is, for example, if under the OPA contract, if I'm imputed to run based on where the gas prices are at Dawn and the power price but I've got a significant risk of running out of balance if I try to respond to that price signal, I may choose to forgo the revenue under the OPA contract versus exposing myself to those imbalance charges.  

     So the net effect is that there is a generating asset that should be running in response to the price signal from the electricity market that can't because there's excessive risk in doing so.

     MR. KAISER:  But the OPA, in contracting with you, is hoping that you're going to deliver when it asks you, when it dispatches you?
     MR. CRAMER:  Yeah.

     MR. CARY:  May I add something.  If you think about this from the perspective of the IESO.  If they have a change in the system demand of 800 MWs, that has got to come from somewhere.  It does not serve their purpose if all of the generators are saying, my gas supply is locked up, I can't change it.  Go somewhere else and find 800 MWs somewhere else.

     That's the reliability problem.  This serves -- the flexibility is essential for the reliability of the system.  If you had to go outside and arrange imports and things like that, yes, you might do it.  But then it becomes very uneconomical.

     So there is the point where, you know, all reliability needs become fungible and they can be dealt with, but on a very uneconomic basis.  This is a most appropriate economic way of protecting the public's interest in the electricity sector by providing flexibility in the gas sector.

     MR. KAISER:  So, finally, the outstanding issue we have here is that the power generators and Enbridge have not been able to reach an agreement as to the price of this new service.

     MR. CRAMER:  Enbridge and Union, yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Well --
     MR. WOLNICK:  That's correct.

     MR. KAISER:  Most of you guys are dealing with Enbridge right now; right?  Portlands, you're worried about Enbridge?  Sithe is worried about Enbridge?
     MR. CRAMER:  But GTA west we will all be dealing with Union.
     MR. KAISER:  And I'm just intrigued as to how you expect all this to unfold.  Are you expecting us to set a rate?  As I understand it now, you're prepared to make a commitment to Enbridge.  I'm just talking about Enbridge because they've put on the table this possible investment in their Tecumseh facilities to create this high-deliverability capability for you guys.  That's one of the things they're looking at.  That's what Mr. Grant told us.  Right?

     MR. CRAMER:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And I'm just intrigued as to how this logjam is going to get solved.  You haven't solved it now.  Are the negotiations going to continue?  Are you going to come back?  Are you expecting us to set the price?  What?  What's the solution here?

     MR. CRAMER:  I think we need -- I mean, it seems -- there seems that the Board is going to have to weigh in on it, because we have not been able to get any movement at all with respect to this issue, with the utility.  I mean, we have a fundamental disagreement with respect to whether or not there's an ability to determine the value of this product, and whether there's any competition to -- or any market to which we can go to to get the product.  
     I mean, fundamentally, how do we arrive at a market-based rate for which there's only two prospective providers?  And with respect, you know, if we're taking any kind of bundled services from those utilities, there is only one prospective provider for the service.  I mean, how do I negotiate that?  I'm the meat in the sandwich.

     MR. KAISER:  But you must have in your mind an idea of what this is worth to you.  In other words, you've told us, I need this because I can operate more efficiently.  It will reduce my risk, et cetera, et cetera.  You must have an idea of what it's worth to you.  
     I know there's nothing comparable in product in the market, or that’s what you say, but you must have some idea what this is worth.

     MR. CRAMER:  I think, as John has pointed out, if you sit down and look -- I mean, there are scenarios where you can look at where the worth is astronomic.  For example, if the worth is defined by what your potential imbalance charges would be, if you tried to operate the way you would operate if you had the service without having it, I mean, they are huge numbers.

     I mean, it's a difficult thing to get your arms around.  And the fact that high deliverability on ANR might be $2.40 a gigaJoule a month has no relevance in this particular case because I can't get that deliverability delivered to my burner tip in Ontario.  

     So there's no benchmarks out there to really look to to establish a value.  There are a limited number of suppliers, and even if there were more than one supplier, as it stands right now, there's no real mechanism for price discovery.

     MR. KAISER:  Now, I had thought that part of the dispute was that you weren't prepared to make any long-term commitments and Enbridge wasn't prepared to build without kind of commitment, but I take it that's not the issue.

     MR. CRAMER:  No, no different -- I've signed a 20-year contract with Enbridge to supply the gas line I need.  That's not an issue.

     MR. KAISER:  So it's just down to price.

     MR. CRAMER:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  
     Anything further?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I'll just remind those that are left in the room that we are actually starting at 9:30 tomorrow morning, not at 8:30, because of the notice that went out.  And we are in a different room.  We are in room S7, and as well, the Procedural Order No. 9 will be coming out shortly, which will give people an indication of the schedule for argument.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Actually, it's out.

     MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, look at that.  Instantaneous.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  9:30 tomorrow.

     ---On adjourning at 5:11 p.m.
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